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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as
Nomination Committee member on June 24, 2022)
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022)
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Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Chairman on June 24, 2022)
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned as Chairman on June 24, 2022)
Mr. Lin Conghui

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chiu Yu Kang
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Mr. Lam Lung On
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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PRINCIPALADMINISTRATION AND

MANAGEMENT CENTERS IN THE PRC

Yuzhou Plaza

299 Jingang Road

Pudong New District
Shanghai

People’s Republic of China

Yuzhou Plaza
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Shenzhen

People’s Republic of China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Units 5801-02, 58/F

The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE
https://yuzhou-group.com/

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
Units 1903A-1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

Paul Hastings (as to Hong Kong law)
Conyers Dill & Pearman (as to Cayman Islands law)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
China Construction Bank Corporation
Agricultural Bank of China

Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Hang Seng Bank

China CITIC Bank International
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Yuzhou Group Holdings
Company Limited (“Yuzhou Group” or the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 for your review.

In 2022, affected by regional conflicts, rising energy prices, inflation
and shrinking consumer demand due to trade frictions, global
economic development went through a turbulent cycle and put
China’s export trade under greater pressure. The domestic economy
also saw a decline in development growth due to factors such as
epidemic policy adjustments and sluggish growth in external demand.
According to the National Bureau of Statistics (the “NBS”), China
recorded a gross domestic product (“GDP”) of RMB121,020.7 billion
in 2022, with a year-on-year growth rate dropping to 3.0%. Against
such a backdrop, the real estate industry consumption was weak and
liquidity of enterprises remained under pressure, resulting prudent
attitude in land acquisition and a sluggish land auction market. The
real estate market performance weakened on both the supply and
demand side, with sales, financing and investment scales at their
lowest levels in recent years. In 2022, the sales of commodity housing
totaled RMB13,330.8 billion with a year-on-year drop of 26.7%, of
which, residential sales stood at RMB11,674.7 billion with a year-
on-year fall of 28.3%. China saw its real estate developers have
RMB14,897.9 billion available, amounting to a year-on-year retreat
of 25.9%. Specifically, domestic loans were RMB1,738.8 billion with
a year-on-year slump of 25.4%; deposits and receipts in advance
amounted to RMB4,928.9 billion with a year-on-year decline of
33.3%; and personal mortgage loans stood at RMB2,381.5 billion
with a year-on-year decrease of 26.5%.

Faced with the difficulties of the downward slope of industry
development cycle, Yuzhou Group neither took the laid-back attitude
nor gave up, but struggled hard, dealt with challenges and difficulties
bravely in all aspects and forged ahead. In 2022, in order to relieve
the Company’s liquidity pressure, Yuzhou Group took advantage of
the market situation and disposed 85.64% of the entire issued share
capital of Keen Choice Limited, and the entire share capital of Yuzhou
Property Services Co., Limited, both the subsidiaries of the Group.
With proactive coordination from relevant government departments
and extensive support from investors, Yuzhou Group was also able
to secure the rollover of its domestic corporate bonds. These positive
initiatives have relieved certain short-term cash flow pressure of the
Company and bought valuable time for its viability and development.
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Shaoxing Yuzhou Yinyue Mansion
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At the same time, Yuzhou Group actively promoted sales through
organizing activities. In the face of the severe environment of the
industry, Yuzhou Group rose to the occasion to concentrate on
marketing, with an aim to ride on the real estate market dynamics
and to boost the consumer sentiment of home buyers. Its marketing
campaigns throughout the year were themed with popular topic
during each quarter. The “Settling Down at Hometown Festival” (3%
HMZKZ) in the first quarter made it possible to carry on business
during the Spring Festival season, while “Yu Neighbor Fun Festival”
(BABLLEZ) in the second quarter showcased a wonderful tour of
high-quality properties nationwide, which, together with the Ace Live
Streamer Creation Camp (EhEE#ERIEE) of “Yulife Live Project”
(B4ELIVESTE)) in the third quarter and National Day Carnival
High Fun Shopping (BB T #TEFUNEE) and “Housing Rush Festival”

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FEHRE@®

(8+—1BFEH) of the “Profit for All Citizens on Double 11" (&
EE$Z) in the fourth quarter, gradually brought the marketing
campaigns to a climax. In terms of marketing practice, the Group’s
marketing managers and the marketing leaders of each city went
deep into the front line to supervise the sales performance, studied
the market situation based on the conditions of the project, and
actively formulated the marketing strategy in line with the project by
taking into consideration the latest local policies, forming a dynamic
research and judgment mechanism of “one policy for one project
(—IBE—H% > —H—#%). Through
these measures, the Group astutely captured the market trend and
formulated timely response plans to seize the revenue, laying a solid
foundation for the Group’s sales. In terms of innovative marketing
initiatives, in order to improve the innovation and professionalism
of the marketing team, Yuzhou Group, following the trend of the
times with due consideration to the current operation concept of
“viewership data dominating everything” of the Internet, launched
an innovative marketing competition, namely the “Yuzhou Ace Live
Streamer Creation Camp” (HMNE E#HAEE) for its front-
line marketing personnel across the country. Since the start of the
“Yuzhou Ace Live Streamer Creation Camp” (8 £ /8 T Ea)E &),
the participating teams nationwide have released nearly 60 short
videos and carried out over 150 livestreaming activities, with a total
of over 1.3 million hits and thousands of online inquiries, successfully
attracting widespread attention from the industry and customers and
establishing a good brand image and reputation for the Company.
As of December 31, 2022, Yuzhou Group’s accumulated contracted
sales amounted to RMB35,608.28 million. The GFA of contracted
sales amounted to 2,016,320 sg.m. and the contracted average
selling price was approximately RMB17,660 per sg.m..

and review every day”
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At the start of 2022, Yuzhou Group launched its “well-pleasing
delivery” plan in the new year, which sounded the horn of
“guaranteeing project completion, guaranteeing housing delivery”.
On the basis of the “well-pleasing delivery” system that we strived
to build, we refined and upgraded the whole process of well-
pleasing delivery such as signing waiting period, site open day,
service meeting, product delivery and post-delivery maintenance
stage, to keep an eye on the quality of housing for the owners
throughout the process, starting from various inspection mechanisms
in the housing design dimension, construction stage and the
process of construction and sale. Confronted by a host of adverse
factors such as an increasingly grim operating environment and
recurrent COVID-19 epidemic, Yuzhou Group remained active to
deliver on its commitment, prevailed over difficulties and obstacles
for comprehensive project resumption, and carried out project
construction and management in strict accordance with the Group’s
protocol guidelines, including plan review and model review, in an
effort to realize the ideal housing design and respond to expectations
with realistic scenes.

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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In 2022, Yuzhou Group completed nearly 70 projects and batches,
delivering more than 31,000 units and meeting all its project delivery
targets. Nanjing Yuzhou Upper East Side Garden project experienced
several times of COVID-19 epidemic control during the period from
construction to delivery, which affected the arrival of construction
materials and construction personnel. Under such a difficult external
situation, the project team still maintained the spirit of “never
abandon, never give up” (RBE~FHZE), to communicate with
partners and suppliers, integrate internal and external resources,
tackle difficulties, and actively resolve the project construction and
acceptance issues. Shanghai Yuzhou Luxury Mansion succeeded
in its race against time and COVID-19 with smooth delivery in the
first half of 2022, whilst Nanjing Yuzhou Upper East Side Garden,
Suzhou Yuzhou Genius Leading, Zhangzhou Yuzhou Castle above
City, Zhongshan Yuzhou Lang Garden and other projects delivered
their units at record high rates. Dedicated to high-quality delivery
with consistent craftsmanship, Yuzhou Group met property owners’
expectations for a better life in a professional manner with considerate
services in every detail and won their recognition.

Xiamen Yuzhou Wyndham Grand Plaza Royale Hotel
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Shanghai Yuzhou Luxury Mansion
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The real estate industry is in a period of tremendous change and
development. Regardless of the market environment, Yuzhou Group
has always firmly believed that Yuzhou Commercial Company
(“Yuzhou Commercial”) is one of the critical foundations for the
Group’s future development. Seizing the opportunity to accelerate the
layout and integration of commercial real estate, Yuzhou Commercial’s
top priority is to bolster its commercial operations and improve
its commercial services. In 2022, Yuzhou Commercial focused on
the opening of two major commercial projects. In October, Xiamen
Yuyue World was grandly opened, with 19 commercial detached
villas in a staggered distribution of “one building, one product” (—
B —fa), enjoying ecological landscaping and view of bay and sea,
creating a “non-standard” (3E4Z) commercial complex in Xiamen.
In December, targeting the new generation, Nanjing Yuyue Li was
launched under the concept of gift box, with the theme of revealing
surprise to Nanjing. As the first ingenious work of Yuzhou Commercial
in Nanjing, Nanjing Yuyue Li is positioned as a new trendy and vibrant
center for the community and is dedicated to building a model of
small and beautiful commercial center in Nanjing. The membership
of the whole system of Yuzhou Commercial’s shopping centers was
refreshed and upgraded in 2022, moving towards the first stage of
“Comprehensive Digitalization”. Meanwhile, adhering to the “Warm
Yuzhou-style Service”, from parking lots to office buildings, from
lobbies to elevators, Yuzhou Commercial integrated its 360° extreme
refined service into commercial office building service with warmth,
grace, precision and depth.

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FEHRE@®

Facing the development tide of fierce competition in commercial
real estate, Yuzhou Commercial thoroughly understands the vitality
of the city, extracts the inner core of “Dynamic” (&) from the
infinite variations of water to develop the brand concept of “Dynamic
Business” (B&)E %), and shapes three product lines as the “Yu
Yue” brand for shopping centers, “Yuzhou Plaza” brand for office
buildings and shopping streets, so as to meet the needs of various
consumption groups in cities. The Yuzhou property investment
projects, whose business is mainly operated in economically
developed areas such as the West Strait Economic Zone, Yangtze
River Delta Region and the Greater Bay Area, currently cover areas
of Shenzhen, Shanghai, Hangzhou, Xiamen, Suzhou, Nanjing, Hefei,
Wuhan and Quanzhou. There were 32 projects under operation and 9
projects in preparation period, 41 projects in total with a commercial
area of over 1.74 million sq.m., where shopping center, office
building and community business accounted for 62%, 20% and 18%,
respectively. Operational projects covered over 1,000 cooperative
brands and approximately 1,600 strategic alliance brands.

2023 is a year full of hope. Under the keynote of “houses are for
living in instead of speculation”, the trend of easing policy is obvious
and higher degree of easing trend is expected. The pillar role of the
real estate industry as an economic stabilizer and ballast stone is
once again valued. It is hoped that the real estate industry will be
truly out of the doldrums and into a virtuous cycle, which will depend
on the long-term healthy and stable sustainable development of the
economy, the recovery of consumer confidence and the enhancement
of purchasing power, as well as the improvement of product quality,
product design and service quality that reflect personalization,
differentiation and humanization of products. The real estate industry,
which is about to enter the stage of differentiation by city, clientele
and product, may start a new round of “differentiated recovery” (931t
TL1E#) development journey. Yuzhou has been established for nearly
thirty years, and looking back on the storms it had experienced, the
core strengths of Yuzhou Group to grow steadily and pull through
hardships lie in the high priority given to cash flow efficiency and
safety, product cost efficiency and cost optimization, and the unity of
intrinsic corporate values as well as a pragmatic and practical work
style.
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In the new growth cycle of the industry, Yuzhou Group will adhere to
its initial aspiration of founding and the internal development logic of
business and industry, and will continue to attach great importance
to corporate cash flow safety and profitable growth, focus on product
quality, and insist on a pragmatic and practical work style, forging
its “inner core” such as intrinsic quality, team strength, strategic
layout, so as to create a core competitive advantage that matches
its own genetic development. Yuzhou Group will continue to uphold
its presence in and in-depth cultivation of tier-1 and tier-2 cities, to
strive for long-term “going concern”, “living better” and “living longer”
via a “moderate and excellent” and “less but more competitive”
development trail.

Kwok Ying Lan
Chairman

March 31, 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMEE 25wk

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, under the influence of comprehensive factors such as the
COVID-19 and geopolitical conflict, global economic development
further slowed down, inflation soared and consumption was
constrained. As a result, international demand continued to contract
and gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth dipped to 3.0%. The
epidemic rebounded in many cities in the first half of the year, and
the epidemic control policy began to be gradually released in the
fourth quarter. Residents were uncertain about the future economic
development and policy adjustment, and they preferred having more
precautionary reserves than to consumption, especially for costly
residential investment and consumption. Home buyers took greater
prudent attitude.

Due to the economic recession, rising unemployment rate, declining
income of residents and weakening consumption power, the “halt
mortgage payments” ((ZEEffft) happened in July 2022 in many
regions, making the market plunge to the freezing point. The Group’s
contracted sales and average selling price also declined to a certain
extent in the second half of the year, dropped 72.0% and 21.2%
respectively compared to the same period last year, and decreased
30.0% and 8.0% respectively compared to the first half of 2022.
Subsequently, the national policy emphasized the need to stabilize
the real estate market, ensure the delivery of housing and people’s
well-being. In the fourth quarter, it was clearly stated several times
that “real estate is the pillar industry of the national economy”, but
the confidence in the industry has hit rock bottom, the sentiment of
wait-and-see has spread and the demand has decreased. Even if the
price reduction and promotion measures were taken to stimulate the
demand side, it is difficult to curb the continuous decline in sales.
As a result, the sales of national commercial properties fell by 26.7%
year-on-year to RMB13,330.8 billion in 2022, while the prices of new
and second-hand residential properties across the country dropped
by varying degrees, and the sales volume of the top 100 real estate
companies decreased by more than 40%, plunging the real estate
industry into a heavy downturn.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Jiangmen Yuzhou Langham Cloud Land
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In terms of cash flow, the cash collection from selling units of property
developers slowed down due to the continuous contraction and
downturn of the sales market. Coupled with the risk management
on delivery insurance, strict condition requirements on sales
proceeds, collection cycles have been further prolonged, thus the
sales proceeds have been falling down under pressure. Although
China has successively promulgated and implemented a number
of financing support policies for the real estate industry since the
beginning of 2022, such as “lower interest rate and reserve ratio”,
“special loans aimed at ensuring housing project delivery”, “16-point
set of financial measures” and “three arrows”, the financing channels
for private developers were not relaxed and opened indeed, and new
loan financing was still limited. In addition, the relevant construction
payments, principal and interest repayments of outstanding debts
and other rigid expenses consumed the property developers’ cash
continuously, leading the cash flow remain at a low level and a tight
capital chain all year round.
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The stresses of slow moving sales, limited new financing, debt
repayment pressure and other factors made the real estate
enterprises very cautious about the investment in land acquisition.
Thus, the land auction market remained sluggish throughout 2022,
with both land supply and demand weakening and the price and
volume of transactions running at a low level. Statistics showed that
in 2022, the national investment in real estate development was
RMB13,289.5 billion, decreased by 10.0% year-on-year.

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

During the year, the revenue of the Group was RMB26,737.24 million,
down by 1.23% year-on-year. The loss attributable to owners of
the parent for the year was RMB12,014.86 million. The total equity
decreased by 39.42% to RMB25,075.36 million. The Board does
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

SALE OF PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group’s revenue from property sales was
RMB26,288.91 million, accounting for 98.32% of the total revenue
of the Group. The Group delivered a total gross floor area (“GFA”)
of approximately 1,882,837 sqg.m.. The average selling price of the
properties delivered and recognized as property sales in 2022 was
RMB13,962 per sq.m..

The Group’s recognized revenue from property sales derived from a
number of regions across the country, including the Yangtze River
Delta Region, West Strait Economic Zone, Central China Region,
Bohai Rim Region, Guangdong - Hong Kong - Macao Great
Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”) and Southwest Region, which
contributed 56.58%, 17.99%, 7.87%, 6.44%, 6.09% and 5.03% of
the recognized revenue, respectively. The Yangtze River Delta Region,
in particular, continued to stand as the principal contributor. Going
forward, the Group will stick to its strategy of “Leading with Locality
Development”, facilitate synergetic development of various regions
and inject more diversity into the revenue streams of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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TREINEEHN2022FNERIFEESHKRE

The recognized sales and GFA sold in each region in 2022 are set out

in the following table:

i

Average
Selling Price

Amount Saleable GFA (after tax)

Al EHERY FiRES

Name of regions B %18 &% BEEE EHEE
(RMB’000) (sgq.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)

(NEHEF 1) (FAK) (AREBFHK

West Strait Economic Zone BEKE R 4,729,341 434,266 10,890
Yangtze River Delta Region E=AEE 14,873,624 924,518 16,088
Bohai Rim Region REEEE 1,693,394 116,668 14,515
Central China Region EE, 2,067,946 120,323 17,187
Greater Bay Area KE& 1,602,511 152,259 10,525
Southwest Region AR @i 1,322,091 134,803 9,808
Total sales of properties recognized BRI EEIHEEt 26,288,907 1,882,837 13,962
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The recognized sales and GFA sold in each region in 2021 are set out

TREBFNEBEEHN2021FNERIEESHKRE

in the following table: &

Average
Selling Price
Amount Saleable GFA (after tax)
Al EHE /Y VRS
bkl BERR THEE
Name of regions B g (RMB’000) (sg.m.) (RMB/sqg.m.)
(ANR¥TFm) (FAK) (AR FHK
West Strait Economic Zone EFRKEE 3,032,169 335,642 9,034
Yangtze River Delta Region E=AEE 19,707,598 1,179,110 16,714
Bohai Rim Region REEEE 259,177 20,774 12,476
Central China Region Eha 1,929,642 139,135 13,869
Greater Bay Area KiE& 1,307,558 135,841 9,626
Total sales of properties recognized  EHESRY N ELE 26,236,144 1,810,502 14,491

CONTRACTED SALES BHHE

As of December 31, 2022, the Group’s accumulated contracted
sales amounted to approximately RMB35,608.28 million. The GFA of
contracted sales amounted to 2,016,320 sg.m. and the contracted
average selling price was approximately RMB17,660 per sq.m..

In 2022, the Yangtze River Delta Region recorded contracted sales
of RMB17,189.46 million, accounting for 48.27% of the Group’s total
contracted sales. Specifically, Shanghai, Hangzhou, Suzhou, Hefei
and Wuxi constituted the core cities of our footprint in this region,
contributing aggregate contracted sales of RMB13,391.71 million,
which fully demonstrated the stellar performance of the Group’s
locality development strategy in the Yangtze River Delta Region.
The total contracted sales of the Bohai Rim Region and West Strait
Economic Zone amounted to RMB10,027.36 million, accounting for
28.16% of the Group’s total contracted sales. The Greater Bay Area,
Southwest Region and Central China Region, also contributed total
contracted sales in the amount of RMB8,391.45 million, accounting
for 23.57% of the Group’s total contracted sales.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In 2022, due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic and staggering
domestic economy, the real estate market has suffered from
continuous weak demand and sales contraction. In the face of
severe turbulence of the industry cycle, Yuzhou Group made arduous
efforts instead of taking the laid-back attitude, keenly perceived the
changes in the market environment and actively captured the market
trend. Through frequently carrying out national house-purchasing
festival activities from “Settling Down at Hometown Festival” (R %8
2K Z) in Spring Festival, “Yu Neighbor Fun Festival” (8 #f445& =)
and “Yu Neighbor Promotion Price Festival” (B#f#)EHT) to “6e 18
Online Mid-Year Festival” (6 ¢ 185 %), and then to the “Profit
for Al Citizens on Double 117 (2R E% %), “National Day Carnival
Shopping” (BB IE#TEE) and “Housing Rush Festival” (#+— /&
+ " EH), it kept introducing marketing campaigns themed with
popular topics and constantly released favorable information about
house purchase to the market and customers, therefore enhancing
brand influence of Yuzhou and boosting market confidence, laying a
foundation for customer transactions. At the same time, in order to
improve the innovation and professionalism of the marketing team,
Yuzhou Group, following the trend of the times with due consideration
to the current operation concept of “viewership data dominating
everything” of the Internet, launched an innovative marketing
competition, namely the “Yuzhou Ace Live Streamer Creation Camp”
(BN ERREHERIEE) for its front-line marketing personnel across
the country, with short video operation and live streaming conversion
as the main competition items, aiming to cultivate “the live streamer
who knows the most about real estate and the most innovative real
estate salesperson”, thereby building a KOL live streaming team
within Yuzhou. In the future, Yuzhou Group will continue to explore
the marketing method of “Internet + Real estate” and innovatively
integrate the resource aggregation platforms such as “Weibo +
WeChat + Tik Tok Platform”, so as to realize the nationwide media
communication marketing matrix and actively grasp the marketing
initiative.
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The contracted sales and GFA sold in each region in 2022 are set out F&REIES@EHNR2022ENENIHESTERE

in the following table: &
Total Amount GFA of Average
of Contracted Contracted Contracted
Sales Sales Selling Price
mELN =55 aH
HESER HEmR HEWE
(RMB’000) (sgq.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(NERHEF 1) (FHAK) (AR FHK)
West Strait Economic Zone BEKEE 5,619,901 394,374 14,250
Yangtze River Delta Region E=AEH 17,189,461 859,155 20,007
Central China Region EEE 1,490,337 102,440 14,548
Greater Bay Area KEE 4,609,903 250,645 18,392
Southwest Region A @15 2,291,214 166,024 13,800
Bohai Rim Region IREEEE 4,407,462 243,682 18,087
Total et 35,608,278 2,016,320 17,660

The contracted sales and GFA sold in each region in 2021 are set out F&REFI S EEH PR 2021 EWENHESBRE

in the following table: [
Total Amount GFA of Average
of Contracted Contracted Contracted
Sales Sales Selling Price
maEn &% an
HEREE HEER HEHE
(RMB’000) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(NEHEF 1) CEAAK) (AR FHK)
West Strait Economic Zone BALEE 10,959,668 593,079 18,479
Yangtze River Delta Region E-A&E 65,899,155 2,962,668 22,243
Central China Region EEE 3,143,816 242,258 12,977
Greater Bay Area AEE 5,269,472 380,155 13,861
Southwest Region fiifEa)sy 6,895,230 457,487 15,072
Bohai Rim Region REs&EE 12,853,666 658,343 19,524

Total “azt 105,021,007 5,293,990 19,838
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Suzhou Yuzhou Genius Leading
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group’s property investment segment covers a variety of
commercial offerings and strives to shape three product lines as
the “Yu Yue” brand for shopping centers, “Yuzhou Plaza” brand for
office buildings and shopping streets, so as to meet the needs of
various consumption groups in cities. The Yuzhou property investment
projects, whose business is mainly operated in economically
developed areas such as the West Strait Economic Zone, Yangtze
River Delta Region and the Greater Bay Area, currently cover areas
of Shenzhen, Shanghai, Hangzhou, Xiamen, Suzhou, Nanjing, Hefei,
Wuhan and Quanzhou. There were 32 projects under operation and 9
projects in preparation period, 41 projects in total with a commercial
area of over 1.74 million sq.m., where shopping center, office
building and community business accounted for 62%, 20% and 18%,
respectively. Operational projects covered over 1,000 cooperative
brands and approximately 1,600 strategic alliance brands.
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In 2022, Yuzhou Commercial Company (“Yuzhou Commercial”)
integrated traditional culture, fashion aesthetics and other elements
into brands of multi-business type to create a “Scene + Shopping”
model, and by highlighting seasonal atmosphere, it created an all-
round immersive commercial consumption space to expand new
business contents. For example, Yuzhou Commercial launched “Yu
Yue New Year” (BIRF718), “Lunar New Year Market of Traditional
Chinese Style with Hanfu Club” (#F AR+t~ T EE R E bk £E)
during the Chinese Lunar New Year; the original IP activities “Yu
Yue 51 Shopping Festival” (FB1%5 « 155#E &), “Children’s Day
and Dragon Boat Festival Theme Activities” (Uyo—E » ;5 Rfuniz) in
May; the “Summer Roaming Plan” (8 H2# %)) in August, which
created an immersive camping atmosphere in the venue combined
with hot camping trend, delivered a super chill lifestyle to consumers,
and succeeded in gaining popularity among many young hipsters;
it joined hands with 39 cities across the country to create an online
cake-making game, namely “Moon-cake Gambling on Mid-Autumn
Festival” (A F FEFunFZ18) in September; focused on the “World
Cup” in November and launched “Lighting up the Christmas Tree” (3
EDSE A3 2 E) and other activities in December. Numerous customers
participated in such exciting activities, and the consumption
experience was widely recognized and praised by the customers. By
using scenes as emotional media to create emotional resonance with
consumers, Yuzhou Commercial has attracted a steady stream of
customer flow.

In terms of digitalization construction, the membership of the whole
system of Yuzhou Commercial’s shopping centers was refreshed and
upgraded in 2022, and the “1+3+8” digital capabilities of Yuzhou
Commercial were preliminarily constructed, taking a solid step
towards the new stage of “Comprehensive Digitalization”. Members
of Yuzhou Commercial have been equipped with digital trading tools
and structure system in the initial stage, and will gradually realize the
concept of “being a premium membership of the digital ecology” in
the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In the face of the development tide of fierce commercial competition,
Yuzhou Commercial will continue to develop with original ambition,
operate with ingenuity, and provide the city with commercial space
and services with infinite vitality with perseverance. From parking lots
to office buildings, from lobbies to elevators, adhering to the “Warm
Yuzhou-style Service”, Yuzhou Commercial will continue to integrate
its 360° extreme personalized service into commercial office building
service, and penetrate warmth, grace, precision and depth. Yuzhou
Commercial will continue to thoroughly understand the vitality of the
city, extract the inner core of “Dynamic” (E#) from the change of
water to develop the brand concept of “Dynamic Business” (B&hm&
¥), accurately focus on the continuous segmentation of consumer
demand and endeavor to let infinite beauty naturally emerge in the
city. Furthermore, Yuzhou Commercial will continue to promote the
continuous innovation of urban commercial space operation, so as to
bring more wonderful imagination to people’s life.

Hefei Yuzhou Town of Sky
BB BN e BRI
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HOTEL OPERATION

In 2022, the Group’s Yuzhou Camelon Hotel Apartment located in
Xiamen had been put into operation. In 2022, Yuzhou Hotel promoted
its hotel brand through a variety of events such as a vintage-inspired
American wedding salon, incorporating elements of spring wedding
product promotion, on-site extreme makeover and wedding planning
class, to kick off its spring luxury wedding season. In May, it held a
parent-child concert with the theme of “Lingering Tweedle in the Air ®
Lingering Yearning on the Dragon Boat Festival” (4% ¢ Iz 247
4%), allowing guests to experience a different Dragon Boat Festival in
the elegant vocal music. Income was generated for Yuzhou Hotel by
carrying out a number of node promotion activities such as Valentine’s
Day Festival/Graduation Banquets, Special Offer for Examinee/Double
Eleven Festival, as well as taking part as government isolation hotel,
participating in Mid-Autumn Festival Moon-cake Gambling Banquet
(FPRkIEBHE), crew reception for the Golden Rooster Award and
the Year-end Banquet (FE[EE ), etc. Yuzhou Hotel won the “Best
Wedding Hotel” award of the 2022 Enjoyable Travel Awards, the
“Selected MICE Hotels of the Year” award in the Selected Asian
Hotel List of Travel Playlist ((JRFEHTE )), 2022 China Hotel Awards
- “Best Resort Hotel of the Year” and other awards, and has been
widely recognized and praised in the industry. In 2022, this segment
contributed approximately RMB9.48 million to the Group’s revenue.
In addition, Camelon Hot Spring Hotel in Tong’an District of Xiamen,
Camelon Business Hotel in Hui’an of Quanzhou, and hotels in
Feidong of Hefei, Taizi Lake Hotel of Wuhan and Jinhui Hotel of
Fengxian District, Shanghai, etc. were still under construction in an
orderly manner. Sticking to the service concept of “family-like service
for you”, the Group will bring high-quality service experience to its
customers.
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QUALITY, SAFETY AND PRODUCT LINE
DESIGN

Over the years, Yuzhou Group has always adhered to the concept
of low-carbon environmental protection and green development,
attached great importance to sustainable development, and taken
the initiative to respond to the national goal of “carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality” by building green boutique projects with
“craftsmanship” and continuously increasing its practice of green
building, striving to construct ecological communities where people
and nature can coexist in harmony. “Environmental protection and
energy saving, building green communities” has always been one of
the development philosophies of Yuzhou Group’s projects. As of the
end of the year, 145 property projects of the Group (with a total area
of over 21 million sg.m.), have achieved green building standards,
of which approximately 5.55 million sg.m. have reached two-star or
above green building standards, either nationally or internationally.
Shenzhen Yuzhou Plaza, Shanghai Yuzhou Plaza and Xiamen Yuzhou
Plaza were awarded the “US LEED CS Certification”, and the project
at No.48 Caine Road, Central, Hong Kong, was awarded the highest
platinum level of BEAM Plus.

In 2022, while passing on the establishments of the three residential
product series, namely “Royale”, “Langham” and “Honor”, Yuzhou
Group also made certain improvements with the product system
further standardized and top-level design concept of products more
clarified to fully demonstrate the products’ values and orientation,
so as to continuously improve its own products. Committing to
“Providing Highly Competitive Products”, Yuzhou Group has been
updating and iterating its design management procedures, taking
projects as the key line and focusing on the fine management, so
as to guarantee the implementation effect and quality of projects.
Meanwhile, its product recognition had also been established and
consolidated with the combination of distinctive buildings, landscape,
and refined decoration. Yuzhou Group has been remaining true to
the original aspiration and striving to provide better products based
on our understanding of customers’ needs by focusing efforts on
the outlook of buildings, landscape, grey space, refined decoration,
layout, experience areas and other aspects. A perfect “home” is alll
Yuzhou Group devotes to build with craftsmanship.
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In terms of product line innovation, Yuzhou Group has launched a
new generation of its product — “Ucube-Temperature space”, which
form follows function. In particular, the “Temperature space” focuses
on creating a better life, pays attention to the ecological balance
between people and housing through the selection of materials, so
as to escort the owner’s healthy life; pays attention to the interaction
of science and technology by linking intelligent life with information
technology; pays attention to the relationship between people by
integrating interaction and communication into the design; advocates
culture-oriented, value-oriented, customer-oriented, cost-oriented and
quality-oriented products, striving to provide customers with refined
quality housing that returns to the essence of life.

LAND RESERVES

Adhering to its strategic deployment of leading with locality
development and following the principle of “In-depth Cultivation”, the
Group extensively develops the six metropolitan areas in the Yangtze
River Delta Region, West Strait Economic Zone, Bohai Rim Region,
Greater Bay Area, Central China Region and Southwest Region
through the bidding and auction, merger and acquisition, urban
redevelopment, land acquisition by application list system and project
cooperation, so as to ensure stable and sustainable development.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had land reserves amounting
to approximately 15.80 million sg.m. of aggregate saleable GFA,
with 172 projects located in 38 cities in the six metropolitan areas.
The average land cost was approximately RMB6,993 per sq.m.. The
Group believes that its land reserves currently held and managed are
sufficient for its development over the next two to three years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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T ER TR EEEFE (FHK)
(FR2022E12H31H)

Number of

Region & projects Area As of Total

EHEH#®E=E WEEmA FRr i LE 5

(sq.m.)
(F75 )

West Strait Economic Zone BHEKEE
Xiamen Er9 26 861,735 5.5%
Fuzhou @M 8 214,984 1.4%
Quanzhou RN 3 782,523 4.9%
Longyan k=] 21,013 0.1%
Zhangzhou EM 4 801,528 5.1%
Sub-total VBt 42 2,681,783 17.0%
Yangtze River Delta Region R=EAR
Shanghai fisb = 15 688,102 4.4%
Nanjing [EI 15 352,825 2.2%
Hangzhou DA 3 440,726 2.8%
Shaoxing 48 1 127,952 0.8%
Ningbo B 2 73,394 0.5%
Suzhou BN 16 935,116 5.9%
Changzhou = 1 183,573 0.9%
Wuxi 35 8 290,866 1.8%
Hefei =L 18 1,392,520 8.8%
Bengbu =] 1 485,631 3.1%
Jinhua BEE 1 &1 0.0%
Yangzhou #=M 3 571,649 3.6%
Zhoushan 3L 1 140,561 0.9%
Xuzhou RN 1 53,713 0.3%
Sub-total et 81 5,689,944 36.0%
Bohai Rim Region R#s&EE
Beijing Bl 1 78,434 0.5%
Tianjin X2 10 1,211,288 7.7%
Qingdao 55 4 213,601 1.3%
Shijiazhuang BRI 1 41,572 0.3%
Tangshan &L 2 924,798 5.9%
Shenyang i 1 96,097 0.6%
Sub-total VBt 19 2,565,790 16.3%
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Number of

Region & projects Area As of Total

EE¥E WEEmME Ffr s EE451)

(sq.m.)
(7 K)

Central China Region EhEg
Wuhan TS 4 773,683 4.9%
Xinxiang 0 1 196,717 1.2%
Kaifeng B E 1 222,844 1.4%
Zhengzhou =1 3 485,246 3.1%
Sub-total IVEt 9 1,678,490 10.6%
Greater Bay Area EE
Hong Kong 58 1 2,214 0.0%
Shenzhen w3 1 51,281 0.3%
Huizhou =N 2 347,065 2.2%
Foshan LU 5 314,337 2.0%
Zhongshan Ay 1 91,317 0.6%
Jiangmen LM 1 127,387 0.8%
Sub-total Mt 11 933,601 5.9%
Southwest Region k=285
Chongaing B5E 4 624,098 3.9%
Chengdu DS 3 737,140 4.7%
Sub-total it 7 1,361,238 8.6%
Total &t 169 14,910,846 94.4%
Urban Redevelopment W E
Greater Bay Area KEE
Shenzhen 3] 1 107,640 0.7%
Zhuhai %RE 1 627,022 4.0%
Huizhou =S 1 150,308 0.9%
Total =5 3 884,970 5.6%
Grand total 4a =t 172 15,795,816 100.0%
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

The revenue of the Group was mainly derived from four business
categories, including property sales revenue, rental income from
investment properties, property management fee income and hotel
operation income. In 2022, the total revenue of the Group was
RMB26,737.24 million, down by 1.23% year-on-year. This was
mainly due to a decrease in property management fee income during
the year. Specifically, property sales revenue was approximately
RMB26,288.91 million, accounting for 98.32% of the total revenue;
rental income from investment properties was approximately
RMB226.78 million, down by 25.14% vyear-on-year; property
management fee income was approximately RMB212.08 million,
down by 59.22% year-on-year; and hotel operation income was
approximately RMB9.48 million.

COST OF SALES

The cost of sales mainly encompassed land cost, construction
cost, capitalized interest of the Group and fair value adjustments on
properties upon reclassification to subsidiaries from joint ventures and
associates in current and prior periods. In 2022, the cost of sales of
the Group was approximately RMB26,012.24 million, up by 13.04%
from approximately RMB23,010.59 million in 2021. The increase in
the cost of sales was mainly due to the increase in GFA of properties
delivered by the Group during the year.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT
MARGIN

The gross profit of the Group was approximately RMB725.00 million
in 2022. The gross profit margin was 2.71%. The decrease in gross
profit margin was mainly due to recognition of loss-making projects in
Xiamen, Quanzhou, Huizhou and Jinhua in 2022.

FAIR VALUE LOSS ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

In 2022, the Group recorded a fair value loss on investment properties
of approximately RMB315.41 million (Fair value gain on investment
properties in 2021: RMB717.89 million). Fair value loss on investment
properties was mainly due to the decrease in fair value of certain
investment properties in Shanghai, Xiamen, Hefei and Hong Kong
resulted from the deteriorated market environment.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 20.27%
year-on-year from approximately RMB414.52 million in 2021 to
approximately RMB330.52 million in 2022, mainly due to the decrease
of bank interest income.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by 5.26%
year-on-year from approximately RMB691.69 million in 2021 to
approximately RMB655.30 million in 2022. With an effective cost
control measures, the Group continued to decrease the marketing
and promotion expenses in 2022.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by 35.52% year-on-
year from approximately RMB834.44 million in 2021 to approximately
RMB1,130.87 million in 2022, which was mainly due to the
amortization of transaction fees of senior notes of the Group.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses increased from approximately RMB99.87 million in
2021 to approximately RMB871.62 million in 2022, which was mainly
due to an impairment loss on goodwill of approximately RMB661.05
million.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs of the Group increased from approximately RMB276.10
million in 2021 to approximately RMB674.45 million in 2022, which
was mainly due to the decrease in the portion of interest capitalized
during the year.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF JOINT VENTURES

The Group’s share of loss of joint ventures was RMB890.81 million in
2022, and the loss in 2021 was RMB38.39 million. The total revenue
of joint ventures amounted to RMB8,461.11 million in 2022. The gross
profit margin of joint ventures was 2.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

The Group’s share of loss of associates was RMB257.13 million in
2022, compared with share of profit of associates of RMB326.99
million in 2021.
RMB7,806.62 million in 2022. The gross profit margin of associates
was 4.3%.

The total revenue of associates amounted to

INCOME TAX

The Group recorded tax expense of RMB111.68 million in 2022.
Income tax expense of the Group in 2021 was RMB1,879.53 million.
The decrease in income tax expense was mainly due to the decrease
in profit before tax during the year.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The loss for the year was RMB13,269.19 million, as compared to the
profit of RMB1,282.99 million in 2021. The loss mainly resulted from
the decrease in gross profit, fair value loss on investment properties
and provision for impairment losses during the year.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the loss attributable to non-
controlling interests amounted to approximately RMB1,254.33 million,
as compared to the profit of RMB420.90 million in 2021. The loss was
mainly attributable to impairment of inventories and losses on certain
non-wholly owned projects.

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

For the year ended December 31, 2022, basic loss per share was
RMB1.86.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

Cash Position

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and non-pledged time deposits with original maturity
of over three months of approximately RMB7,139.43 million,
decreased by 59.25% from approximately RMB17,519.93 million as at
December 31, 2021.

Borrowings

The Group adopts prudent financial policy for proactively conducting
debt management and optimizing debt structure to ensure balance in
financial risks and cut-down of finance costs.

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had total bank and other
borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes balance of
RMB55,120.49 million, of which certain loans were secured by certain
investment properties, properties held for sale and properties under
development of the Group, representing a year-on-year decrease of
2.58%. The interest rate of average borrowing cost was 7.23% per
annum, decreased by 0.11 percentage point from 7.34% in the period
ended June 30, 2022. As at December 31, 2022, asset-liability ratio
after excluding advance receipts (total liability after excluding contract
liabilities divided by total asset after excluding contract liabilities) was
78.25%, which was up by 9.06 percentage points as compared to
that as at December 31, 2021.

NET GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2022, the Group’s net gearing ratio (calculated as
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds and
senior notes less cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and non-
pledged time deposits with original maturity of over three months and
then divided by total equity) was 191.35%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As at December 31, 2022, the Group provided guarantees to
banks amounting to RMB25,946.75 million (December 31, 2021:
RMB18,234.88 million) in respect of mortgage facilities granted
to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties. The amounts of
guarantee to banks and other lenders by the Group in terms of
facilities awarded to joint ventures and associates were RMB819.15
million (December 31, 2021: RMB2,382.34 million) and RMB1,288.56
million (December 31, 2021: RMB471.71 million), respectively. The
amounts of guarantee to banks and other lenders by the Group in
respect of facilities granted to certain contractors for construction
cost were RMB58.59 million (December 31, 2021: RMB8.95 million).
The amounts of guarantees to banks and other lenders in respects
of facilities granted to independent third parties, net of the principal
and interest of RMB2,895.44 million (December 31, 2021:Nil) included
in the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, were
RMB1,752.04 million (December 31, 2021: RMB4,226.35 million).
The Group provided guarantees to banks and other lenders in
respects of facilities granted to independent third parties amounting to
RMB4,647.48 million (December 31, 2021: RMB4,226.35 million) and
recognized the provision for expected credit loss on the guarantees of
RMB1,744.05 million (December 31, 2021: RMB27.03 million).

As of December 31, 2022, save as disclosed herein, the Group had
no other material contingent liabilities.

Fuzhou Yuzhou Royale Riverside Mansion
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CURRENCY RISK

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had total borrowings, corporate
bonds and senior notes of approximately RMB55,120.49 million,
approximately 22.33% was denominated in RMB and 77.67% was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.

The proportions of balance of bank and other borrowings, corporate
bonds, senior notes and cash of the Group in terms of the currencies
are as follows:

B E
HE2022F12H31HIE AEFBBEE - QN EE
FREBEEER aHENOARKS51(82,0498 T
Fo49F22.33% A ANREHBERTT.67T%HE T
K ETTEHE

FEBPRTREMER 2B EF BEERE
RBEEEFNSEGREEAWT

Bank and other
borrowings,
corporate bonds,
and senior

notes balance Cash balance*

RITR

Hhfga

REES
B EEREER RE LR
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(NE T T) (AR #F7T)
HK$ B 863,748 16,810
RMB AR 12,308,155 7,079,600
uss$ =T 41,948,589 43,020
Total =1 55,120,492 7,139,430

* Including restricted cash and non-pledged time deposits with original — * B 52 IREIE 2 RIBIREE =187 2 HILFEH

maturity of over three months

The Group will closely monitor the exchange rate risk regularly and
make foreign exchange hedging arrangement when necessary. The
Group considers that no foreign exchange hedging arrangement is
needed currently.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEM

With the rapid development of information technology, information-
based development has become the foundation and premise of
modern management. The Group actively pushed forward and
improved the IT level of the Group, built a management + IT
management and control system, improved the independent planning
and design capability of IT, and adhered to the use of technology to
empower enterprises, so as to comprehensively raise the operating
efficiency and quality. During the year, in order to improve and
strengthen information security and ensure operating efficiency and
quality, the Group built a management platform for legal entities on
its own, which enables the informatization of company registration,
change of registration and certificates and seals management, and
data interchange with Office Automation (OA) and Qixinbao (ElfS &) ,
to regularly update the information of legal entities, certificate and
seal data and corporate credit information. Thus, unified management
of and data sharing among legal entities, and integrated business
data approval were realized, which, coupled with the introduction of
corporate credit data in Qixinbao, facilitated management efficiency
improvement and operational risks reduction. In terms of business
empowerment, the Group independently built a unified knowledge
retrieval platform, the Yuzhi Platform (8 %1F &), by establishing rules
to form a knowledge base for an intelligent robot to answer questions.
Users can search for knowledge and information in the form of
question-and-answer to help effective accumulation and utilization of
knowledge assets, avoid information loss due to employee resignation
and repetitive errors, support newcomers or front-line staff to learn
and grow quickly and promote effective succession of key positions,
thereby improving business efficiency and creating benefits. At the
same time, the Group promoted the utilization of the whole module
of Tencent Meeting, used WeCom as the instant messaging (IM)
tool and integrated the functions of Tencent Meeting to enhance
video conferencing solutions that meet users’ office needs. With the
convergence and interoperability of Tencent Meeting and Polycom
hardware terminals, the original intranet architecture was discarded
and a more lightweight one has come into being, which protects
corporate assets and covers more meeting scenarios without
changing users’ habits. The WeCom & Tencent Meeting joint office
solution reduces users’ learning costs and improves office efficiency.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

Yuzhou Group always adheres to the sage spirit of “King Yu tamed the
flood and making desert an oasis”, and with the vision of becoming
a century-old enterprise that supports the development of cities and
achieves a win-win situation for its customers, staff and shareholders,
penetrates the core values of responsibility, pragmatism, coordination
and win-win into every corner of corporate culture. In 2022, the
Human Resources Department carried out a number of corporate
culture initiatives with key themes such as overcoming difficulties,
making concerted efforts to strive for success, and being honest and
sincere.

In 2022, under the direction of streamlined and efficient organizational
management, the Group carried out and gradually realized the
flat organizational adjustment of the group headquarters through
decentralization and the removal of secondary departments, which
has strengthened the functions of the headquarters. The Group also
implemented a channel down model of management to promote the
efficient solution of front-line business. At the same time, according
to the current industry situation, the Group has formulated the
corresponding organizational management and post-fixing model to
achieve the effective and feasible control of organization, business
and personnel. Yuzhou Group carried out an “internal transfer action”
to promote internal recommendation and transfer of employees.
Through a series of measures such as a 360° questionnaire survey
on the management, communication and interviews with staff of each
line, and management reform of employees’ special performance,
it fully implemented the employment philosophy of “promoting the
able, demoting the mediocre, and dismissing the incompetent”.
Furthermore, combined with the personal development will of
employees, it strived to achieve win-win and common development of
employees and the Company, forming an optimal allocation model of
human resources. In terms of talent pipeline building, Yuzhou Group
helped management trainees review and summarize their past work
and growth experiences and define their personal development and
improvement plans by conducting annual appraisal of management
trainees and activities such as the “Yu Yue Talk (RBRAEER)"
experience sharing meeting and the river tracing league construction
activity for management trainees under the theme of “To Grow and
Be Extraordinary (B &&IFEM) " in 2022. In doing so, the Company
has strengthened communication with management trainees so that
they can grow together with the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In 2022, Yuzhou Group adhered to the people-oriented principle,
cared for staff’s physical and mental health and effectively organized
various recreational activities, which enhanced corporate cohesion
and the centripetal force and inspired staff to overcome difficulties,
take responsibility and act courageously. A series of activities under
the theme of “Unite Together to Overcome Difficulties” reinforced
the pioneering and exemplary role of middle-senior executives and
Party members and cadres, enhanced the ability of front-line teams
to promote their work, and further established role models to boost
team morale. The probity training enabled staff to develop correct
values and avoid illegal behaviors while continuously improving their
professional abilities at work, attach importance to integrity and
observance of laws and stick to the occupational red line. They
were encouraged to be “practitioners” of righteousness and “Yuzhou
Staff” that keep discipline and abide by the law when forging ahead
with initial aspiration bearing in mind. Various activities such as the
Mid-Autumn Festival league construction and Moon-cake Gambling
activities under the theme of “Ride the Waves with One Heart (3E &
JRE B, a series of staff activities of Yuzhou Group under the
theme of “Enjoy the Cool Summer with You (B RE HBIREE)”,
and the voluntary blood donation activity under the theme of “Ardent
Youth Gather Like Sparks (BAME 4 > BEMIE) ", demonstrated
Yuzhou Staff's values of responsibility, pragmatism, coordination
and win-win and further enhanced their sense of belonging to the
organization and the cohesion of the team, enabling the Group to
make concerted efforts to survive in the fierce competition.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had 1,985 staff in total, of
which nil in property management company due to the disposal of
Yuzhou Property Services Co., Limited (2021: 7,295, of which 3,663
were staff in property management company).

PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On February 22, 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as the vendor), the Company and Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (both as
the vendor’s guarantors), and Tai Chiap Company Limited (as the
purchaser) entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale
and Purchase Agreement Dated February 22, 2022”), pursuant to
which (i) the vendor agreed to sell, and the purchaser agreed to
purchase 85.64% of the entire issued share capital of Keen Choice
Limited (“Keen Choice”), and (i) the vendor agreed to procure, and
the purchaser agreed to take the assignment from the Company of
the shareholder’s loan owed by Keen Choice. The total consideration
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement Dated February 22, 2022
is HK$305.0 million. Further details in relation to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement Dated February 22, 2022 and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated February 22, 2022.

On March 8, 2022, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as the vendor), Runying Property Technology Service Co.,
Ltd. (as the purchaser), and Yuzhou Property Services Co., Limited
(as the target company) (“Yuzhou Property Services”) entered into
a formal sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase
Agreement Dated March 8, 2022”), pursuant to which the purchaser
agreed to acquire, and the vendor agreed to sell the entire issued
share capital of Yuzhou Property Services at the consideration of
RMB1,058 million. Further details in relation to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement Dated March 8, 2022 and the transactions contemplated
thereunder are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
January 5, 2022 and March 8, 2022, and the circular of the Company
dated April 28, 2022.

On December 2, 2022, an wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as the purchaser), Coastal Greenland Limited GH/E#&BREAR
‘AE]*) (as the vendor), and Zhuhai Coastal Greenland Real Estate
Company Limited* (BkBM R ESRBRERMEMREARAR) (as
the target company) (“Zhuhai Coastal Greenland”) entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to
which the purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, and the vendor
conditionally agreed to sell 66.67% of the issued share capital of
Zhuhai Coastal Greenland at the consideration of RMB120 million and
to procure the settlement of a shareholder’s loan at a consideration
of RMB760 million. Further details in relation to the Supplemental
Agreement and the transactions thereunder are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated December 6, 2022, and the
circular of the Company dated March 30, 2023.

Save for the above, the Company did not enter into other material
acquisitions and disposals during the reporting period.
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Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies

As at December 31, 2022, the Group has provided financial
assistance, by way of advances and guarantees for facilities granted
to its affiliated companies (which includes associated companies and
joint ventures of the Group), the details of which are set out below:

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Advances to

A FEE B

[ Bk B 2 B £2 1
120226128310 AEEEBBREBRR
RERRARKHBEAD OEFAEENHEAT

REEAE) BHMBED  HBWT :

The Group’s the Affiliated Guarantees
attributable Companies for facilities
interest in as at granted to
the Affiliated 31 December the Affiliated
Companies 2022 Companies Total
120225F12831
Name of affiliated companies BHEAR FEEERGHE HRBEBARR REBARRM
(the “Affiliated Companies”) (THBAE)) & AR Z#E 2 BH ZREER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEREFT ARETT ARBTR
Tianjin Yuzhou Yucheng Real Estate Development KEENAREHNERERR
Co., Ltd* RE] 13% 1,665,102 - 1,665,102
Taicang Kangyida Real Estate Development AERHRERHERLER
Co., Ltd* G 49% 1,366,310 243,040 1,609,350
Wuxi Xinghongyi Real Estate Co., Ltd* ERBEBREXERAT 50% 1,254,896 320,635 1,575,531
Xiamen Zhongrong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd*  EFIHERMEREERAT 33% 1,475,008 34,000 1,509,008
Jiangmen Maogjian Real Estate Development Co., Ltd*  JIFIREREMEREERAT 30% 1,332,997 = 1,332,997
Chengdu Yuhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* S EEMEREERAT 51% 1,321,109 - 1,321,109
Fuzhou Shimao Honggi Real Estate Co., Ltd* BINERLTELBRET AT 23% 836,955 40,000 876,955
Suzhou Haoyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* BEMNRERHMEREERAF 20% 860,169 - 860,169
Hangzhou Changhe Real Estate Co., Ltd* MMEREXBRAE 23% 838,671 - 838,671
Suzhou Yuhongyuanying Real Estate Co., Ltd* BENEBRREXERAT 20% 757,133 - 757,133
Suzhou Xinyuxi Construction and Development Co., Ltd* EMH S ZRZEEERAT 49% 412,955 221,019 633,973
Tianjin Yuzhou Xinghan Real Estate Development XEENEERMERLEAR
Co., Ltd* AT 26% 625,793 - 625,793
Xingyang Yaheng Real Estate Co., Ltd* KBETREEZERAR 34% 570,823 - 570,823
Tianjin Harmony Home Construction and Development ~ KZMERERRELER
Co., Ltd* NG 30% 540,000 540,000
Tianjin Boshang Wanyi Real Estate Development XERHBREHNEREBR
Co., Ltd* NG 30% 519,646 - 519,646
Tianjin Xuanyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* KEHEEHEREERAT 60% 498,628 - 498,628
Tianjin Yuzhou Runcheng Real Estate Co., Ltd* REBNBREEERAR 49% 486,232 - 486,232
Qingdao Shenggang Investment Co., Ltd* BEREREERAT 17% 452,667 - 452,667
Shanghai Yehao Business Consulting Co., Ltd"* FEEEEBEAERAT 49% 452,193 - 452,193
Nanjing Ximao Real Estate Co., Ltd* BREAREERRAT 20% 440,166 - 440,166
Yangzhou Jizhi Real Estate Co., Ltd* BNEERHERRAG 40% 10,507 411,110 421,617
Wuxi Fengxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* BHEHEMEREERAT 40% 378,882 - 378,882
Hefei Ruiyun Real Estate Co., Ltd* BEREEXARAR 51% 373,766 - 373,766
Nanjing Kunhao Hardware Trading Co., Ltd* HRERLSEZERAT 80% 327,195 - 327,195
Xiamen Binxi Real Estate Co., Ltd* BFHEZEXFRAS 33% 306,248 - 306,248
Xiamen Zeyi Trading Co., Ltd"* EMERESERAR 51% 234,995 - 234,995
Zhongshan Yuhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* BB BEMEFLEERAT 28% 210,000 210,000
Nanjing Yongxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* HREHEHEBZERAT 33% 126,989 - 126,989
Suzhou Lijia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* BN EERMERZERATD 19% 116,719 - 116,719
Foshan Hangfeng Dexin Real Estate Co., Ltd* GUTNEBEEXERAT 49% 100,719 - 100,719
Suzhou Huxi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* BMNAEEMEREERAT 20% 82,659 - 82,659
Suzhou Huyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* HMHIREHERZEERAT 30% 74,506 74,506
Hefei Haoyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* ARBEEHERERRAT 50% 45,157 - 45,157
Changzhou Guangyu Real Estate Development EMAREHEREERAS
Co., Ltd* 49% 44,895 - 44,895
Shenzhen Shenye Minghong Real Estate Development — FIIH R E£BEEHEREAR
Co., Ltd* NG 5% 33,783 - 33,783
Tianjin Lianyu Real Estate Co., Ltd* XEHBEEXARAA 48% 27,396 - 27,396
Nanjing Baoyu Real Estate Co., Ltd* HRREEXERRAT 20% 13,406 13,406
Total Ha5t 18,386,249 2,107,715 20,493,964

* For identification purpose only

* O EHER




44 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEZAmRS @

Notes:

1. Advances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms

and will be repaid as and when appropriate.

2. All of committed facilities will be made from the internal resources and/or

banking facilities of the Group.

3. Save as disclosed above, no other obligations arise under rules 13.13 to
13.16 of the Listing Rules.

The total amount of financial assistance provided to the Affiliated
Companies, in aggregate, amount to approximately 14.3% as at
December 31, 2022 under the assets ratio as defined under Rule
14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, a combined statement
of financial position of those Affiliated Companies with financial
assistance from the Group and the Group’s attributable interests in
those Affiliated Companies as at December 31, 2022 are presented

MyE -

1. ZEBRAEET REEEEEERBREFNE
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3. BRENFIiEBEEN BMEARE EHRAE18.13E
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as follows:
Combined Group’s
statement of attributable
financial position interests
EHBFBRAR TEBELES
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,443,423 651,453
Current assets MENEE 61,457,652 19,997,592
Current liabilities mEAaG (47,114,038) (15,675,949)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTEBEE 15,787,037 4,973,096
Non-current liabilities FEREAER (5,850,817) (2,145,752)
Net assets BEESR 9,936,220 2,827,344

The combined statement of financial position of the Affiliated
Companies was prepared by combining their statements of financial
position, after making adjustments to conform with the Group’s
significant accounting policies and re-grouping into significant
classification in the statement of financial position, as at December
31, 2022.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as set out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group, there are no important events after the reporting period
and up to the date of this report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on May 30, 2023 and the notice of AGM will be published and
despatched to the shareholders in due course. In order to determine
the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of
Members will be closed from May 24, 2023 to May 30, 2023, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. All transfer documents of the Company accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch
share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on May 23, 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Group finished an exchange offer of one-year
senior notes, of which the details are set out in the paragraph headed
“LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES” under the
section of “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” above.

During the year, the Company purchased the 8.5% senior notes due
2024, 8.375% senior notes due 2024, 6% senior notes due 2023,
7.85% senior notes due 2026, 8.3% senior notes due 2025, 7.375%
senior notes due 2026, 7.7% senior notes due 2025, 7.8125% senior
notes due 2023, 8.5% senior notes due 2023, 8.625% senior notes
due 2022, 6.35% senior notes due 2027, and 6% senior notes due
2022, which were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, at the purchase amount of US$23,665,000, US$10,800,000,
US$9,335,000, US$4,300,000, US$6,900,000, US$8,750,000,
US$4,260,000, US$5,000,000, US$4,100,000, US$3,000,000,
US$1,000,000, and US$200,000, representing approximately 4.73%,
2.16%, 1.44%, 1.43%, 1.38%, 1.36%, 1.07%, 0.95%, 0.82%,
0.60%, 0.18% and 0.06% of the respective principal amounts.
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SHARE
DEALING

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct on Directors’
Securities Transactions (the “Securities Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listing Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
requirements set out in the Securities Code throughout the year
ended December 31, 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and the management of the Group are committed to
the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The corporate governance principles of the Group
emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, and transparency
and accountability to all the shareholders of the Company.

During the year, the Company had adopted, applied and complied
with the Corporate Governance Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules except the following deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. Lam Lung On has been assuming the roles
of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer from January 1,
2012 to June 24, 2022. On June 24, 2022, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (£}
H ) was appointed as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Although these two roles are performed by the
same individual, certain responsibilities are shared with the executive
directors to balance the power and authority. In addition, all major
decisions are made in consultation with members of the Board as
well as senior management. The Board has three independent non-
executive directors who offer different independent perspectives.
Therefore, the Board is of the view that there are adequate balances
of power and safeguards in place. The Board would review and
monitor the situation on a regular basis and would ensure that the
present structure would not impair the balance of power in the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not grant any share options for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the accounting
policies adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2022.

SCOPE OF WORK OF PRISM HONG KONG
AND SHANGHAI LIMITED

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the related
notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2022 as set out in this
report have been agreed by the Company’s auditor, Prism Hong Kong
and Shanghai Limited, to the amounts set out in the Group’s draft
consolidated financial statements for the year. The work performed by
the Company’s auditor in this respect did not constitute an assurance
engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing,
Hong Kong Standards on Review Engagements or Hong Kong
Standards on Assurance Engagements issued by the HKICPA and
consequently no assurance has been expressed by the Company’s
auditor on this report.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES AND
PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2023, China’s economic work will continue to
focus on “stability”, concentrating on “stabilizing growth, employment
and price” and vigorously maintaining healthy and stable economic
development. Specifically for the real estate industry, the economic
stabilizer and ballast stone, under the keynote of “houses are for
living instead of speculation”, policies will support the demand side,
the enterprise side, the guaranteed delivery of housing and housing
support, and more supportive policies are expected to better play the
economic pillar role of the real estate industry.
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With the stimulation of multiple favorable policies, economic
activities will gradually recover in the future, and the excess savings
accumulated during the epidemic are expected to be gradually
released into consumption momentum, driving a rebound in property
sales and a gradual recovery of the domestic property-purchasing
market. Meanwhile, market differentiation is increasingly obvious as
the new market development logic continues to change: firstly, in
terms of city differentiation, the tier-1 and tier-2 cities with higher
levels of economic development and continuous net population
inflow will continue to maintain their dominant position in industry
development; secondly, in terms of clientele differentiation, against
the backdrop of the policy of “houses are for living instead of
speculation”, the first-time home buyers with the rigid demand and
those with housing upgrade demand may dominate the market, and
house purchase will gradually return to residential attribute, while
the investment and financial attributes of real estate will gradually
weaken; thirdly, in terms of product differentiation caused by clientele
differentiation, in this context, consumers will pay more attention to
product quality, product design, quality of property services, living
atmosphere and other residential factors, and thus products with
design that can better meet the personalized needs of different age
groups and have a high cost performance will be more attractive and
competitive.

In the new growth cycle of the industry, Yuzhou Group will adhere to
its initial aspiration of founding and the internal development logic of
business and industry, and will continue to attach great importance
to corporate cash flow safety and profitable growth, focus on product
quality, and insist on a pragmatic and practical work style, forging
its “inner core” such as intrinsic quality, team strength, strategic
layout, so as to create a core competitive advantage that matches
its own genetic development. Yuzhou Group will continue to uphold
its presence in and in-depth cultivation of tier-1 and tier-2 cities, to
strive for long-term “going concern”, “living better” and “living longer”
via a “moderate and excellent” and “less but more competitive”
development trail.
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In 2022, the Yuzhou Group continued its efforts to promote
environmental, social and corporate governance development, and in
doing so, the Group, as always, attached great importance to stable
and efficient communication with shareholders and investors. Through
years of exploration and practice, the Group has gradually developed
a scientific and systematic operational mechanism for investor
relations management and is committed to maintaining an excellent
level of corporate governance and a high degree of transparency.
Over the past year, the Group has made significant progress in
investor relations management by establishing an efficient and stable
investor communication system and communicating truthful and
accurate information to investors through various channels in a timely
manner, which the Group understands is particularly important for
maintaining a high level of transparency and excellence in corporate
governance. This year, Yuzhou Group was awarded the “2022
ESG Development Influential Company of the Year” award by the
Huaxia Times, which recognises the Group’s continuous efforts in
promoting environmental, social and corporate governance, and
fully demonstrates the results of Yuzhou'’s long-term efforts in capital
markets and investor relations.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
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OPEN, FAIR, TRANSPARENT AND ACCURATE
INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Group promptly discloses its financial and operational updates
to the capital market through various channels in an open, fair
and transparent manner to allow investors, analysts, credit rating
institutions and media to have an in-depth understanding of its
philosophy, strategies and potential development of the Group. The
recognition of investors on the business and development of the
Group could facilitate the expansion of financing sources at a lower
cost for optimization of loan structure. The Group actively seeks
and sincerely listens to the opinions and advice from the capital
market regarding the operation and management of the Group for
improvement with a view of maximizing value of shareholders.

EFFECTIVE AND TIMELY COMMUNICATION
SYSTEM WITH MULTIPLE CHANNELS

In 2022, despite the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, global investors’
attention towards Yuzhou Group remains unabated. As a bridge of
communication with investors, the Group’s Investor Relations team
has always adhered to seeking diversified communication channels
and maintaining close contact with domestic and foreign analysts
and investors. The Group’s Investor Relations work has always been
at the forefront of the industry, actively and accurately promoting the
Group’s performance and development situation to global investors
through frequent network strategy meetings and phone conferences,
conducting effective and targeted corporate value dissemination.
At the same time, the team also listens humbly to the opinions and
suggestions of the capital markets, consolidating and expanding the
investor base, continuously increasing the attention of the capital
markets towards Yuzhou Group.

The investor relations team of the Group maintained active
communication with the capital market to enhance the understanding
of the capital market to the Group. Through continuous efforts,
Yuzhou won a number of internal ESG awards in 2022 and
continued to be rated as MSCI ESG “BBB”, ranking among the
top in the domestic real estate industry. The rating also reflected
the international renowned index rating institutions’ full recognition
of the Group’s previous development achievements, as well as the
continuous optimization and upgrading of environmental protection,
corporate social responsibility and internal corporate governance
etc., also highlighted the Group’s unique sustainable development
advantages and model role in the industry.
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The Group has established a stable and transparent communication
system for investor relations,
press releases, corporate monthly newsletters, and official WeChat
information to shareholders and corporate holders. The Group’s
investor relations website (http://iryuzhou-group.com) has always
been one of the important channels for information disclosure. In
addition to the conventional information disclosure methods, the

regularly issuing announcements,

Group also extensively uses new media communication platforms
such as WeChat public accounts, roadshows, and Global Intelligence
to interact and communicate with investors. As the first enterprise
in the industry to open an official WeChat platform for investor
relations, the Yuzhou Group’s official WeChat platform aims to serve
as an efficient communication bridge for the group to maintain
investor relations, exchange information, and answer related investor
inquiries. The Group’s strategies, new product promotion,
relations, latest developments,
market observations are transmitted to investors in real-time,
gaining positive feedback from numerous analysts, investors, media
reporters, and peers. As the Group’s governance level improves and
market value management needs arise, the content and scope of
investor relations management work continue to expand. The Group
will continue to dedicate itself to establishing and maintaining a
stable and transparent communication system for investor relations,
actively promoting and practicing corporate social responsibility, and
establishing a good corporate image and brand value for the Yuzhou
Group in the market.

investor
industry information, and property

Investor Relations (Continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION
Shareholder Service

Shareholders may notify the registrar in writing on matters relating to
your shareholding, such as share transfer, change of name or address
and loss of share certificate:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

Shareholder Enquiries

Enquiry hotline of the Company during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 2508 1718

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries from investors and securities analysts, please contact:

Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department
Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited

Units 5801-02, 58/F, The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2508 1718

(852) 2510 0265

Email: ir@yuzhou-group.com

Facsimile:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors consists of seven Directors, of whom two are
executive Directors, two are non-executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors are appointed for
a term not exceeding three years. The power and duties of our Board
of Directors include convening general meetings and reporting the
Board’s work at general meetings, implementing resolutions passed
at general meetings, determining our business plans and investment
plans, formulating our annual budget and final accounts, formulating
our proposals for profit distributions and for the increase or reduction
of registered capital as well as exercising other powers, functions and
duties as conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
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Directors’ Biographies (Continued)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Kwok Ying Lan, aged 52, was appointed as our executive Director
on October 9, 2009 and was appointed as the Chairman of our
Board of Directors on June 24, 2022, and she is also a member of
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of our Company.
Since joining our Company in April 1997, Ms. Kwok has held various
positions including but not limited to chairman, director and general
manager in most of our subsidiaries and is primarily responsible
for the financial, capital and auditing work of the Company. Ms.
Kwok has over 25 years of experience in property development
and financial management. Ms. Kwok was an executive Director
of the Xiamen Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment.
Ms. Kwok also serves as a member of the Standing Committee of
the Xiamen Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the director of Fujian Overseas Women'’s
Friendship Association, the Deputy Chairman of the Hong-Kong
Xiamen Friendship Union, and the vice president of the Hong Kong
Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association. She is the spouse of
Mr. Lam Lung On, our non-executive Director, and the sister-in-law of
Mr. Lin Conghui, our executive Director. Ms. Kwok has not held any
directorship in any other public listed companies in the past three
years. Ms. Kwok worked for China Construction Bank Xiamen Branch,
a state-owned bank, before she joined our Company.

Lin Conghui, aged 52, was appointed as our executive Director on
October 9, 2009. Since joining our Company in July 1998, Mr. Lin
has held positions including but not limited to chairman and director
in most of our subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for the daily
operation management of cost purchasing department. Mr. Lin has
over 30 years of experience in project management. He graduated
from Tongji University with a diploma in Architecture Engineering
in January 2006. Mr. Lin is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lam Lung On,
our non-executive Directors, and Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, our executive
Directors. Mr. Lin has not held any directorship in any other public
listed companies in the past three years.

HITES
SRR > 525% 0 FA2009F10B9R EEHE AT M
HITEE > WHR202256 240 ELZTAESES
B rAaAARFNEER (FEEg)) Rigk
Z8g (IRRZEET)) WME 1997F48 MA K
NEUK BLTERBEMARLHMNBE QS PIET
ZEBA (BFEEFRRRESRE EERELE) >
FTEAEREIUE B hBH TE-FLLTHES
BoSENEMEREURYHESELE  STE
FIMmINERETERTNERIES - BLLEFFIR
ATEAARBAWEGEZEMTZEERES RE
LEINFLHETEE - SEEMHEATRIES
E-BBAPERAOBSE SR - FAMEZLE
(RBIFEANTESE) WEBURMEESLE (R F]
HITES) PARE - TLTHRBEN=ZFERILR
EEEAEM LT RATNES -BLEMBEATH
RN —REABRT-PEEREITEMDIT

MERHE > 525% > FA2009F10B9B EEHE AT
HITESE - B1998FE7AMAR AT LUK » ML 4%
BREMAAZTHMBLAT RIS ERM (BIEE
TRIRESERESR) " BHEITEESARBIMEARA
RPN HEEEEETFo M EHE ASOENIE
BB IRAES o M I 4 jR2006F1 3 22 EHE K22
BREIBEE MAEAMERIE (RABFFENT
B ATEBL T (REHRITES) KM
ERBEAZFETREETTAEMETATNE
%o




BHEBZRERAR 55

EER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Lam Lung On, aged 58, the founder of the Group, was appointed
as our non-executive Director on June 24, 2022. Since he founded
the Group in December 1994, Mr. Lam has held various positions
including but not limited to chairman, deputy chairman, director
and general manager in most of subsidiaries of the Group and is
primarily responsible for overseeing the development planning and
strategic layout of the Company as well as the major decisions on
the investment and human resources of the Company. He has over
28 years of experience in residential, commercial and hotel property
development and investment. In 2006, Mr. Lam became an honorary
citizen of Xiamen accredited by the mayor of Xiamen. Besides, he
was appointed as a member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (HKSAR) of the People’s Republic of China to the 14th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (CPPCC) and has served in various public service
positions, including a member of the HKSAR Election Committee, a
member of the Standing Committee of the All-China Federation of
Returned Overseas Chinese, and a member of the Tianjin Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Lam
also serves as the honorary president of the Hong Kong Chinese
Importers’ & Exporters’ Association, the investment consultant
of Xiamen, the visiting professor of the University of Science and
Technology of China and the executive director of Jimei University.
Mr. Lam graduated from the University of Science and Technology of
China with a Master’s degree in engineering in November 1996. Mr.
Lam is the spouse of Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, an executive Director and a
controlling shareholder of the Company, and the brother-in-law of Mr.
Lin Conghui, an executive Director.

Directors’ Biographies (Continued)
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Song Jiajun, aged 51, was appointed as our non-executive Director
on March 31, 2023. He has over 25 years of experience in financial
management. From July 1995 to December 1999, he worked at
the Wuhan representative office of China Science and Technology
International Investment Corporation* (FREIRI & EEE TR E AT
HEMERE), with his last position being manager, which he was
primarily responsible for business development. From May 2000 to
April 2001, he was a manager at HK Wise Profit Group Limited, which
he was primarily responsible for investment banking. From May 2001
to April 2015, Mr. Song worked at CITIC Securities Company Limited,
which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030.
SH) and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 06030.
HK), with his last position being executive general manager, which
he was primarily responsible for investment banking and merger
and acquisition. From May 2015 to May 2016, he served as the vice
president of Languang Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (B85%#%
BIZERREBABREAT), which he was primarily responsible for equity
investment. From June 2017 to April 2018, he served as the deputy
general manager of OCT North Investment Co., Ltd.* GEBIHIE 5%
EARAE), a wholly owned subsidiary of OCT Group Limited* (Z
BIREBEBRAR) (“OCT Group”). Since January 2017, Mr. Song
has been the deputy general manager of Shenzhen OCT Capital
Investment Management Company Limited* CRIIZEEFNE XRKE
BIBAMRAT), a wholly owned subsidiary of OCT Group, which he
was primarily responsible for risk control and compliance. Mr. Song is
currently a deputy general manager of Overseas Chinese Town (HK)
Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese Town Company Limited, which is listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000069.S2); a director of OCT Tourism
Investment Management Co., Ltd.* CEEGHRFERESTEERFIR
‘A7]), a joint venture of OCT Group; a director of Huadian Gaintime
(Beijing) Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd* GEE &% (It R)
KEREEEIEBMRART),; and the chairman of Hudson Capital* (A
EREEEHEAT). Mr. Song obtained his Bachelor's degree in
literature and law from Wuhan University (F/2AX2)in the PRC in
January 1995.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Kwong Siu, aged 89, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on October 9, 2009. He is also the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
and a member of the audit committee of our Company (the “Audit
Committee”). Mr. Lam has more than 50 years of capital operating
experience and had held the following positions in the banking sector:
the deputy chairman of Bank of China International Holdings Limited
since 2001, a non-executive Director of Bank of China International
Limited since 2002, an independent non-executive Director of Fujian
Holdings Limited (stock code: 00181.HK) since 2003, an independent
non-executive Director of Xinyi Glass Holdings Limited (stock code:
00868.HK) since 2004, an independent non— executive Director of Far
East Consortium International Limited (stock code: 00035.HK) since
2011 and a Director of Chu Hai College of Higher Education Limited
Since November 2021 and the Chairperson since December 2021.
Mr. Lam also holds many social positions, once the delegate of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC to the 10th
National People’s Congress, and currently serves as the honorary
chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations, life
honorary chairman of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce,
adviser of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association and the
honorary president of the Chinese Bankers Club of Hong Kong.

Wee Henny Soon Chiang (also known as Wee Toon Kian), aged
76, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
October 9, 2009. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He has more than 40 years of experience in public
accounting practice. Mr. Wee was an independent non-executive
Director of The Quaypoint Corporation Limited (now known as China
Uptown Group Company Limited), a Cayman Islands incorporated
company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
02330.HK), from September 2001 to November 2006. He is the
founder of Henny Wee & Co., a firm of Certified Public Accountants
(Practising) registered at Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in February 1988. Mr. Wee has been the partner of
Henny Wee & Co. since 1988 and following a merger with another
local firm of certified public accountants on April 1, 2016, he has been
the managing partner of the merged SWC & Partners. He was also a
partner of Glass Radcliffe Chan & Wee as a partner. Mr. Wee obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Commerce from the University of Newcastle,
New South Wales, Australia, in March 1971. He became an Associate
Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants (Australia) in July
1975, and a Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants, now known as the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountant since 1988.

Directors’ Biographies (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Yu Shangyou, aged 64, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on June 24, 2022. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee. Mr. Yu has over 32 years of experience in wealth
and financial management. From April 1988 to June 1993, Mr. Yu
was a project manager for overseas investment at the Asia-America
& Pacific investment management department of China Heilongjiang
International Economic and Technical Cooperation Corporation*
(FEREIBEERKCERZMESIEAE), a company primarily
engaged in local and foreign construction projects of economic and
technical cooperation. From 1993 to October 2020, he held various
directorship and senior management positions in China Overseas
Group including being (1) a director of China Overseas Holdings
Limited* (FEISINEBBIRAE), (2) a vice chairman and general
manager of China Overseas Finance Investment Company Limited*
(PEEINERIEE AR AT, (3) directors of several subsidiaries
of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd.* (FEI/E4NEERARAT),
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00688.HK),
and (4) an executive director of China Overseas Grand Oceans
Group Limited* (FEIEINZEFEBBRAE), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00081.HK). From May 2014
to November 2020, Mr. Yu was a director of CSCEC Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited* (REE A (F#) BRAE), a subsidiary of China
State Construction Capital (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd.* (FEIEERMHH
FR/A &) which is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601668.SH), during such period, he was responsible
for the business management of the company. From 2009 to 2013
and from 2016 to 2021, Mr. Yu acted as a director of Anhui Guoyuan
Trust Co. Ltd.* (Z#IETEstEREMEAB), a company primarily
engaged in trust and fund management. From 2014 to 2017, Mr. Yu
also acted as a director of China Overseas Insurance Limited (1 E&
SMRBEABR/AE)) . Mr. Yu has been recognized as a senior economist
by China State Construction Company* (B T248A5)in the
PRC since May 1996.Mr. Yu obtained his Bachelor’s degree in finance
from Jilin University of Finance and Economics (S # & B2 %) in the
PRC in July 1983. He also obtained his Master’s degree from the
Center for International Studies from The Ohio University in the United
States in August 1987.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Chiu Yu Kang, aged 45, is the senior vice president of the Company,
the Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary. Mr. Chiu holds
a bachelor’s degree of Business Administration in Accounting and
Finance from the University of Hong Kong and a Master of Economics
from the University of Hong Kong. From October 2008 to March
2015, Mr. Chiu served as the vice president of the Company, the Chief
Financial Officer and the Company Secretary, who was responsible for
project acquisitions, strategic planning, corporate finance activities,
investor relations, company secretary matters, and compliance with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Prior to re-joining
the Company in July 2019, Mr. Chiu served as the chief financial
officer, and company secretary of certain other companies listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chiu has also
worked in an international firm of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Chiu has over 19 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Mr. Chiu is a member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute.
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Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFTHRS

The directors present the report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries comprise property development,
property investment, the provision of management services and hotel
operation. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS

The Group’s profit for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 112 to 277.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Company during the year and
discussion on the Company’s future business development are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” sections of this annual report. Description of possible risks
and uncertainties that the Company may be facing can be found in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Company are
set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements. Particulars
of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since
the end of the financial year ended December 31, 2022 are set out
in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements. The financial
key performance indicators are commonly used by the property
development industry which shows the profitability and liquidity
performance of a company.
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PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on May 30, 2023
and the notice of AGM will be published and despatched to the
shareholders in due course. In order to determine the entitlement
to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of Members will be
closed from May 24, 2023 to May 30, 2023, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. All
transfer documents of the Company accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of
the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on May 23, 2023.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT

A summary of the Group’s results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on pages
278 to 279. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements,
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 280
to 281.

respectively. Further
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SENIOR NOTES

The Company issued US$250 million senior notes with a maturity of
seven years bearing a coupon interest rate of 6% in October 2016
and US$350 million senior notes with a maturity of five years bearing
a coupon interest rate of 6% in January 2017. The Company also
issued US$375 million senior notes in February 2018 and US$625
million, in aggregate, senior notes in May and July 2018 with a
maturity of three years bearing a coupon interest rate of 6.375%
and 7.9%, respectively. The Company issued US$500 million senior
notes with a maturity of three years bearing a coupon interest rate of
8.625% in January 2019, US$500 million senior notes with a maturity
of four years bearing a coupon interest rate of 8.5% in January 2019,
US$500 million senior notes with a maturity of five years bearing a
coupon interest rate of 8.5% in February 2019, additional US$400
million senior notes bearing a coupon interest rate of 6% in July 2019
(which were consolidated and form a single series with the US$250
million senior notes with a maturity of seven years bearing a coupon
interest rate of 6.0% issued by the Company in October 2016),
US$500 million senior notes with a maturity of five years bearing a
coupon interest rate of 8.375% in October 2019, US$500 million
senior notes with a maturity of five and half years bearing a coupon
interest rate of 8.3% in November 2019, US$645 million senior notes
with a maturity of six years bearing a coupon interest rate of 7.375%
in January 2020, US$400 million senior notes with a maturity of
five years bearing a coupon interest rate of 7.7% in February 2020,
US$40 million senior notes with a maturity of one year bearing a
coupon interest rate of 7.5% in June 2020 and US$300 million green
senior notes with a maturity of six years bearing a coupon interest rate
of 7.85% in August 2020, US$562 million senior notes with a maturity
of six years bearing a coupon interest rate of 6.35% in January 2021,
US$100 million senior notes with a maturity of 357-days bearing
US$200 million senior
notes with a maturity of 1.75 years bearing a coupon interest rate of
9.95% in August 2021, US$120 million senior notes with a maturity
of 364-days bearing a coupon interest rate of 9.95% in September
2021 respectively. US$528 million Exchange Offer senior notes with
a maturity of one year bearing a coupon interest rate of 7.8125% in
January 2022. For the details of the senior notes of the Company,
please refer to note 32 to the financial statements.

a coupon interest rate of 12% in July 2021,
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Group finished an exchange offer of one-year
senior notes, of which the details are set out in the paragraph headed
“LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES” under the
section of “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” above.

During the year, the Company purchased the 8.5% senior notes due
2024, 8.375% senior notes due 2024, 6% senior notes due 2023,
7.85% senior notes due 2026, 8.3% senior notes due 2025, 7.375%
senior notes due 2026, 7.7% senior notes due 2025, 7.8125% senior
notes due 2023, 8.5% senior notes due 2023, 8.625% senior notes
due 2022, 6.35% senior notes due 2027, and 6% senior notes due
2022, which were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, at the purchase amount of US$23,665,000, US$10,800,000,
US$9,335,000, US$4,300,000, US$6,900,000, US$8,750,000,
US$4,260,000, US$5,000,000, US$4,100,000, US$3,000,000,
US$1,000,000, and US$200,000, representing approximately 4.73%,
2.16%, 1.44%, 1.43%, 1.38%, 1.36%, 1.07%, 0.95%, 0.82%,
0.60%, 0.18% and 0.06% of the respective principal amounts.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2022 the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
RMB1,008,439,000.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB5,605,855 (2021: RMB14,139,378).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, no sales to the Group’s five largest customers and
purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 30%
or more of the total sales for the year and of the total purchases for
the year, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Chairman on June 24, 2022)
Mr. Lin Conghui
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Lung On (was appointed as Non-executive Director
on June 24, 2022)

Mr. Song Jiajun (was appointed as Non-executive Director
on March 31, 2023)

Ms. Xie Mei (has resigned on March 31, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu

Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang

Mr. Yu Shangyou (was appointed as Independent Non-executive
Director on June 24, 2022)

Dr. Zhai Pu (has resigned on June 24, 2022)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of Messrs. Lam Kwong Siu, Wee Henny Soon Chiang and
Mr. Yu Shangyou, and as at the date of this report still considers them
to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 53 to 59 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Lam Lung On, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, and Mr. Lin Conghui,
being executive Directors or non-executive Director, has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from November 2, 2012, which has been renewed for
another term of three years commencing from November 2, 2015,
November 2, 2018 and November 2, 2021 respectively, subject to
termination by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association. Mr.
Lam Lung On has resigned as the executive Director on June 24,
2022.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of Mr. Lam
Kwong Siu and Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang, being independent
non-executive Directors, for a term of three years commencing from
November 2, 2012. Upon expiry of the term, the Company has
issued a letter of appointment to each of Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang, to renew the term for another three
years commencing from November 2, 2015, November 2, 2018
and November 2, 2021 respectively, which is subject to termination
by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice and
retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules.

Dr. Zhai Pu has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from December 28, 2016. The Company has
issued a letter of appointment to Dr. Zhai, for a term of three years
commencing from December 28, 2016, which has been renewed
for another term of three years commencing from December 28,
2019, subject to termination by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice and retirement and re-election at the annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules. Dr. Zhai Pu has resigned as the
independent non-executive Director on June 24, 2022.

Ms. Xie Mei has been appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from September 24, 2018. The Company has entered into
a service contract with Ms. Xie Mei, for a term of three years
commencing from September 24, 2018, which has been renewed
for another term of three years commencing from September 24,
2021, subject to termination by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice and retirement and re-election at the annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules. Ms. Xie Mei has resigned as the
non-executive Director on March 31, 2023.

Mr. Lam Lung On has been appointed as a non-executive Director
with effect from June 24, 2022. The Company has entered into a
service contract with Mr. Lam Lung On, for a term of three years
commencing from June 24, 2022, which is subject to termination
by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice and
retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)

Mr. Yu Shangyou has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director with effect from June 24, 2022. The Company has
entered into a service contract with Mr. Yu Shangyou, for a term of
three years commencing from June 24, 2022, which is subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Song Jiajun has been appointed as a non-executive Director with
effect from March 31, 2023. The Company has entered into a service
contract with Mr. Song Jiajun, for a term of three years commencing
from March 31, 2023, which is subject to termination by either
party giving not less than one month’s written notice and retirement
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, none of
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees and emoluments are subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee and approval by the Board which are
determined with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

During the year, no amounts were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had an interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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—HABEEAR LR —EREEmEMNTULRILE A
BRBAESEZEEMUR EHRUREQRT ZRK
RBFEAG LETREEB(T

MERNEERIRBEAGLBEEEENES
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. In
addition, liability insurance for directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal actions against the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 46 to the financial statements.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable to the Group
than terms available to or from independent third parties; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Company has engaged auditors to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information with reference
to Practice Note 740 Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors have
issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

HEFFRE
AREMEBERMARERESTARULAT
EEREHRFEAEFEHBHNEHNERD
ERREIAMNEZRZEFRETHEMELESN
SXINMABEHEE LI ARFAERHE
EFHNETERTHRERANEET KSR
EEANERBBESERRE-

EEREN
ERLFT IR EAEEAEMERRNTEA
REBNEEREIAEABINEH -

RERS
AABEET LT RAUSHEIAERMER S
RFEERZ ORERT RS REM 46
fEH R E -

BIFATEFCER LXMENFERERS
SN CHIREFBEAEXZ DR EAER—
ek BB EBBERSTIL; (IR EBBEEMHERK
FBERAEETTRBIE=FEREHITEBTL
F=H B ZIRMRETIL ; Ki)RIBRE B BIR™R
ZHEBBERIT L BATEBEEF AT KRR
R EEMN -

KNG FREREZEE RIEEEETALEE
HHEBERERELFI000RENRETE LS
HEEHIESIE740 B ENRFEMEBER Z 1%
BEMRGMEENESMBFENEFHERU
NZEDZ T RAEENFERAERZL AR
Lo ZHBMAMERE EHRBFE14A 56K FH U £
FEBHEXFHATHEEGERNEREER
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, certain Directors and companies controlled by certain
Directors entered into transactions with the Company which are
disclosed in note 46 “Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At December 31, 2022, the interests of the Directors in the share
capital of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the Company:

Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEHRE®

HERR5
FROETESREETESZHMNATRAA

B URG  AREFBEREREARAGREMHBR
KMIFEA6TRABE X5 °

EFENKRMNES

R2022F12H31H» EEN AL B o E B =
(EERBSKRPERM (B RBERA) F
XVE) B A AL BN AR B IRIEE S M
E&PEI52EBEFENTLM  iRE LHi
TANEZTETESXSFHBRETRENGAR
BREBHIFNERNT

RAERBEEBEROETE

Percentage of

Controlled the Company’s

Directly Corporation Through issued share

Note owned owned spouse Total capital

7 WA

BRITRA

Name of director i Wiyt ERBEGEE SENEERA EiBERE @t O

Mr. Lam Lung On MEZEE (@) 27,729,929 1,919,109,051 ()  1,920,047,720  3,866,886,700 59.09

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan BEELL @) 1,384,239 1918663481 (c)  1,946,838,980  3,866,886,700 59.09

Mr. Lin Conghui MWL E 10,265,697 - - 10,265,697 0.16

(@) Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr. Lam Lung On are married to each other. (a) BEBLTEAMEZRLEAHFNEB-

(o)  These 1,919,109,051 Shares were registered in the name of Studious  (b)  #%1,919,109,051BMH U EHER AT (T2H)) £
Profits Limited (“Studious Profits”). Mr. Lam Lung On held 100% of the entire BEEL MEZEEFEEHNDI B EITRA
issued share capital of Studious Profits and was deemed to be interested in ILREZSRBERIBRGEAREESZ2HEEN

the 1,919,109,051 Shares held by Studious Profits pursuant to the SFO.

(c) These 1,918,663,481 Shares were registered in the name of Plentiful Wise
Developments Limited (“Plentiful Wise”). Ms. Kwok Ying Lan held 100% of the
entire issued share capital of Plentiful Wise and was deemed to be interested
in the 1,918,663,481 Shares held by Plentiful Wise pursuant to the SFO.

Save as provided above and in the sub-section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below, none of the Directors have any interests or short
positions or short positions in the share capital of the Company or its
associated corporations.

1,919,109,051 & B2 1% ©

(©)  #%1,918,663,481RRMMUETERERLR (T8
M) BERFR - BREMLULHAETNZHEETR
A FILRBE SRR R ESEEEHFAN
1,918,663,4818& R 17 ©

FRUL EFTa R AT THE RS REST 8 B D Pk &
o BMBEENRAR ‘EE*QH@%%IE’J&Z&KEP%
BEEAERRRE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at December 31,
2022, the following shareholders, other than those disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares” in this Directors’
Report section of this annual report, had notified the Company of its
interests and/or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and so far as the Directors
were aware, persons other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, who had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRNRMDED

KABRER S RPAEKRAFEICRBEEFTEN
TERFLMER R2022FE12831H B &
FRIEFEFHRSINEETNROER —BHE
G FAIRBEMGERABHENRARE RN KE
RRD I HEEREES R ERAIBEXVBE2K
FINWHBEXBFTHRENEEZR AXE &
MEBEMAT FTHIAL (BESHAEARIESITH
ABBRIN RERBARM BB P HEE AR
BN IRIEE S RAEERMEICRREEFENE
MR KE

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share

Name of substantial shareholder Note Capacity/Nature of interest Shares capital

ERAT

BEITRAEN

TERRATE st B #EEE iab 2= BaL

Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) (@) Interest of controlled 650,729,098 9.94

Holdings Limited corporation

EBE G ERERAT (a) REGEEER

City Legend International Limited (@) Beneficial owner 650,729,098 9.94

EEBKRBRRE (@ BmEAA

(a) City Legend International Limited GEEEIPEBRAF)is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 03366.HK).

Saved as provided above, the Company has not been notified by
any person who had any interests and/or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

(a) ESERBRABAEGH (TM) ZRERATZ2
BB AT EGH GEM) ZERBMRATZE — KN
EHEAMAIZERRERAT  HRMDNE B
RPTEMR BT (BH5 A5 - 03366.HK)°

bR EXFRIREES AR B L EEE/MA LTS
RAERBRMDREERKRDTEERERES Y
ERPISXVEFE2 /M3 BOIRX BT IREN A
BRARBERBEES K ERHIEIB6HFEFE
ZERMAOEREER KA -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On May 24, 2010, a share option scheme (the “2010 Scheme”) was
adopted and approved by the then shareholders of the Company for
a period of 10 years commencing on the adoption date. The 2010
Scheme expired on May 23, 2020, and no further share options will
be granted under the Scheme.

On June 4, 2020, a new share option scheme (the “2020 Scheme”)
was adopted and approved by the Shareholders for a period of 10
years commencing from the adoption date.

2010 Scheme

Pursuant to the 2010 Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors) and employees of any
member of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any member of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to participate in the 2010
Scheme.

On December 31, 2012, the Company granted share options
(the “Share Options”) under the 2010 Scheme to certain directors
and employees of the Group (the “Grantees”) which, subject to
their acceptance, entitles them to subscribe for an aggregate of
43,693,200 new shares of HK$0.1 each (the “Shares”) in the share
capital of the Company, as adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of
the Shares by the Company in July 2013.

On December 31, 2013, the Company further granted the Share
Options under the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to
the acceptance of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for
an aggregate of 11,626,000 new Shares.

On January 20, 2015, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to their acceptance,
entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 16,445,000
new Shares.

On January 27, 2016, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to their acceptance,
entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 19,790,000
new Shares.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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R e fE st 8l

R2010F5824H > XA ERFMNERREEHME
HE—TBBERR TS (T 20105t8))) » EHA S
RN A HIE ST+ 0 2010E 518 B 2020558
23HEM  BFREREZFABERHEAER
1 o

720204684 » B B IR A R it — T 7 B AR 1
58 (T 20204 5t 81)) » 4 H9 25 B 4R 40 B SRR 3t
4o

201051 2|

BiE2010EHE EEINBEEHRE LR
BRAHAEEOB NG ERE RN A EE
AAMEATNIHNES (BRENTESE R
FEERBUFNTES REERSEEIH
MEATWIMEN EXEMN - DHE &6
R HER R EEBA AEERDY
P PR L FERS 2 82201 04 5180 o

R2012F12831H  AABRIE20105 & @K
EEETEEREE (ARADBHERRE (B
ferE)) (EBRFEARAZMSRIER)  HEAKA
REE 43,693, 200 A A BIRAFEREE
BEEOATHMERS (TR ERONBERS
AT R2013FE 7B WAIRZEITMAE) ©

R2013FE 128310 A AT ERE20105t 2 FH
BAZAELEBRE (EEFAREAZBN S E
T) o A ARES£11,626,00008 M5 ©

R2015F 18208 » KA =R ER1E20105t 2 3 &
BABHERE (BEBFABRAZMNSIER) »
A NS 16,445,000 H 3 15 ©

R2016FE1827H » K2R BER#E20105 2l 3 &
BARLERE (BEBFEABABZMALCES) >
AT ARES$£19,790,00088 7 J& 15 ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
2010 Scheme (Continued)

On January 26, 2017 and July 21, 2017, the Company granted
the Share Options under the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which,
subject to their acceptance, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an
aggregate of 22,690,000 and 2,500,000 new Shares respectively.

On January 25, 2018, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to their acceptance,
entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 36,860,000
new Shares.

On January 24, 2019, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to their acceptance,
entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 45,270,000
new Shares.

On January 22, 2020, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to their acceptance,
entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 64,208,000
new Shares.

FERfEsT 8l (48)

2010518 (48)
R2017FE1H26HM2017FE7H21H » &XA T
ERZE2010t B M AR AR BERE (FEAEF
EIRABASAES) HEARADHDRESH
22,690,0008% ¥ A& 17 12,500,000 & 3 B2 17 o

120181 H25H » KA B BiR#%201051 & 3 %
RARHBRE (EBFARABZNAIER) »
A AR08 & $£36,860,0008% #1 IR 15 ©

12019F1824H > A AT BR#H201051 8\ &
BRARLERE IERTEARAZEMNSEIER) -
AT AR S 45,270,000 # B 15 ©

R2020F 18220 » KA B ERIKE20105t 2l 3 &
BARHBRE (FBFARABMNSIER) >
A AR S £64,208,0008% H B3 15 ©
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2010 Scheme (Continued) 2010 518 (4&)
The details of which are disclosed as below: ERFBEREBENT
Share options Closing price
reclassified/ of shares
Share options cancelled/ Share options immediately
awarded lapsed during exercised Share options before the date
Executive Director, Share options during the the period during the outstanding on which share
Key Management Vesting outstanding  period ended ended period ended asat options were
Personnel and other Period Period during which share asat 31D b 31D b 31D b Exercise price 31 December awarded
eligible employees Date of grant (years) options exercisable 2022/111 2022 2022 2022 (HK$) 2022 (HKS)
HE20226 RIPR R
*2022F  HE20226F 12A318 #E20228F 1420225 RiERE
BTES 1818 128318 ILFESH 12A318 12A318 [=RCEol:)
TEEBRAER BEH RETRE LFEE  E/EE Ji:3:5 fT1EE RETRE Wi fE
HittAEREE i =k () BRETFTEZSEH BREHR R RE RHEE T E (%) BREZE (#7)
Executive Director
HiTES
Kwok Ying Lan 31/12/2013 7 1/1/2021-31/12/2023 300,000 - - - 1.9300 300,000 1.9300
Y] 20/1/2015 7 21/1/2022-20/1/2025 300,000 - - - 1.8920 300,000 1.8920
27/1/2016 3 28/1/2019-27/1/2026 276,000 - - - 1.8120 276,000 1.8120
27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120
27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120
21/7/2017 3 22/7/2020-21/7/2027 400,000 - - - 4.5500 400,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 5 22/7/2022-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 7 22/7/2024-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500
25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 800,000 - - - 5.8800 800,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 5 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800
24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 800,000 - - - 3.6500 800,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500
22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 1,200,000 - - - 4.2740 1,200,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 5 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740
Lin Conghui 31/12/2012 5 1/1/2018-31/12/2022 294,000 - - - 1.8750 294,000 1.8750
IR 31/12/2012 7 1/1/2020-31/12/2022 3,780,000 - - - 1.8750 3,780,000 1.8750
27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 150,000 - - - 1.8120 150,000 1.8120
27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 150,000 - - - 1.8120 150,000 1.8120
21/7/2017 3 22/7/2020-21/7/2027 200,000 - - - 4.5500 200,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 5 22/7/2022-21/7/2027 150,000 - - - 4.5500 150,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 7 22/7/2024-21/7/2027 150,000 - - - 4.5500 150,000 4.5500
25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 200,000 - - - 5.8800 200,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 5 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 150,000 - - - 5.8800 150,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 150,000 - - - 5.8800 150,000 5.8800
24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 200,000 - - - 3.6500 200,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 150,000 - - - 3.6500 150,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 150,000 - - - 3.6500 150,000 3.6500
22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 320,000 - - - 4.2740 320,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 5 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 240,000 - - - 4.2740 240,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 240,000 - - - 4.2740 240,000 4.2740
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

2010 Scheme (Continued)
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20105 51 &8 (48)

st (%)

Share options Closing price

reclassified/ of shares

Share options cancelled/ Share options immediately

awarded lapsed during exercised Share options before the date

Executive Director, Share options during the the period during the outstanding on which share

Key Management Vesting outstanding  period ended ended period ended asat options were

Personnel and other Period Period during which share asat 31D b 31 D b 31 D b Exercise price 31 December awarded

eligible employees Date of grant (years) options exercisable 2022/1/1 2022 2022 2022 (HK$) 2022 (HKS)

HE2022F R EE

#2022F  HE2022F 12A318 #E20226F 1420225 RiRERE

RTES 1A18 12A318 ILFESH 12A318 128318 BRI

TEEBAER BEH REITRE LFEE  SE/EES i35 fT1EfE REITRR Wi fE

HittAEREE g =k () BRETFTEZSEE BREHE RiERE RHEE T E (%) BREHE (#7)
Non-Executive Director

ERTES

Lam Lung On 31/12/2013 7 1/1/2021-31/12/2023 300,000 - - - 1.9300 300,000 1.9300

HEEZ 20/1/2015 7 21/1/2022-20/1/2025 300,000 - - - 1.8920 300,000 1.8920

27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120

27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120

21/7/2017 3 22/7/2020-21/7/2027 400,000 - - - 4.5500 400,000 4.5500

21/7/2017 5 22/7/2022-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500

21/7/2017 7 22/7/2024-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500

25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 800,000 - - - 5.8800 800,000 5.8800

25/1/2018 5 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800

25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800

24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 800,000 - - - 3.6500 800,000 3.6500

24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500

24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500

22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 1,200,000 - - - 4.2740 1,200,000 4.2740

22/1/2020 5 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740

22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740
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Share options Closing price
reclassified/ of shares
Share options cancelled/ Share options immediately
awarded lapsed during exercised Share options before the date
Executive Director, Share options during the the period during the outstanding on which share
Key Management Vesting outstanding  period ended ended period ended asat options were
Personnel and other Period Period during which share asat 31D b 31D k 31D b Exercise price 31 December awarded
eligible employees Date of grant (years) options exercisable 2022/111 2022 2022 2022 (HK$) 2022 (HKS)
HE2022F R EE
#2022F  HE20226F 12A31H #0228 1420225 RiERE
PTER 1A18 12A318 ILFESH 124318 128318 BHAIEY
TEEBAER BEH REITRE tLFEE  SE/EE i35 fTfEE RE(TR Wi fE
HittAEREE i =k () BRETFTEZSEH BREHE RiERE RYHE T E (%) BRESE (#7)
Key Management Personnel and other eligible employees
TEERABRAMAERES
N/A RiER 31/12/2012 3 1/1/2016-31/12/2022 151,200 - (7,104) - 1.8750 144,096 1.8750
N/A B 31/12/2012 5 1/1/2018-31/12/2022 47,880 - (5,328) - 1.8750 42,552 1.8750
N/A RER 31/12/2012 7 1/1/2020-31/12/2022 425,880 - (5,328) - 1.8750 420,552 1.8750
N/A FBF 31/12/2013 3 1/1/2017-31/12/2023 285,200 - (67,480) - 1.9300 217,720 1.9300
N/A B 31/12/2013 5 1/1/2019-31/12/2023 277,200 - (50,610) - 1.9300 226,590 1.9300
N/A RiER 31/12/2013 7 1/1/2021-31/12/2023 906,900 - (50,610) - 1.9300 856,290 1.9300
N/A B 20/1/2015 3 21/1/2018-20/1/2025 282,000 - (99,600) - 1.8920 182,400 1.8920
N/A RiER 20/1/2015 5 21/1/2020-20/1/2025 1,731,000 - (74,700) - 1.8920 1,656,300 1.8920
N/A FBF 20/1/2015 7 21/1/2022-20/1/2025 2,362,500 - (74,700) - 1.8920 2,287,800 1.8920
N/A RBF 27/1/2016 3 28/1/2019-27/1/2026 310,000 - (260,000) - 1.8120 50,000 1.8120
N/A TR 27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 2,722,500 - (195,000) - 1.8120 2,527,500 1.8120
N/A B 27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 2,722,500 - (195,000) - 1.8120 2,527,500 1.8120
N/A RiER 26/1/2017 3 27/1/2020-26/1/2027 3,500,000 - (596,000) - 2.6200 2,904,000 2.6200
N/A B 26/1/2017 5 27/1/2022-26/1/2027 4,305,000 - (447,000) - 2.6200 3,858,000 2.6200
N/A RER 26/1/2017 7 27/1/2024-26/1/2027 4,305,000 - (447,000 - 2.6200 3,858,000 2.6200
N/A FBF 25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 6,208,000 - (1,128,000) - 5.8800 5,080,000 5.8800
N/A RBF 25/1/2018 5 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 4,656,000 - (846,000) - 5.8800 3,810,000 5.8800
N/A RiER 25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 4,656,000 - (846,000) - 5.8800 3,810,000 5.8800
N/A B 24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 8,648,000 - (1,964,000) - 3.6500 6,684,000 3.6500
N/A RiER 24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 6,486,000 - (1,473,000) - 3.6500 5,013,000 3.6500
N/A FBF 24/1/2019 7 265/1/2026-24/1/2029 6,486,000 - (1,473,000) - 3.6500 5,013,000 3.6500
N/A B 22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 13,449,200 - (4,322,000) - 4.2740 9,127,200 4.2740
N/A FBF 22/1/2020 5 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 10,086,900 - (3,241,500) - 4.2740 6,845,400 4.2740
N/A RBF 22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 10,086,900 - (3,241,500) - 4.2740 6,845,400 4.2740

(1) Adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of shares by the Company in July (1) RALBR T AA AT 2013 FE7BEHFHE -
2013.

@) Mr. Lam Long On resigned as the executive Director, and was re-designated  (2) MBE R E B N2022F6B24H B EHITES > Wil
as a non-executive Director on June 24, 2022. EAERITES-
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
2010 Scheme (Continued)

During the year, there were no options were exercised in relation to
the 2010 Scheme. Accordingly, there is no weighted average closing
price of the shares immediately before the date on which the options
were exercised.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Grantees is a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”)).

The grant of Share Options to each of the above Directors had been
approved by the independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The purpose of the 2010 Scheme is to provide Participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company,
to encourage Participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and to provide the Company with a
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to Participants.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted under the 2010 Scheme
shall not exceed 345,599,999 shares of the Company in aggregate,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of adoption of the 2010 Scheme (i.e. May 24, 2010), as adjusted
as a result of the bonus issues of the Shares by the Company in July
2012 and July 2013, and the total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted
under the 2010 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company to each Participant in any 12 month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue. At the time of grant of
the options under the 2010 Scheme, the Company may specify any
minimum period(s) for which the options must be held before it can
be exercised. The period within which the options under the 2010
Scheme may be exercised will be specified by the Company at the
time of grant. This period must expire no later than 10 years from the
relevant date of grant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
2010 Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to rule 17.09 of the Listing Rules, in relation to the 2010
Scheme, the total number of securities available for issue and the
percentage of the issued shares that it represents as at the date of
this report are 82,517,799 and 1.26%, respectively.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option to be granted
under the 2010 Scheme is HK$1.00 and the exercise price of the
option shall be such price determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and notified to the Participant at the time an offer of the
grant of an option is made, but in any event, shall be no less than
the higher of:

(a) the closing price of the share of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the share of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(c) the nominal value of the share of the Company on the date
of grant.

2020 Scheme

Pursuant to the 2020 Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion,
invite any directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors) and employees of
any member of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any member of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to participate in the 2020
Scheme.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFEHRE®

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

2020 Scheme (Continued)

On January 28, 2021, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2020 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to their acceptance,
entitle the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 69,585,000 new
Shares, among which 3,000,000, 3,000,000, 800,000 and 1,000,000
Share Options were granted to Mr. Lam Lung On, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan,
Mr. Lin Conghui and Ms. Lam Yu Fong respectively.

The details of which are disclosed as below:

Executive Director,

Share options
outstanding

FERGHEET 2 (48)
2020F 5t 2! @)

EERZET MBEEEMMKBS LT

ERFBERENT

Share options

reclassified/
Share options cancelled/ Share options
awarded lapsed exercised
during the during the during the

R2021FE1H28H » AAB B R E2020F s+ & @
ARABRHBRE BEEFARABMNE S AE
T) o (A E AR S 1£69,585,000R#H k1m0 H
f17/A3,000,00012 ~ 3,000,0001% ~ 800,000 A
1,000,000 FERG T DRI T MBE R B4~ 58

Closing price
of shares
immediately

Share options before the date
outstanding on which share

Key Management Vesting asat period ended period ended period ended asat options were
Personnel and other Period Period during which share January 1, Di ber 31, D ber 31, D ber 31, Exercise price December 31, awarded
eligible employees Date of grant (years)  options exercisable 2022 2022 2022 2022 (HK$) 2022 (HKS)
HE20225 RIGIEE
#2022F  HE20226 12H31H #ZE20226F 1420224 RiERE
HTES 1818 128318 IEEEEHR 12A318 12A318 [ZEGE0L:)
TEEBAER BEH REITRER EFERE  HE/HES i35 fT1EfE REITRER W fE
HittAEREE g =k () BRETFTEZSEH BREHE BRE RHBE T E (%) BREZE (#7)
Executive Director
HITES
Kwok Ying Lan 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 1,200,000 - - - 2.7740 1,200,000 2.7740
PEE 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 900,000 - - - 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 900,000 - - - 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
Lin Conghui 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 320,000 - - - 2.7740 320,000 2.7740
HEEHE 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 240,000 - - - 27740 240,000 2.7740
28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 240,000 - - - 2.7740 240,000 2.7740
Non-Executive Director -
ERTES -
Lam Lung On 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 1,200,000 - - - 2.7740 1,200,000 2.7740
HEEZ 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 900,000 - - - 27740 900,000 2.7740
28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 900,000 - - - 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
Key Management Personnel and other eligible employees
TEEBABRAMASERES
N/A REA 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 20,190,000 - (6,820,000) - 2.7740 13,370,000 2.7740
N/A R EA 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 15,142,500 - (5,115,000) - 2.7740 10,027,500 2.7740
N/A TEH 28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 15,142,500 - (5,115,000) - 2.7740 10,027,500 2.7740

(@) Mr. Lam Long On resigned as the executive Director, and was re-designated  (a) MBEZ S EBR2022F6 240 BT HITES T

to a non-executive Director on June 24, 2022.

ERFRTES-
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
2020 Scheme (Continued)

During the year, there were no options were exercised in relation to
the 2020 Scheme. Accordingly, there is no weighted average closing
price of the shares immediately before the date on which the options
were exercised.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Grantees is a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules).

The grant of Share Options to each of the above Directors had been
approved by the independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The purpose of the 2020 Scheme is to provide participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company,
to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and to provide the Company with a
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to participants.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted under the 2020 Scheme
shall not exceed 522,155,066 shares of the Company in aggregate,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of adoption of the 2020 Scheme (i.e. June 9, 2020), and the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted under the 2020 Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company to each participant
in any 12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue. At the time of grant of the options under the 2020
Scheme, the Company may specify any minimum period(s) for which
the options must be held before it can be exercised. The period within
which the options under the 2020 Scheme may be exercised will
be specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period must
expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of grant.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
E52HRE®

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
2020 Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to Rule 17.09 of the Listing Rules, in relation to the 2020
Scheme, the total number of securities available for issue and the
percentage of the issued shares that it represents as at the date of
this report are 452,570,066 and 6.92%, respectively.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option to be granted under
the 2020 Scheme is HK$1.00 and the exercise price of the option
shall be such price determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
and notified to the participant at the time an offer of the grant of an
option is made, but in any event, shall be no less than the higher of:

(@  the closing price of the Shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(c)  the nominal value of the Shares of the Company on the date of
grant.

FERfEsT 8l (48)

2020F 5t 2! @)

Bk EHRAIE17.091% > BRE2020F =+ 38 - ©®
AREQHPIFHITHESBEEREHGB ST
BB DD 5] %&452,570,0660% 26.92% ©

BN —2020F st B ETHRENENZER
1.0087m BRENTHEEESEFTE2RNG
EENARBER UNFHBEREREENRE
M2EEEWRERNBERTAER TIHSENER
SR

(a) BFRABMIAMPRERLARILNGHERES
FIMBIARBRMPUHE

(o) BERABIANERREBHALEEXH
ZENESHRERATONEQB RN FI
WHE; =

() #FRBRHNEBELBAHRNEE-




BNEEZRARAE g1

B

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

2021 Facility Agreement

On February 23, 2021, the Company as borrower entered into a
facility agreement (the “2021 Facility Agreement”) with certain banks
as lenders in relation to 42-month term loan facilities in amounts
of US$238,500,000 and HK$234,000,000 with the possibility of
incremental term loan facilities subject to and on the terms thereof
(the “2021 Facility”). The 2021 Facility Agreement includes a condition
imposing specific performance obligation on Mr. Lam and Ms.
Kwok, that it will be an event of default, if (i) Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok
collectively cease to maintain ownership of 51% or more of the voting
share capital (or equivalent right of ownership including where the
voting share capital may have been transferred by way of security or
is otherwise held by a nominee) of the Company, or power to direct
its policies and management, whether by contract or otherwise; or (ii)
any person other than Mr. Lam or Ms. Kwok becomes the chairman of
the Board.

Upon and at any time after the occurrence of an event of default, the
lenders may immediately cancel all or any part of the commitment and
the outstanding amount together with interest accrued thereon may
become immediately due and payable.

As at December 31, 2022, the term loan facilities of US$125,005,000
and HK$122,647,000 remained outstanding.

The Company will continue to make relevant disclosure in its
subsequent interim and annual reports of the Company pursuant to
Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules for as long as circumstances giving
rise to the obligation under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules continue to
exist.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, the Company
did not have other disclosure obligations under Rule 13.18 of the
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of
this report, being the latest practicable date prior to the date of this
report.

Report of the Directors (Continued)
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
E52HRE®

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting policies,
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group, discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters, and reviewed
the consolidated financial statements and results of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
Group’s subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
Samoa, Singapore, Hong Kong and China. The Group’s operations
are mainly carried out by the Group’s subsidiaries in China while the
Group also has a corporate and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Our establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman lIslands, the British
Virgin Islands, Samoa, Singapore, Hong Kong and China. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, as far as the Company is aware of,
there was no incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s business.

AUDITORS

On February 25, 2022, Ernst & Young (“EY”) resigned as the external
auditor of the Company, and the Board resolved to appoint Prism
Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited as the external auditor of the
Company to fill the vacancy following the resignation of EY and to
hold office until conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
February 25, 2022 for further details.
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AUDITORS (Continued)

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
related notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2022 as set
out in this annual report have been audited by the Company’s auditor,
Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited, to the amounts set out in the
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year.

A resolution to re-appoint Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited,
as our external auditor will be submitted for Shareholders’ approval at

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no other change of auditor
for the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Kwok Ying Lan
Chairman

Hong Kong
March 31, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXERRS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of the
Company are committed to the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Company believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential
for effective management, a healthy corporate culture, successful
business growth and enhancing shareholders’ value. Since the
Company established, Yuzhou has been upholding the core values
of “prudent development and value creation”, and devotes to adding
more value for China’s urban development. The Board integrates the
corporate culture into forging the core competencies and improving
corporate strategic management capabilities of the Company, and
formulates strategic planning for sustainable development as it aims
to be the representative company in “creating prudent value” for
China’s real estate industry. The corporate governance principles of
the Company emphasis a quality Board, sound internal controls, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. The Company
has applied the principles and complied with all, except C.2.1, where
applicable, of the code provisions and, where applicable, most of the
recommended best practices as set out in Appendix 14 Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) to the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended December 31, 2022.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and

responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the Group
to the senior management of the Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders at all times.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to
shareholders of the Company to be its goal and endeavors to
maintain a dividend policy to achieve such goal. When considering
the dividend payment, the Board shall take into account the factors
including but not limited to our earnings and financial condition,
operating requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions
that the board may deem relevant. There is no assurance that
dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed in any given
period.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
members, consisting of two executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as set out
below:

Executive Directors

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Chairman on June 24, 2022)
Mr. Lin Conghui
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Lung On (was appointed as Non-executive Director
on June 24, 2022)

Mr. Song Jiajun (was appointed as Non-executive Director
on March 31, 2023)

Ms. Xie Mei (has resigned on March 31, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu

Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang

Mr. Yu Shangyou (was appointed as Independent Non-executive
Director on June 24, 2022)

Dr. Zhai Pu (has resigned on June 24, 2022)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors’ Biographies” of this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to
serve in the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other, except that Ms. Kwok Ying
Lan, Chairman, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, is the spouse of Mr. Lam Lung On, our non-executive
Director, and the sister-in-law of Mr. Lin Conghui, our executive
Director.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring Directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as their
identity and the time involved, Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Continuing Professional Development

Directors are continually updated on the latest development and
changes in the Listing Rules, the CG Code and other regulatory
requirements in order to ensure the compliance with the same by the
Directors. Directors are also encouraged to participate in professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. All of the existing Directors had provided
record of training they received during the year to the Company.
They participated in continuous professional development mainly by
attending seminars or reading various materials regarding corporate
governance, regulatory development and other relevant topics.
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TEELRBE®
THE BOARD (Continued) EFgw
Continuing Professional Development (Continued) FEEERRE @
Training on
corporate
governance,
regulatory
development and
other relevant
topics
TEEBR-
EEERR
Members of Board of Directors EEERE Hfth48 R £ &3
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Chairman PLHEB L+ (1R2022F6824H
on June 24, 2022) ELRZEAERE) v
Mr. Lin Conghui MENE 4 v
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022) MBELZ LA (BF20226E6824H #H1T) v
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Lam Lung On (was appointed as Non-executive MBEZ LA (7220228F6H24H
Director on June 24, 2022) EEZARIFNITES) v
Mr. Song Jiajun (was appointed as Non-executive RERMBIE (7R2023E3831H
Director on March 31, 2023) ERTAIERITES) v
Ms. Xie Mei (has resigned on March 31, 2023) #E Lt (BF2023E3831HEHE) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIEE v
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang ={ERiTE v
Mr. Yu Shangyou (was appointed as Independent F B (7R20228E6824H
Non-executive Director on June 24, 2022) ELZEABIIERTES) v
Dr. Zhai Pu (has resigned on June 24, 2022) 2B+ (BR2022FE6824H BHE) v

In 2022, our company secretary took no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the

Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code of the Listing Rules
as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended December 31, 2022.
Employees who are, or likely to be, in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its shares are
required to prohibit from dealing with shares of the Company during
the black-out period.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lam Lung On has been
assuming the roles of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer from January 1, 2012 to June 24, 2022. On June 24, 2022,
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (333 ) was appointed as the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Although these two roles are
performed by the same individual, certain responsibilities are shared
with the executive directors to balance the power and authority. In
addition, all major decisions are made in consultation with members
of the Board as well as senior management. The Board has three
independent non-executive directors who offer different independent
perspectives. Therefore, the Board is of the view that there are
adequate balances of power and safeguards in place. The Board
would review and monitor the situation on a regular basis and would
ensure that the present structure would not impair the balance of
power in the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years while each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

(Continued)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and the

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

SEFET @

EEREEEZEERE @

EEELRHS@

REARBEBERMAREEE AT AA

CG Code, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation once
every three years and are subject to re-election. Newly appointed
Directors are also required to offer themselves of re-election at the
next following general meeting (in the case of filling a causal vacancy)
or at the next annual general meeting (in the case of an addition to
the existing Board) following their appointment. Accordingly, four
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Lung On, Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang,
Mr. Yu Shangyou and Mr. Song Jiajun shall retire from office and are
eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company.

Board Meetings

During the year, four board meetings were convened by the Company.
The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was as

EFPHAG-FRERE T LEEE-HZE
ENESTEREZERN T —RRERE (W0
BEMBERSEZHR XA TRRREBERE (0 E1E
AREEFEHE) LEEBEFE-EIL > MBEERL
EBREREE-TLEREERRRELEDNS
EFARE UNAERNARBDEERRESF
RELBEEE-

EFgER
R AATABNREET T H - EEHEE
EEEHBEROT

follows:

Number of
attendance
Directors EEEHRE HERH
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Chairman MEE L+ (R2022FE6824H
on June 24, 202) EBEREAERE) 5/5
Mr. Lin Conghui MENE 4 5/5
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022) MEEL LA (BFR20226E6H24H ) 5/5
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Lam Lung On (was appointed as Non-executive MEEZ LA (R2022FE6F824H
Director on June 24, 2022) ERTAIERITES) 5/5
Ms. Xie Mei (has resigned on March 31, 2023) #E Lt (BF2023E3831HEHE) 5/5
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUERITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEILTE 5/5
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang ={ERiTE 5/5
Mr. Yu Shangyou (was appointed as Independent F B A (7R202286824H
Non-executive Director on June 24, 2022) BEZEABIIIERTES) 3/3
Dr. Zhai Pu(has resigned on June 24, 2022) s+ (BR2022F6824H 81T 2/2
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Meetings (Continued)

The Directors are provided with agenda and relevant Board materials
related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They have
access to the senior management and the Company Secretary
of the Company at all times and, upon reasonable request, seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
all the independent non-executive Directors without presence of the
other Directors.

Board Committees

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established four Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the sustainability committee of the Company (the “Sustainability
Committee”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr.
Wee Henny Soon Chiang (chairman), Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and Mr. Yu
Shangyou.

On June 24, 2022, Dr. Zhai Pu resigned as the member of the Audit
Committee. On the same day, Mr. Yu Shangyou, an Independent
Non-executive Director, was appointed as the member of the Audit
Committee.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are:
1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the

Board;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

5. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee (both English and
Chinese versions), which follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code and are modified from time to time and adopted by the Board,
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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BRELENSEEERTINEE  LARERT
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During the year, the Audit Committee held meetings with the senior £ BZEETHARNTSREEAERBIL
management and independent auditor of the Company to review IZEEITEEZ SR AR AR EEEE
the interim and annual results, and discuss the risk management Rt AATNERERBRNNEZZL-ES
and internal control systems of the Company. The attendance of the HEZBZEZEZTEZHBRUWT
Directors at the Audit Committee meetings was as follows:
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang (Chairman) =ERAE (EE) 3/3
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIKEE 3/3
Mr. Yu Shangyou (was appointed as F B dedE (1R202246H24H

Audit Committee member on June 24, 2022) z%&:%%v REEERE) 2/2
Dr. Zhai Pu (has resigned on June 24, 2022) 2 T8+ (B 20224F6H24H BHE) 1/1
Remuneration Committee iNEZEg

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (chairman), Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr.
Wee Henny Soon Chiang.

On June 24, 2022, Mr. Lam Lung On resigned as the member of
the Remuneration Committee. On the same day, Ms. Kwok Ying
Lan, an executive Director, was appointed as the member of the
Remuneration Committee.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
determining the policy and structure for the remuneration of all
executive Directors, evaluating the performance of executive Directors
and senior management, reviewing and approving matters in relation
to share schemes and Directors’ service contracts and fixing the
remuneration packages for all Directors and senior management, and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the
independent non-executive Directors.

HNEEGEA M =M SN BMEIEE
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which
follow closely the requirements of the Code Provisions, including
determination of the specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management, have been adopted by the
Board, and are posted on the Company’s website and Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website. Directors’ remuneration is determined
based on a variety of factors such as market conditions, the market
remuneration standard and actual circumstances of the Company,
his/her respective qualifications and experience, and responsibilities
assumed.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held meetings to
review the structure of the remunerations, the package of the new
Directors, and the renewal service contracts or letter of appointment
of Directors. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meetings was as follows:

SEFET @

HINEEE @
FHESENEESERRETTIIEXNE
o AEEEM AR TEERSREEASHE
EHEMAEE CRESSRM TOIENEA
BB RE B F o B RES
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EHE
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BNHBERGEE - EFLFEFNEZEL TS
BRIMT :

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Chairman) MEEE (F/E) 2/2
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Remuneration SRHEEI 2 I (1R202246E6H24H

Committee member on June 24, 2022) EZARFNEZESEE) 1/1
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =BT E 2/2
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022) MBER f % (BF2022F6F524H 1) 1/1

The remuneration of the senior management analysed by bands for
the year ended December 31, 2022 is set out below:

HZE2022FE12A31HEEE SR EEAER
EmB D FMNEIOT :

Number of

Persons

Annual Income 2FURA AE
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0781 21,000,000 #& 5
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 #& 23,000,000 & 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 & 24,000,000 & 1

Sustainability Committee

On November 27, 2020, the Company has established the
Sustainability Committee (the “Sustainability Committee”) for the
purpose of providing assistance and advice in monitoring the
decisions and practices of management in achieving the Company’s
goal to be a sustainable organization. The Sustainability Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Ms. Kwok Ying Lan
(Chairman), Mr. Lam Lung On and Mr. Lin Conghui.

On June 24, 2022, Mr. Lam Lung On resigned as the Chairman
of the Sustainability Committee. On the same day, Ms. Kwok Ying
Lan, an executive Director, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Sustainability Committee.

IEERE8Y
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Sustainability Committee (Continued)

The Sustainability Committee shall perform the following duties:

(@)  Responsible for reviewing, and suggesting any changes to,

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(a) EESEMRULBRARTNAIFEE

the Company’s strategy in respect of sustainable development
(the “SD Strategy”) more than twice a year (including approving
targets or key initiatives recommended by the working groups
under the Committee), ensuring that the Company’s operations
and practices are carried out in line with the SD Strategy;

the Committee is also responsible for reviewing on an annual
basis the management approach and performance of the
Company in achieving targets or undertaking key initiatives
recommended by the following six working groups which
are responsible for their respective aspects of sustainable
development:

(i) the Employee Safety and Health Working Group;

(i) the Anti-Corruption Management Working Group;

(i) the Environmental Performance Working Group;

(iv)  the Social Performance Working Group;

(v)  the Governance Performance Working Group; and

(v the Sustainable Development Communication and
Engagement Committee;

the Committee is responsible for reviewing any significant
risks, opportunities or investments in connection with the
implementation of the SD Strategy, and approving any material
matters (whether financial or otherwise) arising from such
review;

the Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the
annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report and any
relevant ancillary public documents; and

report relevant matters of significance relating to sustainable
development to the Board through its Chairman.

(d)
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(iv) MERBEIENE;
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(Vi) AIREZERBEBENRSHERY,;
ZERBEERERTIRELERRBE
MNEAMEARB HERRLE > THEH

ZERZELNEINEASTEH (BRBYHS
BERHMSENEKREFIE) ;

ZEGEEERARMEFERE -HER
BEAREUREABENB AR 5 K

EBEEGIRENESCERBMITE
ERNEEFR-




4 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEELRE®

THE BOARD (Continued)
Sustainability Committee (Continued)

The Company has made the terms of reference of the Sustainability
Committee on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

During the year, the Sustainability Committee held meetings to review
the implementation of the SD Strategy and its future development
priorities. The attendance of the Directors at the Sustainability
Committee meetings was as follows:

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Chairman

EFgw

j#mﬁ?ﬂﬁéﬁ (:%E)
KABIBERRLZEGNREXNBEHRED B
Bt 22 P 48 i e 2 A B M8 i - o

ERN ARBEERZETETERERIREE
ERRBZAThARREREH - EFHFEIRFE
RREZEEETERBERUOT

REBH 2+ (7R2022FE6H24H

on June 24, 2022) EEZERERE) 3/3
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned as Chairman MBE R E (Bi20225E6H24H

on June 24, 2022) BEEEE) 3/3
Mr. Lin Conghui MENE 3/3
Nomination Committee RREZEE
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, EZEED E TH=%ME44 BIMEIEE
namely Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (chairman), Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr. (&) - BHEEL T REBE®RESE -

Wee Henny Soon Chiang.

On June 24, 2022, Mr. Lam Lung On resigned as the member of the
Nomination Committee. On the same day, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, an
executive Director, was appointed as the member of the Nomination
Committee.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least once every year to
ensure that it has a balanced composition of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company,
identifying, screening and recommending to the Board appropriate
candidates to serve as Directors, overseeing the process for
evaluating the performance of the Board, assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has made the terms of reference of the nomination
committee on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy of Directors

The Company has adopted a nomination policy of Directors (the
“Nomination Policy”) which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company in order to
nominate suitable candidates to the Board.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the Company considers a
number of criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships, including but not limited to (i) character and integrity;
(i) qualifications including professional qualifications; (iii) willingness
to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and other directorships and significant commitments; (iv) requirement
for the Board to have independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates would
be considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; (v) board diversity policy of the
Company and any measurable objectives adopted by the Board for
achieving diversity on the Board knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy; and (vi)
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select candidates
for directorship from various channels, including but not limited
to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other member of
the management and external recruitment agents. The Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable. For any person that is nominated by a
shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) for election as a
Director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to the
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
periodically to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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THE BOARD (Continued) EFg W
Nomination Committee (Continued) REZEET @
During the year, the Nomination Committee held meetings to review ER > IEREEERTEH EEgRE
the structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance of A # KR 4EA - EFH 1 F 1R % ZEggzBRU
the Directors at the Nomination Committee meetings was as follows: e
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Chairman) MEIEE (F/E) 2/2
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (was appointed as Nomination SHE L 1 (1R20225E6 524 H

Committee member on June 24, 2022) EEZARRLEERZRS) 11
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =BT E 2/2
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022) MBER S (BEF20225FE6H24H 8H1T) 1/1

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has established a policy concerning diversity of Board
members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development. In designing the Board’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

As at the date of this annual report, six of the Directors are male, and
one of the Directors is female. For the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group, 64.0% are male and 36.0% are female. The Board is of the
view that the gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) is proper.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the board
diversity policy and discussed the objectives set for implementing
the latter policy and noted that those objectives had been achieved.
Going forward, the Board targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation, with ultimate goal of achieving gender parity.
The Board will identify and select female individuals with a diverse
range of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time
to time, and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess
qualities to become our Board members, which will be reviewed by
our nomination committee periodically in order to develop a pipeline of
potential successors to our Board to promote gender diversity of our
Board.

The Nomination Committee mainly comprises independent non-
executive Directors, and the Board believes that independent views
and inputs are assured in the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged appropriate Directors and
Officers liability insurance coverage in respect of legal action against
its Directors and officers.

Internal Controls

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and for review of their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of
failure to achieve business objective, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to help the achievement of business objectives in the following
categories:

1) effectiveness and efficiency of operations which include
safeguarding assets against unauthorised user or disposition;

2) reliability of financial and operational reporting; and

3) compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and internal
policies and procedures.

An internal audit department has been established to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary
actions to the relevant management. The works carried out by the
internal audit department ensure the risk management and internal
control system are in place and function properly as intended. The
risk management and internal control systems are reviewed every 3
months. The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The results of the internal
audit and reviews are reported to the Directors of the Company.
The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems during the Year and
considered them effective and adequate. The Directors also reviewed
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions; the changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks), and
the Company’s ability to respond to changes to its business and
the external environment; the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems,
and the work of its internal audit function; the extent and frequency
of communication of monitoring results to the audit committee;
significant control failings or weaknesses and their impacts on the
Company’s financial performance or condition; and the effectiveness
of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and Listing Rule
compliance. Nothing wrong or improper with respect to any of the
foregoing items was noted.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Procedures and Internal Controls on Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the
SFO and the Listing Rules. The Company has practical guidelines
on definition and the scope of inside information; disclosure and
management framework; exemptions for disclosure; receiving,
reporting and disclosing of inside information; confidentiality and
records of such information. In particular, staff who have access
to inside information are required to keep the unpublished inside
information strictly confidential until such inside information has been
officially announced to the public in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The Board will review and approve the inside
information to be disclosed and the Company Secretary has the
responsibility to monitor and communicate with professional parties
such as our external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.

Independent Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the remuneration paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company is set out as follows:

BEET®w
BRIERBEGANRENHENERRASPE

KABMERBHFRPERG K EHRAARM
EHETHEE - ARAFMENBHEEERE
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18 37 1% 2R BT B B
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RMB
Service rendered FRriR (AR 75 AR
Audit service for 2022: 2022F EHEEHRT :
— Annual audit services of the Company —RREFEBTRT 8,000,000
Non-audit services in relation to: BREAUTEENIEERT
— Accounting and tax advisory services — B RSB ARTS 7,146
— Others —Efh 3,562,760
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Communication with Shareholders and
Shareholders’ Rights

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made
for its business and financial performance through a variety of formal
communication channels. Information regarding the Company is
published in its website: www.yuzhou-group.com. Interim and annual
reports, circulars and notices of the Company are despatched to
the shareholders. The website of the Company provides information
such as e-mail address, correspondence address, telephone
numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquires and concerns to the Board in writing either by email to
ir@yuzhou-group.com or direct mailing to the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in the requisition; and the Company shall hold general meeting within
two months after receiving the requisition. If a shareholder wishes
to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a
Director at a general meeting, pursuant to the Articles of Association,
the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice,
duly signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should
be lodged at the Company’s head office or the office of the Hong
Kong Share Registrar of the Company. The period for lodgement of
such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch of the
notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions
at general meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by
the company secretary and scrutinised by the share registrar of
the Company. The results of the poll are published on the websites
of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Regularly
updated financial, business and other information on the Group is
made available on the website of the Company for shareholders and
investors.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Communication with Shareholders and
Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Make Proposal in General
Meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact information at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary, with a copy of the Proposal
served to the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong at their
respective address and contact details set out in the “Corporate
Information” section of this annual report.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration
of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at the general
meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one clear days and not less than
twenty clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting of the Company; and

(2)  Notice of not less than fourteen clear days and not less than ten
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

The Board considers that the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy conducted during the year
are achieved properly, as Company has published all the corporate
communications and announcements on time as required by the
Listing Rules, and also to conduct the 2022 annual general meeting

properly.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Communication with Shareholders and
Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Code Provision C.1.6
Under code C.1.6, independent non-executive Directors should
attend general meetings of the Company. During the year, no Director
was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on May 27, 2022. Attendance of the Directors at the general
meeting was as follow:
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FRIMFEX FEC.1.61%

BETAECAIF BUFATEFREESR
AEHRRAE - FR  BEANESRELER
202265 A2THRTTZARARRBEREG &
FHERRERGNBERAOT

Number of
attendance
Directors EEERE HFERE
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  BEB &+ (ZTEREEHITE) 1/1
Mr. Lin Conghui MERNE S 1/1
Mr. Lam Lung On (has resigned on June 24, 2022) MBEL S E (BR2022FE6 8240 B E) 1/1
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Lam Lung On (was appointed as MBEZ LA (1R20226E6H24H
Non-executive Director on June 24, 2022) EBRZEAIERTES) 1/1
Ms. Xie Mei (has resigned on March 31, 2023) HEw+ (B2023FE3831HEHE) 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIMIERITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIKTE 1/1
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang ={EREE 1/1
Dr. Zhai Pu (has resigned on June 24, 2022) 2T+ (BiR2022846824H HT) 1/1

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirement and applicable
accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the publication of the
financial statements of the Group is in a timely manner.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 102 to 111.

Amendments to the Articles of Association

During the reporting period, there were no material amendments
to the Articles of Association of the Company, the text of which is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B\ AR S
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YUZHOU GROUP HOLDINGS
COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yuzhou
Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 277, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited - &1&i &5t EME SR AR AT
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
BFEARERIDIAREESHE19481903A-1905%
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO THE
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which states that, the Group incurred a loss of RMB13,269,190,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the Group
failed to pay off a US$389,203,000 (equivalent to RMB2,689,028,000)
senior notes’ interests, a failure to pay the interest of the senior
note has caused an event of default pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the senior note agreement. As a result, the holders
of the senior notes have right to demand for immediate repayment
on the outstanding principal together with accrued interests. As at
31 December 2022, the Group has senior notes with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB37,964,733,000, while available cash and
cash equivalent on hand was RMB5,630,872,000.

Although there is no redemption notice of the senior notes being
received up to the date this report, this condition indicates the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore
that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. The directors of the Company have
considered the measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion
that the Group would be able to continue as going concern basis. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from a failure of achieving the measures. We consider
appropriate disclosures have been made in this respect. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RSB EE

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ATt EHAREFFENAR

Valuation of properties under development and properties held for sale

TERYERIFIEHEF BB E 4 1E

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had properties
under development and properties held for sale (the
“Properties”) amounting to RMB33,564,654,000 and
RMB26,116,239,000 respectively, which were measured
at cost method. Management engaged an external valuer
to determine the net realisable value (the “NRV”) of part
of properties and made an impairment assessment by
reference to the estimated market prices and estimated
future costs to completion of the remaining properties at
the end of the reporting period. Based on the management
assessment, a provision for properties under development
of RMB3,208,465,000 was recognised during the year. We
identified this as a key audit matter because the carrying
amounts of the Properties are significant and significant
estimation is required to determine their NRV.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4, 23 and 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

We obtained understanding of the work of the
independent professional valuer engaged by
management, and assessed the objectivity,
independence and competency of the external
valuer.

We involved an independent valuation specialists to
evaluate the valuation techniques used and tested
the underlying key estimations and assumptions for
selected samples through enquiry with management
and by reference to the open market information.
We compared the valuation performed by the
external valuer to the range provided by the
independent valuation specialists. We further
assessed the correctness of the property related
data used as inputs for the valuation.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated
future costs to completion of the Properties, on
a sample basis, by comparing it to the actual
development cost of similar completed properties of
the Group and comparing the adjustments made by
the management to current market data.

We assessed the appropriateness of the NRV of
the Properties, on a sample basis, estimated by the
management by comparing the actual selling price
subsequent to year end or estimated market price
that derive the NRV to the market prices achieved
in the same projects or comparable properties,
based on our knowledge of the Group’s business
and the PRC real estate industry.




106 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RIREEE

FAREEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBEME S EHRREFFENAR

£2022F12A831H EEEBEERMAEFTENTEY
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MR LT KRR AEH B BTG RIEEEENF > F
WHEEEBIE B R B A R 163,208,465,0007T © 25 1% ELEM &2
BIEESARENEE RERAZSYENREEBEAR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RSB EE

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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FAREAFIE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBEME St EHAREFFENAR

Revaluation of Investment properties

EEREYF

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had investment
properties amounting to RMB15,499,619,000 which were
measured at fair value. Change in fair values of investment
properties are recorded in profit or loss for the year in
which they arise. Management engaged an external valuer
to determine the fair values of the investment properties at
the end of the reporting period. Different valuation models
were applied by the external valuer on different types of
investment properties. We identified this as a key audit
matter because the carrying amounts of the investment
properties are significant and significant estimation is
required to determine their fair values.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

1220225128310 BEERARNENENREDES
AE115,499,619,0007c - REMEM AN EE BN EE
FESABZ REBESHBEERE  EEEZBINBEE
MEETRENENRAE - IEEEMBTRAELENRE
MEXBARNEES L - ARYMBBUTHRRESS
B RERAREMENROEBEABEEAEQAAERE
EHEKRES o

ARRBEHN GO M HBRAMEES4K%156°

° We obtained understanding of the work of the
independent professional valuer engaged by
management, and assessed the objectivity,
independence and competency of the external
valuer.

° We involved an independent valuation specialists to
evaluate the valuation techniques used and tested
the underlying key estimations and assumptions for
selected samples through enquiry with management
and by reference to the rental values and open
market information.

° We compared the valuation performed by the
external valuer to the range provided by the
independent valuation specialists. We further
assessed the correctness of the property related
data used as inputs for the valuation.

° We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
of the valuation of the investment properties,
including the fair value hierarchy and the valuation
techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation
of investment properties.

s AREMETHREEEBZEMNBUTRMGLEMET
BT F > WaT(ESNBR L EBMAY R B IE B R AE ST ©

s AREMZEBANEEERSEHEBERARTES
B ZRBUGEERTENEERETFAERNMG
ERMARAAEBEZEG RER-

o ABZREENRIINEGEMAETHFGEBIIEEER
iR 2 HBEETER -AZEME—FFEH
EEEHSARBNY EBFERIEZ ErElt-

s ARHBETHEREVELENKERSTRE > 81
AREBBRFAANGERTUARREYELENE
EWMAYE-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

FHRANEMER

BERBDEFFTHHMENGE - HMEBENGEE
BANER  TEEFREMBREREZ B
I3 H A IR BB IR S o
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B AZEAT A HEME RN EREMTZ
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FRRTHABREEREE NEFEAEXE
RERMBIIE R c BN AZBEMERAITH I W
REZHEMABEMENAERERBRIML > £
BB EREZFTE -EETHEH AR
EREE =i

ESMGAMBRRAXKENSRE

EEMBERSENREBRADGRANKERE
MUAEBMTENGEEPHRER UHAIAR
BREUBFRERNBRAFERANRFIHER
MERNERERRAFIFEIANRIEFIES -

ARREGVBERERE BEAREFHEN
i BEEERFEBEENEN TEBEBR KR
EARBEZEMNFE UKERAFEEER
SRR RIF ERRAEFEAER EXEEE
B L2 S EEMERNERS R

EZEZEEWY BSREEFRETEE B5&HE
MHREBENEE-




AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed term of agreement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit fundings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during the audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

BB sHiR S M B HRRAEN

BT @
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: PO6294
Hong Kong

31 March 2023

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
n‘7|'\ *ﬂﬁn;ﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[ ARBTT ARETFIT
REVENUE WA 6 26,737,240 27,071,241
Cost of sales SHE R A (26,012,243) (23,010,591)
Gross profit EF 724,997 4,060,650
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment LEMELADE (BB
properties, net R F kB 15 (315,413) 717,888
Other income and gains H A R Wz 6 330,515 414,517
Selling and distribution expenses & K 0 88 AR AS (655,295) (691,691)
Administrative expenses THRFX (1,130,874) (834,442)
Other expenses HifaZ (871,622) (99,868)
Write-down of properties under WREEMEEJEIRFE
development to net realisable value (3,208,465) (390,000)
Impairment of investments in joint REENBRBE AT
ventures and associates KRENRE (407,585) =
Impairment of other receivables HthEWERIE R & (4,151,208) =
Remeasurement of financial guarantee ~ EF st EMFEFREH
contracts (1,650,167) (27,025)
Finance costs E=y%iN 7 (674,450) (276,097)
Share of profits and losses of joint i =N E
ventures (890,813) (38,394)
Share of profits and losses of associates FEfLHiE AT i85 (257,127) 326,990
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRERE (B518) F)E 8 (13,157,507) 3,162,528
Income tax expense i8R 11 (111,683) (1,879,534)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE (BHR) /A8 (13,269,190) 1,282,994
Attributable to: PUF & 75 B4
Owners of the parent BREEB A (12,014,860) 862,094
Non-controlling interests JEITRG M (1,254,330) 420,900
(13,269,190) 1,282,994
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BRBEEBERERFTEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY FE1EER (58)  &BF)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
- Basic (RMB cents per share) —E2K (BRAR®D) 13 (186.10) 11.82

— Diluted (RMB cents per share) —#E (ERARED) 13 (186.10) 11.82
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RaZEBER

Year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 12831 H ILEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AEREFT
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR F£E (BB 78 (13,269,190) 1,282,994
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ Hiem (518
INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that R EBHIRIRIAER EH DB
may be reclassified to profit or loss in ~ E#E# 2z HM2mE (§518)
subsequent periods: s -
Exchange differences on translation of N EFZIRE ~ E R =58
foreign operations (1,489,067) 658,040
Other comprehensive loss that will not  REBHRESGA~ZEHDLE
be reclassified to profit or loss in EERZEME@EER
subsequent periods:
Changes in financial assets at fair value %A . E st AEHtM2E I
through other comprehensive income @RISR E E &S (193,932) (123,730)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ FEAEM2E (BB R
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 1B I8 (1,682,999) 534,310
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FEE2EWmIEEE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (14,952,189) 1,817,304
Attributable to: MUF&HEM:
Owners of the parent BREEE A (13,697,859) 1,396,404
Non-controlling interests FEER R (1,254,330) 420,900

(14,952,189) 1,817,304
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEAMBRAR

31 December 2022 20224 12531H

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[z ARTT AE®BTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BENREE 14 2,814,333 2,255,381
Investment properties HEME 18 15,499,619 15,972,920
Land held for property development FIEYXEREHEER TN
for sale e 22 1,401,811 1,401,811
Goodwill e 17 65,963 741,202
Investments in joint ventures ﬁ@é%@ﬁ?ﬁfﬁ 18 2,234,897 3,308,932
Investments in associates REGE QB 19 6,189,766 7,096,217
Financial assets at fair value through BARE quJ\%E &Y
profit or loss SREE 20 5,100 5,100
Financial assets at fair value through BAREFAREMER
other comprehensive income R EREE 21 55,288 232,997
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E 34 1,858,268 1,199,409
Total non-current assets JEENEELRER 30,125,045 32,213,969
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Land held for property development BFIEYXREHEER TN
for sale e 22 1,624,455 225,891
Properties under development EEYE 23 33,564,654 47,431,370
Properties held for sale FEHE R = 24 26,116,239 26,170,388
Prepayments for acquisition of land W iE T FR(T FRIB = 1,398,564
Prepayments, other receivables and TET A E U TR IE K
other assets HEE 25 43,041,371 47,122,274
Prepaid corporate income tax AT 2SR 732,252 1,113,922
Prepaid land appreciation tax A I ER 1,110,326 1,184,599
Restricted cash ZIRBIRE 26 1,108,558 968,378
Non-pledged time deposits with original ~ ##AEARBBA=EF =
maturity of over three months EIRETEHER 26 400,000 2,173,906
Cash and cash equivalents HENRREEEY 26 5,630,872 14,377,647
Total current assets TMENEELRER 113,328,727 142,166,939
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Contract liabilities aHAaRE 27 28,177,504 40,027,616
Trade payables B SN RIE 28 9,179,611 6,810,201
Other payables and accruals HhpERIE R ESHE A 29 18,537,002 20,783,152
Interest-bearing bank and other SFEBITREMEE
borrowings 30 7,037,893 4,459,782
Corporate bonds NEVMES 31 4,850,000 4,500,000
Senior notes BREEE 32 37,964,733 5,038,874
Corporate income tax payables TIPS 2,215,571 2,773,633
Provision for land appreciation tax T IR ER 33 1,661,061 1,994,610
Total current liabilities hEE B 109,623,375 86,387,868
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENE E R 3,705,352 55,779,071
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERRBER
LIABILITIES 33,830,397 87,993,040
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

mERBRAR®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
s ARETT ARETFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other FERTRAMEES
borrowings 30 5,267,866 10,810,277
Corporate bonds 31 - 2,000,000
Senior notes 32 - 29,773,509
Deferred tax liabilities IEIERIE A 34 3,487,174 4,014,617
Total non-current liabilities JETBaEAREE 8,755,040 46,598,403
Net assets BE 25,075,357 41,394,637
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of AFEB AELER
the parent
Issued capital 35 559,947 559,947
Senior perpetual securities SRk EE S 38 1,911,986 1,911,986
Reserves 37 9,501,680 23,644,069
11,973,613 26,116,002
Non-controlling interests 13,101,744 15,278,635
Total equity ke 25,075,357 41,394,637
Lam Lung On Kwok Ying Lan
MEER EME
Director Director
EFE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEEmBER

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAREENESR
Shares
Share Statutory ~ Exchange Share  held under Senior Non-
Issued premium surplus  fluctuation option  share award Capital ~ Revaluation Retained perpetual controlling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve scheme reserve reserve profits securities Total interests  Total equity
RIVEE Fydatd ERRH BRE RERGEED
BETRE i i i B AEFRRG  EARE  BRREE  RENE sRkER% B FEREE  BESE
Notes  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wt ARETR ARRTR ARBTR ARETn ARRTR ARBTR  ARETR ARWTR ARBTR  AREFTR  AREFR ARETR ARETR
(note 35) (note 35)  (note 37(i)) (note 36) (note 36)  (note 37(ii)) (note 38)
(W) (Omses)  (HES10) (i) (HE%6)  (Haksv(i) (H338)
At 1 January 2022 1#2020E151H 559,047 1,008,439 62642 2234995 42,085 (22,207) (487,151) 210,742 20594524 1911986 26,116,002  15278,635 41,394,637
Loss for the year EEEE = - - - - - - - (12014860 - (12014860)  (1,254330)  (13,269,190)
Other comprehensive FEEAM2ENG:
income for the year:
Exchange differences ENEBEE ERER
related to foreign
operations - - - (1,480,067) - - - - - - (1,489,067) - (1,489,067)
Fair value loss on BARESALEE
financial assets at fair hENeHEEARE
value through other B
comprehensive income - - - - - - - (193,932) - - (193,932 - (193,932)
Loss and total FEFERZEHELE
comprehensive loss
for the year - - - (1,489,067) - - - (193,932)  (12,014,860) - (13,697,859)  (1,254,330)  (14,952,189)
Trnsfer fomretained  ARENEETERER
profts to the statutory 68
surplus reserve - - 150,000 - - - - - (150,000) - - - -
Acquistton of WaERRER
non-controling interests - - - - - - (157) - - - (157)  (1,310,378) (1,310,535
Capital contrbution FERRRLE
from non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - (311,955) - - - (311,955) 1,156,910 844,955
Return of capital BAE# - - - - - - - - - - - (675,854) (675,854)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHBAT il - - - - - - - - - - - (58,624) (58,624)
Dividends paid tonon- ~ MFFERBERARE
controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - (34,615) (34,615)
Distrioution to holders o~ A XERAREAD K
senior perpetual securities - - - - - - - - (144,133) - (144,133) - (144,133)
Equity-settled share option  JUE& 2 (MR E 2 T
amangements - - - - 11,715 - - - - - 14,745 - 1,715
At 31 December 2022 20226127318 550,947 1,008,439 212,642 745,928* 53,800* (22,207 (799,263)* 16,8101 8285531 1911986 11973613 13,101,744 25,075,357
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
GEeE=REBR®
Year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022412831H IEFE

Attrioutable to owners of the parent

BATEANES
Shares
Share Statutory Exchange Share held under Senior Non-
[ssued premium surplus fluctuation option  share award Capital ~ Revaluation Retained perpetual controling
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve scheme Teserve reserve profits securities Total interests ~ Total equity

RIVEE  EERE  EREE BhE RERGER
BEfRE il i i B HEFERG  ARE  EHER  RENE SRAERS B FEREE  BERE
Notes ~ RMBOOO ~ RWBOO0  RMBOOD  RWBOOO  RMBOOD  RMWBOOO  RMBOOD  RWBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOO0  RMBO00  RVBOO0
g ARRTT  ARBTn  ARETR  ARETR AR®TR  ARETR ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR  ARETR  ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR

(note 35) (note 35) (note 37(j) (note 36) (note 36 (note 37(i) (note 38)
(Hi335) (Wz35)  (3370) (H3t36) (H336)  (Hiakar) (H338)
At 1 January 2021 202151818 489,142 1,079,244 62,642 1,576,955 33,626 (9,458) (685,324) 334472 19,836,189 1,911,986 24,620474 9673466 34,302,930
Proft for the year BB - - - o S o - - 862,004 - 862,004 420900 1,282,994
Other comprehensive FEAMRENG:
income for the year:
Exchange diferences ~ ESNEBIERZERER
related to foreign
operations - - - 658,040 - - - - - - 658,040 - 658,040
Changes in fair value BAREHAR MR ERG
through other HEs
comprehensive
income - - - - - - - (123,730) - - (123,730) - (123,730)
Total comprehensive FERANEEE
income for the year - - - 658,040 - - - (123,730) 862,004 - 1,396,404 420,900 1,817,304
Final interim 2020 dividend  2020E X5 S - (1,080,947) = = = = = = = - (1,080,947) - (1,030,947)
Interim 2021 dividend 01EHERS - (276,940) - - - - - - - - (276,940) - (276,940)
Issue of shares for scrip ~ EfTLRRERHB
dividend 70,805 1,237,082 = = = = = = = = 1,307,887 = 1,307,887
Acquisition of subsiclaries  WiEEH B AE] 4 - - - - - - - - - - - 1169474 1,169,474
Acquisiton of non- Wi ErRER
controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (80,510) (80,510)
Capital contribution FERRELE
from non-controling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - 4,728,829 4,728,829
Return of capital BRER - - - - - - - - - - - 287,800 (287,800
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAT 4 = = = = = = 198,173 = = = 198,173 (345,714) (147,541)
Distrloution toholders B MXEESHEANK
of senior perpetual
securties = = = = = = = - (108759) - (108759) - (103,759)
Equity-settled share option - LU & sz (1M 2 %
arrangements - - - - 8,459 - - - - - 8459 - 8,459
Shares purchased under  RERMZEH BBARLR
share award scheme = = = = = (12,749) = = = = (12,749 = (12,749
At 31 December 2021 120214128318 559,947 1,008,439* 62,642 2,234995° 42,085 (22,207 (487,151)" 210,742" 20,594 524" 1911986 26116002 15278635 41,394,637
These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEHREROESAVBERIRFPEINNES
RMB9,501,680,000 (2021: RMB23,644,069,000) in the consolidated FE ARY9,501,680,0007T (20214 1 AR

statement of financial position. 23,644,069,0007T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERHERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B s ARETT ARETFIT
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING KRETHEENIRE RS
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BRIA AT (B518) FH (13,157,507) 3,162,528
Adjustment for: MUTEEEHREE .
Finance cost A A A 7 674,450 276,097
Interest income FEUWA 6 (188,924) (234,746)
Depreciation e 8 57,189 69,080
Fair value loss on derivative financial mEEMTIAAREREE
instruments 8 - 11,194
Provision for properties under R ERE
development 3,208,465 390,000
Impairment of other receivables Hth IR E 4,151,208 =
Remeasurement of financial guarantee B st B BEFREL
contracts 1,650,167 27,025
Impairment of investments of joint REZERERBERABDRE
ventures and associates Z A 407,585 =
Impairment of goodwill EmERE 8 661,049 =
Share of profits and losses of EhaEAEIBmEE
joint ventures 890,813 38,394
Share of profits and losses of associates &1k B & /A 5118 5 28 257,127 (326,990)
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment KREMENRAE
properties, net (B518) /W e % 28 15 315,413 (717,888)
Equity-settled share option expense MRHEEERERS 8 11,715 8,459
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBABMNERE,
(W zm) 8 129,410 (99,103)
Gain on disposal of joint ventures and ~ HE &S E QB KEE A E
associates, net W 5 0% BB 6 (62,840) =
Loss on disposal of an investment HEREYHEBE
property 11,233 =
(983,447) 2,604,050
Decrease in properties under EEMZER LD
development 11,062,070 23,492,354
(Increase)/decrease in properties FEHEREN
held for sale W (g0 R (94,055) 89,313
Increase in prepayments Y B £ FE AT R38N
for acquisition of land - (486,565)
Increase in prepayments, other FEAT R~ H fh FE IR I K
receivables and other assets H & Egn (11,424,980) (3,723,503)
Decrease in contract liabilities aHa®EFD (10,480,314) (6,099,608)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B EARIEEM, L) 2,681,864 (1,908,267)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — HfthE(TFIE K fEST &
and accruals #m, Cezb) 1,487,297 (12,146,539)
Cash (used in)/generated from & () Fr8R%
operations (7,751,565) 1,821,235
Interest received BWFE 188,924 234,746
PRC corporate income tax paid BHMPETEMER (972,939) (282,651)
PRC land appreciation tax (paid)/refund  (BE4%) /3R B E 1 i
BER (521,488) 5,621
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating #&& &%) (FrA) /Frfg
activities RERBFEE (9,057,068) 1,778,951
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
FERERER®
Year ended 31 December 2022 20225128331 H IELEFEE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Iz AREFT AEREBFIT

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING KRETHEEANRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BERXREBEEB

plant and equipment 14 (205) (19,813)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME BEMREEE

property, plant and equipment Frigs1a 13,588 36,014
Additions of investment properties REREYE 15 (256,825) (661,929)
Proceeds from disposal of HERBEYHEMIMIE

investment properties 51,967 -
Purchase of shareholding in a jointly BE—BHEEZEFER

controlled entity ZER% = 514,019
Repayment from/(advance to) joint BENEERS

ventures (MEERAER) 6,555,456 (4,545,796)
Repayment from/(advance to) B ABEB®R

associates (MEE QBB 1,303,705 (5,987,979)
Investments in joint ventures REERNBEKE (823,484) (441,488)
Investments in associates REBEQBRE (373,269) (1,111,941)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries 1PN 9,483 4,155,247
Disposals of subsidiaries HEKB AT 41 506,875 97,334
Settlement of derivative financial EETEERTA

instruments - (98,930)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash 2 RHIIRE (M) ELD (140,180) 1,774,849
Decrease in non-pledged time deposits {A¥JHERBE=1ES =

with original maturity of over three IR T HFERUR D

months 1,773,906 5,965,181
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing & & &8RS, (FTA)

activities RS MEFEE 8,621,017 (325,232)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEHELENRERE

ACTIVITIES
Capital contributions from JEERKBERHE

non-controlling shareholders 844,955 4,148,699
Acquisition of non-controlling interests ~ UgBE JEIERG = (1,310,535) (80,510)
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due to  FE{FIEIERE AR ER F0IE (38 0)

non-controlling shareholders D (1,100,441) 48,644
Return of capital to non-controlling JEFEFIRER 2 B4R

shareholders (675,854) (287,800)
New bank and other borrowings BIRIT REMES 4,365,513 7,333,595
Repayment of bank and other BRIBITTREMEES

borrowings (6,973,197) (15,235,439
Proceeds from issue of senior notes BITEBAEZEMEMRIE (51,733) 5,970,118
Redemption of senior notes BB ER - (4,648,062)
Repayment of corporate bonds EYUNSIREE= (1,650,000) (3,000,000)
Payments for shares purchased under  1RIER(D BN+ 8 B AR

share award scheme Z YR8 = (12,749)
Distribution to holders of senior RS KEESFEADIK

perpetual securities (144,133) (103,759)
Interest paid BAFHE (1,733,018) (4,511,248)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

MARERER®

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE2022F 12831 H IEEE

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B s ARBTT ARETFIT
Net cash flows used in financing MEEEFTA
activities HREREFEE (8,428,443) (10,378,511)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH IR&KIREEEYRE/ 358
EQUIVALENTS (8,864,494) (8,924,792)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E#IRERIBEFEY
of year 14,377,647 23,586,502
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [& K& 85 25558
net 117,719 (284,063)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRFETRFACEEY
END OF YEAR 26 5,630,872 14,377,647
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND & RIE& S BY DT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances BE MIRIT4E R 5,380,872 11,534,247
Non-pledged time deposits with original 8#1EAR /L =B =
maturity less than three months IR EHRERR 250,000 2,843,400
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in 4 &IREHRERFTE
the consolidated statement of cash W 5T AR & MR R
flows and included in the consolidated ~ BYIRE RIREZEEY
statement of financial position 26 5,630,872 14,377,647
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Units 5801-02, 58/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s
Road, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in property
development, property investment, property management and
hotel operations in the mainland of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC” or “Mainland China”) and Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors, Mr. Lam Lung On and Ms. Kwok
Ying Lan, both being directors of the Company, are considered
as the controlling shareholders of the Company.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of incorporation/

registration and

435 SR R M 5

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

NEIKREBREN
BMNEERERBRABR (TAAF) B
HEREFMMINEBEREETAR  HR
MRERBHEXZMABRAR (TEEH
RFT1) MR T o A RA B Y& IS R L
2 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands ERF B X EE £ MU A
EBPREFRKEBPRIIFHIRAF 581
5801-02%F o

FRNARBREWB LT HHEIEEEH))
TERPEARAMBEARE (THE) M
BAEE)) REBREMERE WEKE
MEEEURBIEER-

EFZRXR FLDEFMELLEKRTR
BMRLEIWEREABTIERRR

MBABEZE R
AABEEMBAD ZHEMT

Nominal value Equity interest

of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the

Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
AR GER & BETREERS/

RERE BEMME AMBRAEE SAREEER TBREH

Direct Indirect

HE Gk

Xiamen Yaozhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB134,200,000 = 100% Property development
BRENEHEREERAS () FE/HE AR AR 134,200,0007T MERE
Xiamen Gangyi Real Estate Marketing Agent Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China HK$5,000,000 - 100% Marketing
EFBREEEHABERAR () FE/REARE 7&15,000,0007T Ei
Xiamen Yuzhou Commercial Investment & Management Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China HK$4,252,050 = 100% Property management
BMENEEREERERAT () FE/HE AR #14,252,0507T MEER
Xiamen Diyuan Bonded Storage and Distribution Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 98% Property development
ERBTRREERRAS" () FE/REARE AE#20,000,0007T YR
Xiamen Kim International Realty Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$113,600,000 = 100% Property development
EFEEREZRERAR (i) FE/ R AR 113,600,000% 7 MERE
Xiamen Richville Development Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$55,000,000 - 100% Property development
EMEERMEREERAR () FE/RE AR 55,000,000 7T MERE




122 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M mRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12531H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2SI R&EESEF w)

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEBATZER @
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KAANBEBRBABZHBUWT @ (B)

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value Equity interest

registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities

ML MR BRETRARRE/
NERE BERNE HMRAEE  AAREMERE TEREH

Direct Indirect
HE i

Xiamen Gangyi Real-Estate Co., Ltd. ¥(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB260,000,000 - 100% Property development
BEFEREXARAF (5 FE/ R AR AR 260,000,000 MERE
Xiamen Fengzhou Real-Estate Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China HK$18,000,000 - 100% Property development
BEFENEXFRAF" iz FE/ FEARE 7#118,000,0007C MR
Xiamen Yuzhou Grand Future Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*(Note) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 - 100% Property development
EMENBEHEREERAT" () FE/ R AR AR #1,500,000,0007T MERE
Xiamen Skyplaz Realty& Development Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 100% Property development
EFEREMEREBRAS" () FE/ FEARE 25,000,000 7% MR
Hefei Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$90,000,000 - 100% Property development
REENEHERERRAD () FE/ R AR 90,000,000% 7% MERE
Xiamen Huagiao City Real Estate Co., Ltd. f(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100% Property development
EMEBHEHEREERAT () FE/ FEARE AR %20,000,0007¢ MR
Anhui Overseas City Construction & Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$3,000,000 - 100% Property investment
ZHEBHEREBBRAD () FE/ R AR 3,000,000%7% MERE
Xiamen Yuzhou Group Ltd. (Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB116,064,000 - 100% Property investment
EFENERRMERARC () FE/ FEARE AR ™116,064,0007% MERE
Shanghai Kangtai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,530,000,000 - 100% Property development
LERREHERERRARC (&) FE/ R AR AR #1,530,000,0007T MR
Shanghai Jinyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB196,070,000 - 100% Property development
LESBRMEREERATC (D) FE/ FEARE AE#196,070,0007T MR
Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate Investment Co. Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100% Property development
LEENEHERERRARC () FE/ FEARE AR 100,000,0007% MR
Shanghai Yanhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB48,450,000 - 100% Property development
LERERMERBTEERETATC (WD) FE/ FEARE AR #48,450,0007¢ MR
Shanghai Liyade Property Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB42,000,000 - 100% Property development
LEFREREEXERARC () FE/ FEARE AR #42,000,0007% MR
Shanghai Yuzhou Hotel Management Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 100% Hotel management
LEBNEEERERAE® (D) FE/ FEIARE AE#2,000,0007T BEEE
Xiamen Yuzhou Property Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB23,600,000 - 100% Property development

EFBNEHEREERAR® () e/ REARE AE#23,600,00070 MERE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

AEIREBREN @

MEBARZE R @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Nominal value

Equity interest

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
ML MR BRTRAERE,/
Sk BEMME HMRAEE FAREEER TBREH
Direct Indirect
HE i
Hefei Ludong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 - 100% Property development
FEEREHEREERETARC () FE/ FEARE AR 80,000,000 MR
Hefei Kangli Realty Co., Ltd. ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100% Property development
AETREEEARAFC () FE/ FEARE K %30,000,0007¢ MR
Goastal Greenl and Development (Fujian) Limited PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100% Property development
HEREREEE (BE) BRAT! FE/ FEARE 10,000,000%7¢ MR
Xiamen Shunzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000,000 - 100% Property development
ERRNEHEREERAR () FE/ FEARE AE#800,000,0007T MR
Xiamen Yuzhou Seaview Property Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 - 100% Property development
ERENERBEMESRARC () FE/ FEARE AR #1,500,000,0007T MR
Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. é(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100% Property development
LEBNEHEREERAT® (D) FE/ FEARE AE#100,000,0007T MR
Shanghai Nankai Realty Development Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB90,000,000 - 100% Property development
LEmYEXERBRAF® (H) FE/ FEARE AR #90,000,0007¢ MR
Shanghai Kangyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB48,714,300 - 100% Property development
LERBRMEBREERATC (D) FE/ FEARE ANE#48,714,3007T b
Yuzhou Properties (Beijing) Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100% Property development
BMHE OtR) BRAFC (s FE/ FEARE AR 100,000,000 MR
Yuzhou Properties (Quanzhou) Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB460,000,000 - 65% Property development
Bt E (RM) BRAFC () FE/ FEARE AE#460,000,0007T MR
Xin Yi Fang Tian (Quanzhou) Construction Materials Co., Ltd. *(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Trading of construction
materials
MBAK (FM) BEMBERAD () FE/ FEARE AE%10,000,0007¢ BEEREME
Tianjin Yuzhou Jinhai Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 100% Property development
KEBNZEHEREERATC () FE/ FEARE AR 200,000,000 MR
Xiamen Xiang'anwan Baseball and Soft ball Industrial PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 76.25% Property development
Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note)
EFPREEEREXRERFRAT® () FE/ FEARE AR #10,000,0007¢ MR
Xiamen Jingdehong Property Co., Ltd. é(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100% Property development
BEPIRELBEEERAFC (D) FE/ FEIARE AE#5,000,0007T MR
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

PEIREBREN @

B AR ZER @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value Equity interest
registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
MM/ Mk BRETRARRE/
NERE BERNE HMRAEE  AAREMERE TEREH
Direct Indirect
HE i
Xiamen Junyu Trade Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100% Trading of construction
materials
EMEFEZERAT® (D) FE/ FEARE AR #50,000,0007¢ BEEREME
Xiamen Xin Cheng Li Da Trading Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100% Trading of construction
materials
EFMERILEESERARC () FE/ FEARE AR #20,000,0007¢ BEEREME
Longyan Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 - 100% Trading of construction
materials
REENEHERERRARC () FE/ FEARE AE#500,000,0007T BEEEEME
Anhui Shengtian Property Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100% Property development
ZHRREEZERATC () FE/ R AR AR #150,000,0007% MR
Anhui Shenghe Property Co. Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB110,000,000 - 100% Property development
ZHRMEBLERAFC (M) FE/ FEARE AR ™110,000,0007% MR
Huainan Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB16,000,000 - 100% Property development
ERENEHEREERARC () FE/ R AR AR 16,000,000 MR
Yuzhou Properties (Shanghai) Company Limited ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB600,000,000 - 100% Property development
BMEE (L5) BRAFC (M) FE/ FEARE AE#600,000,0007T MR
Xiamen Gangzhou Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 100% Property development
BEMTEMNERAF () FE/ R AR AR 300,000,0007% MR
Xiamen Yuzhou City Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,680,000,000 - 100% Property development
EFENHRARAT" () FE/ FEARE AE#1,680,000,0007¢ MR
Xiamen Honggang Cultural and Creative Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB21,000,000 - 100% Property development
BEPAEXERIEBRAR® () FE/ R AR AR 21,000,000 MR
Xiamen Yihai Consulting Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB21,000,000 - 100% Property development
EFTREHABRARC (D) FE/ FEIARE AR #21,000,0007¢ MR
Hefei Shunzhou Realty Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,200,000,000 - 100% Property development

BEFMEEABRAR" (5

e/ REAE

K %1,200,000,0007T

ESE
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31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2ASIKREBRZER @
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEBATRZER @
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBIEEMB AR ZEBOT | (8)

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value Equity interest
registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
MM Mk BRTRAERE,/
Sk BEMME HMRAEE FAREEER TBREH
Direct Indirect
HE i
Fujian Big World Huaxia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,110,000,000 - 100% Property development
BEAURZERMESRATC () FE/ FEARE AR#1,110,000,0007T MR
Yuzhou Properties (Hefei) Eastern Town Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,800,000,000 - 100% Property development
BMEZE (BIE) REARAE" (1) FE/ FEARE K #1,800,000,0007¢ MR
Nanjing Bozhou Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,880,000,000 - 100% Property development
ARENEHEREERAF® (H) FE/ FEARE AR #1,880,000,0007T MR
Shanghai Shunhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 79% Property development
LERBRMEREERADC (D) FE/ FEARE AE#150,000,0007T MR
Nanjing Xiangzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB130,000,000 - 65% Property development
ARANEHEREERAF® () FE/ FEARE AR 130,000,000 MR
Huizhou Dongrun Industrial Co., Ltd. ®*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB180,000,000 - 46% Property development
BNTRBEEERAT (D) FE/ B AR AR #180,000,0007% EES
Shanghai Zexiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB2,315,000,000 - 94% Property development
(“Shanghai Zexiang”) ®(Note)
LEENRMEREERAD ((LE2M) () FE/ FEIARE AE#2,315,000,0007¢ b
Hefei Xiangzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB2,500,000,000 - 75% Property development
(“Hefei Xiangzhou”) ®(Note)
BEANEHEREERAD (SRHM) (M) FE/ FEIARE AE#2,500,000,0007¢ MR
Fuzhou Zexiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 55% Property development
(“Fuzhou Zexiang”) ®(Note)
BNEDEHEREERAR (TRNEM)® () FE/ FEARE K %50,000,0007¢ MR
Hefei Bozhou Real Estate Development (“Hefei Bozhou®) ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB392,160,000 - 82% Property development
RREENEHERERRAD (GREN) () FE/ FEARE AR 1392,160,0007T MR
Suzhou Yuzhou Xuanyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Suzhou Yuzhou Xuanyi”) ®Note)
BENENTEEHEREERAT (MBS NFE) e (D) FE/ FEARE AR #50,000,0007¢ MR
Suzhou Shunhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000,000 - 51% Property development

(“Suzhou Shunhong”) ¢(Note)
BEMEBERHMERZEERAR (FMEE))e (D) hE/HEARE AR #2,000,000,0007¢ (K
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1. AEKREEREM @

MEBATZER @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Nominal value

Equity interest

registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
ML MR BRIRBERE/
NERE BERNE HMRAEE  AAREMERE TEREH
Direct Indirect
HE i

Suzhou Yucheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 - 66% Property development
(“Suzhou Yucheng”) ®(Note)

BNRREEREERAST (TBRMBA)° () FE/ FEARE A E#1,500,000,0007¢ Mm%

Zhangzhou Yuzhou Yicheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Zhangzhou Yuzhou Yicheng”) ¢(Note)

BN ENGEREEREERAR (DEMHE M) (5D FE/ FEARE AE#8,000,0007T MR

Shanghai Fengzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB7,500,000 - 100% Property development
(“Shanghai Fengzhou”) ®(Note)

LEENRHEREERAD ((LEEN) (D) FE/ FEARE AE#%7,500,0007T MR

Kunshan Fuzhi Dingxin Equity Investment Enterprise PRC/Mainland China RMB886,060,000 - 100% Property development
(Limited Partnership) (‘Kunshan Fuzhi”) ®(Note)

RLUESRERELELE BRAB) (BUERB))® () FE/ FEARE A #886,060,0007T MR

Wuhan Lankong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB421,060,000 = 100% Property development
(“Wuhan Lankong”) ®Note)

REETEHEREERAR (REEE)) () FE/ FEARE AR #421,060,0007% MR

Hefei Xiangze Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB78,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Hefei Xiangze”) ®(Note)

RIEMERMEREERAD (GEHE) (D) FE/ FEARE AR #78,000,0007¢ MR

Zhoushan Rongdu Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Zhoushan Rongdu”)" (Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000,000 - 45% Property development

RILEHELFRAT (TR (D) FE/ R AR AR #2,000,000,0007T MR

Zhangzhou Ruijia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB61,660,000 - 91% Property development
(“Zhangzhou Ruijia”) ®(Note)

ENTREEHEREERAR (TEMHIRE)® () FE/ FEARE AR 61,660,000 MR

Hangzhou Kangyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 50% Property development
(“Hangzhou Kangyu”) ®(Note)

MNEREHEREERAS (THMERIE))® () FE/ R E AR AR %100,000,0007% ELE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

AEIREBREN @

=

MEBARZE R @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Nominal value

Equity interest

registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
MM Mk BRTRAERE,/
Sk BEMME HMRAEE FAREEER TBREH
Direct Indirect
HE i

Qingdao Yuhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$120,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Qingdao Yuhong”) ®(Note)

EEBBRMEREERAD ((FEBB))° () FE/ FEARE 120,000,000% 7T MR

Shanghai Xuchen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 50% Property development
(“Shanghai Xuchen”) ®(Note)

LERREMERSEERAD ((LERKR)C (1) FE/ FEIARE AE%10,000,0007¢ b

Anhui Shunhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 50% Property development
(“Anhui Shunhong”) ®(Note)

ZHRBRMEREERAD (ZHFEB) (M) FE/ FEIARE AE#200,000,0007T MR

Hangzhou Yaozhou Enterprise Management Co., Ltd PRC/Mainland China RMB16,000,000 - 63% Others segment
(“Hangzhou Yaozhou”) (Note)

MNENCEEBERAD (MEN) (M) FE/ FEARE AE%16,000,0007¢ Hit) 8

Qingdao Bozhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$63,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Qingdao Bozhou") ®(Note)

EERNEHEREERAD (FEEN) (M) FE/ FEIARE 63,000,000% 7T MR

Yangzhou Hong Jia Da Business & Management Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$250,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Yangzhou Hong Jia Da") ¢(Note)

BNAEEEHEREERAR (BNAEE)® () FE/ FEIARE 250,000,000% 7% MR

Qingdao Ganijing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China US$66,670,000 - 69% Property development
(“Qingdao Ganjing”) ®(Note)

BERLSEHMERSEEARAD ((FEZR)) (M) FE/ FEIARE 66,670,000 7T MR

Shanghai Lanxiucheng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,700,000,000 - 51% Property development
(“Shanghai Lanxiucheng”) ®(Note)

LEEAHBLARAR (TLEEHHI)C (=) FE/ FEARE K #1,700,000,0007¢ MR

Wuxi Runteng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,020,000,000 - 50% Property development
(“Wuxi Runteng”) ®(Note)

ERBREMEREERAD (EHBE) (M) FE/ FEIARE K #1,020,000,0007¢ bE e
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

PEIREBREN @

B AR ZER @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Nominal value

Equity interest

registration and of issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
MM/ Mk BRETRARRE/
NERE BERNE HMRAEE  AAREMERE TEREH
Direct Indirect
HE i
Foshan Fengying Dexin Real-Estate Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB52,040,816 = 51% Property development
(“Foshan Fengying Dexin”) ¢(Note)
HUTERBEEXERAR (MBLTERER))® (D) FE/ FEARE AR #52,040,8167C MR
Hefei Xianjia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (‘Hefei Xianjia") ®(Note) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 - 100% Property development
REERRMEREARAD (GRER)® () FE/ R AR AR #500,000,0007% MERE
Hefei Jingjia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (‘Hefei Jingjia”) Note) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 - 100% Property development
ARRERMEREERAD (BRER)C () FE/ FEARE AE#500,000,0007T MR
Xiamen Jinglongxuan Trade Co., Ltd. ("Xiamen Jinglongxuan”) ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100% Property development
BRTREFEZERAD (HPIHIREER)C () FE/ R AR AR #50,000,0007% MR
Shenzhen Shuntaida Investment Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Shenzhen Shuntaida”) ®(Note)
R TRFEREERERAR (TRYIGRE)® () FE/ R AR AR #10,000,0007¢ MR
Shenzhen Zhongchen Investment Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100% Others segment
(“Shenzhen Zhongchen®) é(Note)
RN THRRERRERAS (TRIIRER)© () FE/ R AR AR #10,000,0007¢ Hit 75
Nanjing Haoyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB710,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Nanjing Haoyi") ®(Note)
ARRaRMEREERAD MAREE) () FE/ R AR AR ®710,000,0007¢ MR
Jiangsu Guangsheng Property Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Guangsheng”) é(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB312,000,000 - 100% Property development
IHBEABEERAR (DIFET) (i) FE/ FEARE AE#312,000,0007T MR
Hefei Xuanlong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Property development
(“Hefei Xuanlong”) ®(Note)
RIEEFEEMEREERAD ((GREHE)C () FE/ FEIARE AE#1,000,0007T MR
Hefei Fusheng Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (‘Hefei Fusheng”) ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100% Hotel management
RREEREEERERA (RREH)C (H:D) FE/ R AR AR 1,000,007 BEERE
Great Bonus Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100% Property development
HEERAT &E BB MR




CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law.
@ Registered as domestic limited liability companies under the PRC
law.

Registered as Sino-foreign equity entities under the PRC law.

These companies of the Group are accounted for as subsidiaries
even though the Group holds less that majority of voting rights
in those companies based on factors explained in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Note: The English names of these companies represent the best effort
made by the management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as they did not register any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Group incurred a loss of RMB13,269,190,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the Group failed
to pay off a US$389,203,000 (equivalent to RMB2,689,028,000)
senior note’ interests, a failure to pay the interest of the senior
note has caused an event of default pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the senior note agreement. As a result, the holders
of the senior notes have right to demand for the immediate
repayment on the outstanding principal together with accrued
interest. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has senior notes
with an aggregate principal amount of RMB37,964,733,000,
while available cash and cash equivalent on hand was
RMB5,630,872,000. This condition indicates the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Notwithstanding this fact, the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis as
the Group is expected to have sufficient financial resources to
meet its obligation as they fall due for the next fifteen months
based on its projected cash flow forecasts. The Directors have
carried out a detailed review of the cash flow projections of the
Group covering a period up to 31 March 2024, the Directors
consider that the Group is financially viable to continue as a
going concern.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2y EE
AEBREE2022FE12H31BEEEESE
B8 AR 113,269,190,00070 B £ 8 »
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7T (FHER AR 2,689,028,0007T) ° iR
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

In view of the above, the Group is implementing a debt
restructuring plan, which includes the following plans and
measures, to enable the Group to have sufficient financial
resources to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due:

(@)  the Group has proposed an asset disposition for selling
its equity interest in certain property development projects
and investment properties to generate additional cash
inflows and/or reduce cash outflows. In addition, the
Group has implemented cost control measures and
eliminated unnecessary capital expenditures to preserve
liquidity for on-going development of its existing property
development projects;

(b)  the Group is actively in discussion with its existing lenders
to renew and/or refinance the Group’s certain borrowings.
The Group has engaged in constructive dialogue with
prospective financiers, including but not limited to certain
state-owned asset management companies, to explore
possible refinancing options but may require additional
time to formulate and implement in light of the weak
market conditions; and

(c) the Group has been proactively communicating with
its lenders to explore possible restructuring options.
Restructuring term sheet in relation to the Group’s senior
notes was circulated to the advisers of the ad hoc group
of senior note holders for discussion and consideration.
All parties are working together closely towards a mutually
acceptable restructuring solution and endeavor to
complete the restructuring of debt in 2023.

Accordingly, the Directors consider that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures and their progress, it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis as the Group is expected to cure
its default on payment of its debt and have sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligation as they fall due for at least the
next twelve months from the date of approval the consolidated
financial statements.

1B % 40

ER FRIER A EEFEEREREA
S B aEN TR GAEE
BERAMMEE RN BTN RS
1F .

(a) FTEEERBREERE LEHERNSE
TREMEMEBERREMENR
BoEEBEIMNRERARHRELD
BEME o b5 A& B IR E R A
EREE O BB T ENE A
REARHESANRAEFMERE A
ENFEER

(b) AEBERBRIFEAEERABTEM
R/NEBREAEENEFTER &
EEEREBERES (BEEBFERRN
ETEREEEERRR) ETRFZME
W R JENBREDE B
ERNTBRERE IERTEESZH
B ] SR I E R B 1 5 &

(c) ZTEE—BERBHMEEHRABE F
NAENEREF R HAEREBELE
EERMNEAKTREDERLEL
ERFAEASR/NENER > HEN
BREE - SEHAEBREGE FIE
HRESTFEBRSNEAFZLE LR
2023F M EHBEM -

Hit EEB AR ZEE Llis 8 LB R
HERBR UBBKEEERNGESM
BREBBE RESTEETEBESEHBR
HEXNES TARANMBERENT
HE#EAREVBREAQMERKRED
+ZEARIBNEE-
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3.1

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets as
current assets and non-current liabilities as current liabilities.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial instruments which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
refer to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3.1 REEE @)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

EEEE @

—BERT E—ERS NLHLE=ER
Mz HAATEBERBEREE LR
BENR AL WL I E RN B RER
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3.1

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfiling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to
its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group has applied the
amendments prospectively to business combinations that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no
business combinations during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

3.2 EEt R RKEFENEE @)
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3.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in
profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 January 2021.
Since there was no sale of items produced prior to the
property, plant and equipment being available for use,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and
the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The
Group has applied the amendment prospectively
from 1 January 2022. As there was no modification
or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during
the year, the amendment did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKAS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contract'

Insurance Contract"®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS
9 - Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments’)**
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(the "2022 Amendments’)?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Disclosure of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related fo Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of

the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’'s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed
by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the
2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require additional
disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer
settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
is non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is
not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting
policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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3.3

3.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of a joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associates or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates and joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 34 FESHHEERBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investment at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 34 FESHHEERBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(o)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of lease
terms and 20 years
Over the shorter of lease

terms and 5 years
Over the shorter of lease
terms and 20 years

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Hotel properties

Furniture, fixtures and 2 to 5 years
office equipment
Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years

Yacht 20 years
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents office property under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 34 FESHHEERBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property is classified as investment property under
construction. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined,
the investment property under construction will be measured
at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or
construction is completed.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the disposal of an investment property
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the period of
the disposal.

When the Group completes the construction or development of
a self-constructed investment property, any difference between
the fair value of the property at the completion date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
change in use and its then carrying amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner— occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of
the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Hotel properties Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as inventories, they are subsequently
measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value
in accordance with the Group’s policy for “inventories”.
When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“investment properties”.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g. a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of offices (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date). Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, are
accounted for as finance leases.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased
by the Group under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to the statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Land held for development for sale

The land held for future development represents parcels of
land owned by the Group for the purpose of development of
properties for sale. The land is initially stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is not depreciated. It is transferred to
properties under development upon commencement of the
related construction work in the property development project.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost of properties held for sale is determined by an
apportionment of total land and building costs attributable to
the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses, or by management
estimates based on the prevailing market conditions.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchase or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(c)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired, or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 34 FESHHEERBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 34 TETHHEME @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, senior notes, corporate bonds and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set
out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive, and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Senior perpetual securities

Senior perpetual securities with no contractual obligation to
repay the principal or to pay any distribution are classified as
part of equity.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

3.4 FETHHEHME @

REKRRELEEY @
MEAUBERIEMEs BeRnBES%E
MEEFERSRBTES AERART
SRENTCHERREETRARESAUNSE
Eo

= AR K B R 57
TESHETHEEASRE A EFDIR
ZEBRXBREDEAML L —HD o

4]
BHEDNBTEABERELERKEMR CF
BREE) RARIERERHERUET
BEERTUESD QAL EMMAFE
ERYRRER ©

ENREEERN BIANEEHREARE
HETEEMBARARAZNBREHABER
Ry IR {E - ST IR IR E R B m L m - g
MEBRERERDPIIDRMEME

FRiSH
FIEMERETHRNEBERIEERE - BN
B LUSNESR B IR B B PR S AR I B i DASh
BN EMEERENEERN DA
B o

TN BEEREE CARFEREE
PREBRXORTHEERES  RENKRS
HEERKERHMRBEESEMHINE (k
MEEA) RIAHARIEIRF B UL E 5 32 4
FTRHGRHEZERE -




170

Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

M mRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12531H

3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability. In a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (Continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 34 FESHHEERBE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@)

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point
in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the asset. The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured based on
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the construction
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@)

®)

Sales of properties (Continued)

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

Provision of property management services and hotel
services

Revenue from provision of property management services
and hotel services are recognised over the scheduled
period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

34 TETHHEME @

WA TEER (@)

FEREH WK ()

(a)

(b)

YEHE (BB)
HREX-—RBMERY X TGRSR
MEBRMNBESH  WARZTFE
SEYRBERNCS T ITYENEERR
ERBFAEECESREENNMAR
I 1R 7T A U [B] (B B e 58 o

FERYE EE IR KL IR

F 7 25 P [R) By U ER Al S #E 7 £ [ 48 it
A BIREYEEERS KBS
FRFFPRIGURA LB AN 15 E BB FE

N
3o

Hth A IR 2t

7H & W A AR HA P 2 B ) LE I RE T o BT
B E R A BRI & 51 B E LAY
BAWABIER R

Htg A
FMEWAZRFEERARER I ENRA
SHEHRRFARRRETRAERMEES
MEERBFEROMNE A ABERMEZE
HEEE o




7,_'_‘77,

3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Contract costs

(a) Costs to fulfil a contract
Other than the costs which are capitalised as properties
under development and property and equipment, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

i) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

ii) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing

to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

iii) The costs are expected to be recovered.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contract costs (Continued)

(a) Costs to fulfil a contract (Continued)
The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

(b) Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
customer, it would not have incurred if the contract had
not been obtained, e.g., commission to sales equals
incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
36 to the financial statements.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit
expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity—
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and
end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are
required to contribute certain percentages of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. The
Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars. In the
opinion of the directors, as the Group’s operations are mainly
in the PRC, the use of RMB as the presentation currency is
more appropriate for the presentation of the Group’s results
and financial position. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising from settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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3.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. EEGEHHIET R &S

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than
majority of voting rights

The Group considers that it controls its subsidiaries even
though it owns less than 50% of the voting rights. This is
because the Group is the single largest shareholders of those
subsidiaries. The Group has enough power to control the
appointment of directors of those subsidiaries which the Group
holds less than majority of voting rights of those subsidiaries.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement
is made by management in determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property held for
sale. The Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development included in current assets if the properties are
intended for sale after its completion, whereas, the properties
are accounted for as investment properties under construction
included in non-current assets if the properties are intended to
be held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Upon
completion of the properties, the properties developed for sale
are transferred to properties held for sale and are stated at cost,
while the properties developed to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties and are
subject to revaluation at each reporting date.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolio and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s
deferred tax on investment properties, the directors have
determined that the presumption set out in HKAS 12 Income
Taxes that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale is rebutted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2022 was
RMB65,963,000 (2021: RMB741,202,000). Further details are
given in note 17 to the financial statements.

Estimation of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost
of each unit in each phase of development is determined using
the weighted average method. The estimated net realisable
value is the estimated selling price less selling expenses and
the estimated cost of completion (if any), which are estimated
based on the best available information. The carrying amounts
of properties under development and properties held for sale
at 31 December 2022 were RMB33,564,654,000 (2021:
RMB47,431,370,000) and RMB26,116,239,000 (2021:
RMB26,170,388,000), respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Allocation of construction cost on properties under
development

When developing properties, the Group typically divides the
development projects into phases. Costs directly related to
the development of a phase are recorded as the cost of such
phase. Costs that are common to each phase are allocated
to each phase based on the saleable floor area of each phase
as a percentage of the total saleable floor area of the entire
project. The cost of the unit sold is determined by the floor
area in square metre sold during the year multiplied by the
average cost per square metre of that particular phase of the
project. The carrying amount of properties under development
at 31 December 2022 was RMB33,564,654,000 (2021:
RMB47,431,370,000).

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of the fact
that certain matters relating to income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimates and
judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations
and other related policies are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will impact on the income tax and tax provisions in
the period in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of corporate income tax payables at 31 December 2022 was
RMB2,215,571,000 (2021: RMB2,773,633,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

PRC Iland appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management’s best estimates according to its
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of
the property development projects. The Group has not finalised
its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
certain property development projects. The final outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences will have impact on the land appreciation tax
expense and the related provision in the period in which the
differences realise. The carrying amount of provision for land
appreciation tax at 31 December 2022 was RMB1,661,061,000
(2021: RMB1,994,610,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for provision of land
appreciation tax, fair value adjustments from acquisition of
subsidiaries and tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets at 31 December 2022 was RMB1,858,268,000 (2021:
RMB1,199,409,000).
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31 December 2022 20224 12531H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
five reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the property development segment engages in the
development and sale of properties;

(b)  the property investment segment invests in properties
for their rental income potential and/or for capital
appreciation;

(c) the property management segment engages in the
provision of property management services;

(d)  the hotel operation segment engages in the operation of
hotels; and

(e) the others segment comprises corporate income and
expense items.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment (loss)/profit, which is a measure of adjusted (loss)/profit
before tax. The adjusted (loss)/profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax except
that interest income and finance costs are excluded from such
measurement. Segment assets and liabilities are not reported to
the Group’s chief operating decision maker regularly.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BEDHEM @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 B F2022F12H31HILFE
Property Property Property Hotel
development investment  management operation Others Total
L/ESE MERE MEER EELE Hith k)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AREFR ARETR ARETR ARBTR AREFR
Segment revenue SEBA
Sales to external customers EAN A EHAHEER 26,288,907 226,775 212,075 9,483 - 26,737,240
Other income and gains HBA R 117,579 4,091 814 25 19,082 141,591
Total FUEE) 26,406,486 230,866 212,889 9,508 19,082 26,878,831
Segment results DEEE (12,047,409) (590,580) 64,030 867 (98,889) (12,671,981)
Reconciliation: £/
Interest income FIBWA 188,924
Finance costs B A (674,450)
Loss before tax FRiRAIRS 1R (18,157,507)
Other segment information: ~ Hth A EFE#
Depreciation e 24,054 29,143 2,708 109 1,175 57,189
Capital expenditure* BAREZ 40 256,846 97 7 40 257,030
Fair value loss on investment KR EMEAAEHEZE
properties, net - 315,413 - - - 315,413
Impairment of goodwil BEHE 661,049 - - - - 661,049
Impairment of investments in joint IR & & AR RBE AT RE
ventures and associates WiRE 407,585 - - - - 407,585
Impairment of other receivables  EftFELL B & 4,151,208 - - - - 4,151,208
Remeasurement of financial BN EMBEREN
guarantee contracts 1,650,167 - - - - 1,650,167
Share of losses of joint ventures  FEIE & & AT EE 890,813 - - - - 890,813
Share of losses of associates ~ FE{LEHE AT 5B 257,127 - - - = 257,127
Write-down of properties under  #iBEBYEETERFE
development to net realisable
value 3,208,465 - - - - 3,208,465
Investments in joint ventures REEARRE 2,234,897 - - - - 2,234,897
Investments in associates RBEARRE 6,189,766 - - - - 6,189,766
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and EAHTEEAEYE BERRBURKE

equipment and investment properties.

[/ER
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BREHHWEH @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 B E2021F12831HLLEE
Property Property Property Hotel
development investment management operation Others Total
MR MELE MEEE EELE Eft 8%
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETFR AREFT
Segment revenue AEWA
Sales to external customers FSMBE P (LRI E R 26,236,144 302,949 520,035 12,113 - 27,071,241
Other income and gains HBA R B 153,008 9,153 3,161 21 14,428 179,771
Total FkE] 26,389,152 312,102 523,196 12,134 14,428 27,251,012
Segment results NEEE 2,744,297 442,260 83,812 (21,292) (45,198) 3,203,879
Reconciliation: £/
Interest income FIRWA 234,746
Finance costs BB A (276,097)
Profit before tax G EIEpe 3,162,528
Other segment information: ~ HthA &K
Depreciation e 30,510 27,834 6,306 3,121 1,309 69,080
Capital expenditure* BARRY 7,931 666,056 2,812 2,963 1,980 681,742
Fair value gain on investment ~ REWMERAEWRE FE
properties, net - 717,888 - - - 717,888
Remeasurement of financial BNHENBEREL
guarantee contracts 27,025 - - - - 27,025
Share of losses of joint ventures  FE{E & & AT G 38,394 - - - - 38,394
Share of profits of associates ~ FE{& B & /A B8 (326,990) - - - - (326,990)
Write-down of properties under  HiBE BN EETERFE
development to net realisable
value 390,000 - - - - 390,000
Investments in joint ventures REEARRE 3,308,932 - - - - 3,308,932
Investments in associates REERERE 7,096,217 - - - - 7,096,217
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EARLTOEABEYE BEARERKEY

equipment and investment properties. Ho
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. REDWEH @
(Continued)
Information about major customer FERREN
There were no sales to a single external customer which REE2021F K2022F12B31HIEEE»
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the BMEEE I BERNEEREEIRBB
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2022. REBUABIT10%
Geographical information Hh iy 5
Geographical information is not presented since over 90% of ERAEEBI0%NIIEEF WA KRB F
the Group’s revenue for external customers is generated in K BER B0 % M 72 B8 & E i 1Y P B K
Mainland China and over 90% of the segment assets of the ErorErEEINMEER AL EER
Group are located in Mainland China. Accordingly, in the opinion A 2AMEBENBEIFEEZEVERE
of the directors, the presentation of geographical information NEREREBINERANER
would provide no additional useful information to the user of
those financial statements.
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. UtA - HtUg A Rz
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is AEBHWA B A KW= 2
as follows: e
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®EF T
Revenue KA
Revenue from contracts with customers &/ SA9 &
Sale of properties Y E 26,288,907 26,236,144
Property management fee income MEEEEWRA 212,075 520,085
Hotel operation income BIEKE WA 9,483 12,113
26,510,465 26,768,292
Revenue from other sources H M AR 21
Rental income from investment properties & & #) 2 & WA 226,775 302,949
26,737,240 27,071,241
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. URA -~ Hfthig A KUKz s
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHNE
Disaggregated revenue information WA S HFER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2022F12A31HLELEFEE
Property Property Hotel
development management operation Total
MERE MEER BIELE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTR
Types of goods or services IR ER
Sale of properties MEHE 26,288,907 - - 26,288,907
Property management fee income MEBREWRA - 212,075 - 212,075
Hotel operation income BERERA - - 9,483 9,483
Total revenue from contracts with ERENNaERE
customers 26,288,907 212,075 9,483 26,510,465
Timing of revenue recognition W2 e SR
Goods transferred at a point in time ~ RE—HUEBER 26,288,907 - - 26,288,907
Services transferred over time R—BEEBHERR - 212,075 9,483 221,558
Total revenue from contracts EREHWRRRE
with customers 26,288,907 212,075 9,483 26,510,465
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F12A31HLEEE
Property Property Hotel
development management operation Total
MERE MEEE BIE S fmst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBFT
Types of goods or services BEmaRBER
Sale of properties MIEHE 26,236,144 - - 26,236,144
Property management fee income MEEBEURA - 520,035 = 520,035
Hotel operation income BIEEE WA - - 12,113 12,113
Total revenue from contracts ERaflaBE
with customers 26,236,144 520,035 12,113 26,768,292
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 e SRR
Goods transferred at a point Intime ~ RE-BREBER 26,236,144 - - 26,236,144
Services transferred over time R—BRREERRE - 520,035 12,113 532,148
Total revenue from contracts ERENNaERE
with customers 26,236,144 520,035 12,113 26,768,292
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

WA~ Bt A B W 2 @)

ERAHNWE @

KA IFEK ()
TREJGFARSHUESHNEBEMN AR
SRR ERAI M TR -

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Revenue recognised that was included FARSHIENEEN
in contract liabilities at the beginning BRI -
of the reporting period:
Sales of properties MEHE 15,572,836 10,744,127

(i)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of properties

For property sales contract for which the control of the
property is transferred at a point in time, the performance
obligation is satisfied when the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property is obtained by the
purchaser.

Property management income and hotel operation income
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered.

Property management and hotel operation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and short-term advances are
normally required before rendering the services. Property
management and hotel operation services are for periods
of one year or less, and are billed based on the time
incurred.

(ii)

BHEE
EHAEENENSEE SR
T

WEHE

HRRERBEBYEEFENYE
HEAN BRNEENRETREER
R ENBRERARNEEA KR

FERK ©

Y FEE WA R B EAEZ WA
BHABEERHERFRERBRET

W EEERBEEER
BHEFERERBRERBRET
MERERFZABREFTEZNRE
AR - YEEERBECEREH
IRA—F LT > I % 3 £ RV 5t
o
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MR RME @

31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA ~HMARWE @

(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers ZRESHKE @)
(Continued)
(i) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BHEE (B)
Property management and hotel operation services Yy M S R S [ A A R B (4
(Continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the R12B318 9B EG TBHNSEW
remaining performance obligations as at 31 December are REBEEWT
as follows:
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR¥EFTT
Amounts expected to be TEEAR R AN A B EE
recognised as revenue:
Within one year —FER 46,719 34,735
Other income and gains H g A R Wz
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains is as follows: AEBNWEMBA LRGN UT :
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AR¥EFTT
Bank interest income IRITH B A 188,924 234,746
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMB AN FEE
(note 41) (MF5E41) - 99,103
Gain on disposal of joint ventures and HESERRAKEE QTN
associates, net W & 558 62,840 =
Exchange differences, net PE R EREFRR - 15,712
Others HAth 78,751 64,956
330,515 414,517
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERAN DU :
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥FTT
Interest on bank loans, other loans, IWITEM HMMER - REEHF
corporate bonds and senior notes REFEEENFE 4,444,883 4,511,248
Less: Interest capitalised B BREF B (3,770,433) (4,235,151)

674,450 276,097
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

8. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. FR¥iAT (B518) FIiH
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBNRRA (BB /AR 06k
(crediting): G UTEEER
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Iz ARBTT AEREBFT
Cost of properties sold EEMEME 25,767,464 22,285,410
Cost of services provided Friz RS 2 A AR 244,779 725,181
Depreciation e 14 57,189 69,080
Loss/(gain) on disposal on HENBAS
subsidiaries, net* 518 (=) $5e 41 129,410 (99,103)
Realised loss on derivative TESMIACEIREE
financial instruments* - 11,194
Impairment of goodwill* e E" 17 661,049 =
Lease payments not included in KRt AHE&SE =M
the measurement of lease HENR
liabilities 51,516 51,190
Auditor’s remuneration 12 25 B #r B 8,000 12,500
Employee benefit expense EEGRHZH BREEK
(including directors’ and chief BEREHNITEFM (159))
executive officer's remuneration
(note 9))
Wages and salaries TERFE 492,744 708,341
Equity-settled share option MEREEERERS
expense 11,715 8,459
Retirement benefit scheme IRIREA] ET B AR
contributions 50,947 106,489
Less: amount capitalised B BAEEEE (86,654) (192,649)
468,752 630,640
Direct operating expenses BIRMEEREYEEEN
(including repairs and BEKLETH
maintenance) arising on (BIRMHIE R HE)
rental-earning
investment properties 40,670 44,337

Items are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

Iltem is included in “Other expenses” (2021: “other income and

gains”) in the consolidated statements of profit and loss.

*

HEFAGABEmRATEMBER -

EEFAGERmRA TEMMAZ (20214 :
TR A R R ) ©
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M mRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12531H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9.
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EEREFERITEFM

FEEESFKRERATEHFMRELTR
Al FEB R BRI E383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K(f)
Rk REEEN DAL RE B8
BWT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AER®BFT

Fees piok 516 797
Other emoluments: HiN % -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & 2B R B EF 4,124 4,357

Equity-settled share option expense MR EE RS 1,079 1,041

Pension scheme contributions BIRT B 182 261

5,385 5,659

5,901 6,456

In prior year, certain directors and the chief executive officer
were granted options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share option scheme of the Company, further details
of which are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amounts included
in the financial statements for the current and prior years are
included in the above directors’ and chief executive officer’s
remuneration disclosures.

During the financial year, no amounts were paid by the Group to
any of the highest paid individuals who are not a director of the
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
an compensation for loss of office.

RBEFE REAQGDBKRESS BT
EFZKERATERARSTFRAEAEREMHRZ
REMEERBRE ERE-—TFBHAN
MHRERNEIC - ZEBRECTHE B
FHEEANES Har@hREL AH
HE StATFERBEFENMBRE
WEBEDHHALAEETREFEATENFH
Bl 52 5% o

RYBEFE AEEHERTALIFESE
EREENRSHEEXAREBEESMA
AEBIMAZ%B KRS BER M

&
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

The remuneration of each of the directors and the chief

executive officer is set out below:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MERRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

9. EEKREERNITEFM @

BRUEFREFENTENFMEIIOT :

Salaries, Equity- Retirement
Performance allowances settled benefit
related  and benefits  share option scheme Total
Fees bonus in kind expense  contributions  remuneration
e 2R NEeGEHE BRI
fig BHTEA BNERN BREHE B Wesa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBFT AEEFT AEEFT AEEFT AEBFTT INE SO0
2022 2020
Executive directors: RITES !
Mr. Lam Lung On* MR RE - - 1,684 542 69 2,295
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan BEPLT - - 1,684 537 69 2,290
Mr. Lin Conghui gL E - - 756 - 44 800
- - 4,124 1,079 182 5,385
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Ms. Xie Mei (resigned on BELT (12023E3831R
31 March 2023) g - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES:
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEkEE 172 - - - - 172
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang (Y 172 - - - - 172
Dr. Zhai Pu B2EEL 83 - - - - 83
Mr. Yu Shangyou (appointed on T Ll s (R202256 824 A EZ M)
24 June 2022) 89 - - - - 89
516 - - - - 516
516 - 4,124 1,079 182 5,901
2021 20214
Executive directors: RITES !
Mr. Lam Lung On* WEZLE - - 1,666 523 58 2,247
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan PEELL - - 1,656 518 58 2,282
Mr. Lin Conghui MEELE - - 724 - 79 803
Ms. Lam Yu Fong (resigned on MBS YL
20 December 2021) (20215128208 §T) 299 - 3 - 66 676
299 = 4,357 1,041 261 5,958
Non-executive director: FHTES !
Ms. Xie Mei Bl s - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES:
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MERELE 166 - - - - 166
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang BEARE 166 - - - - 166
Dr. Zhai Pu BEfEL 166 = = = - 166
498 - - - - 498
797 = 4,357 1,041 261 6,456

*

Mr. Lam Lung On is also the chief executive officer of the Company.

*

MELEENBERBDZERERTE
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MR RME @

31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. EEREENITEHMN @
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (continued)
There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief RER BEEEHAEENTERERR
executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration BRINEFEAFHIMA 2

during the year.

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. A R=HES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two RER AR ReHEEEEMS (2021
(2021: two) director, details of whose remuneration are set out FIMmA) B 2SEENHFMNEBIMN
in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining EXHIEE SR T =% (20214 1 =4) EE
three (2021: three) non-director, highest paid employees for the ERoMEENEEFMNEBUWT -

year are as follows:

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #r s 2R EYEF] 6,817 11,885
Pension scheme contributions BRIASEEMER 208 245
Performance related bonus BERMATAL = =
Equity-settled share option expense Mg et BB RS - -
7,025 12,130

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest HFMAFE T HEENIIEEERIEFERE AT

paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following EREHEEAHAT

bands is as follows:

Number of employees

BEEAZ

2022 2021
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD 2,000,000 11,500,001t % % #2,000,0007T 1 =
HKD 2,500,001 to HKD 3,000,000 ##&2 500,0017%ZE % #3,000,0007¢ 1 =
HKD 3,000,001 to HKD 3,500,000 7 #3,000,001 7t ZE % #3,500,0007C - 1
HKD 3,500,001 to HKD 4,000,000 713,500,001t Z 7% #4,000,00075 1 =
HKD 5,000,001 to HKD 5,500,000 ##5,000,0017t % & #5,500,0007¢ - 1
HKD 6,000,001 to HKD 6,500,000 ##6,000,0017t % % 16,500,0007¢ - 1

Total 4EEt 3 3
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MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

11. INCOME TAX 11. FR1GH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the HRAEEBBFFEAEBRIEGEIEYR
current and prior year as the Group has available tax losses M AFERBFEEEENERRA
brought forward from prior years to offset the assessable profits ORI ERAFERBEFEEMRST AN
generated during the current and prior years. The income tax for BRELEGE RPEAELENHKB R
the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China is calculated at the BINPTEMRBHEFANERRA BZER
applicable tax rates on the taxable profits for the year. MEFHH-
An analysis of the income tax charge for the year is as follows: AEEMEBMRIZIHNZTUWT -
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®EF T
Current: BDER -
PRC corporate income tax Rl EMER
— Charge for the year —AFEZH 682,079 787,700
— Underprovision in prior years —BEEEREBERE 139,684 433,487
PRC land appreciation tax (note 33) PR - i E AR (B9 5E33) 339,126 666,108
1,160,889 1,887,295
Deferred: IRIE :
Current year KEE (1,049,206) (7,761)

Total tax charge for the year KEERBEZ HAEEE 111,683 1,879,534
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M mRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12531H

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

11. FRI81R @

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for Mainland China in which the majority
of the Group’s subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense for

the year, are as follows:

REAAERERNBIWBELRBRENTEH
RERZERXEBEARBERAFEH
MEMAXBAFEREMZNEERAOT !

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR¥FTT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRAG AT (B518) FHE (13,157,507) 3,162,528
Tax charge at the statutory income tax BEAEMESMESEN
rate MRIEF (3,289,377) 790,632
Adjustments in respect of current tax of ¥ LARTHEARE ENEAFR IB AV AR
previous periods 139,684 433,487
Profits and losses attributable to BE AR KREE AT
joint ventures and associates fE{LiEm 286,985 (72,149)
Income not subject to tax BIERE R WA (7,386) (3,928)
Expenses not deductible for tax AENREEZ 1,899,774 148,383
Tax losses not recognised REERRIBEE 827,659 83,528
LAT provided Bt T IR ER 339,126 666,108
Tax effect on LAT THIRERNRE R E (84,782) (166,527)
Tax charge MBS H 111,683 1,879,534

The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures
amounting to RMB183,757,000 (2021: RMB113,801,000)
is included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The share
of tax expense attributable to associates amounting to
RMB212,073,000 (2021: RMB198,893,000) is included in
“Share of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

EEAAELHRERIIA AR
183,757,0007c (20214 1 AR
113,801,0007T) * Est Adrai8m®x 2 [E
LEEABEBHEI P BEHBEARRIER
A ANRIEE212,073,00070 (20214F @ AR
#198,893,0007T) Bt A G BT R E
I E A B BEI P o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

12. IR 2

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥EFTT

Interim — Nil (2021: HK5.3 cents per FRHARRE —F (20214 | &%
ordinary share) 38 5.3 1) - 276,940

The directors did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, adjusted for the distribution related to senior perpetual
securities, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 6,543,909,500 (2021: 6,421,224,000) in issue less
the weighted average number of shares of 10,324,504 (2021:
4,256,611) held under the share award scheme during the year.

The calculation of the diluted (loss)/earnings per share amount
is based on the (loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders, adjusted for the distribution related to senior perpetual
securities, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the total of (i) the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue less the weighted
average number of shares held under the share award scheme
during the year, as used in the basic (loss)/earnings per share
calculation, and (i) the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares (see below).

EERNEZME E20224F K20214F12831
HIEFERGERPRE

13. BRAREEE TR ARGESR

(B518) &EF

BE2022F12A31HEFENESRES

(B518) /BASENZEA AR S EERR
BEABGERNGE (BEREBESHXEDSS
BREAMDIKEHBAR)  RERNBETEE
RS I0#E T 9 %16,543,909,50088 (20214 :
6,421,224,0008%) 1R 15 B 19 5% Bh 5+ 2 Fr
R N0 T 19 $010,324,504 88 (20214 ©
4,256,6118%) st & -

Sk#E (BB BINERTERIRTE
BRERDFAEARG (BB AE (EREA
SHRXERFABNDIRKEHBAR) 5t8
MmatBEFTANEBRMEFTIESOAR
SAESREA (BB /BYNNERSET
@R N T ORI Iz (0 L By 5t 8 PR
BROMEFHEZHE > k()RR
EEBESENZERRUBRFEETENE
BRECUEETLAZRTHEERINET
BHYZ2@M (RTX) °
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. l NEIEBREEITE AEEER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY B8) B @
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continued)
The calculations of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per SREARE®EE (BB BANGFELE
share are based on: 7?o
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥FTT
(Loss)/earnings (§538) & #)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to BRABHB AEEER
owners of the parent (&548) /7 H8 (12,014,860) 862,094
Distribution related to senior perpetual BB HRKERSFHNDIK
securities (144,133) (103,759)
(Loss)/profit used in the basic and diluted & MREAR K HE A =+ EFT A
earnings per share calculations B (&18) #HE (12,158,993) 758,335

Number of shares

nE-4=
2022 2021

Shares &1
Weighted average number of ordinary FABRTEERZIMEFS

shares in issue less the weighted average BUBAR IR 1D B2 Bh 5+ 8P4

number of shares held under the share RO MEFAEE BREES

award scheme during the year, used in BEAREF

the basic earnings per share calculation 6,533,584,996 6,416,967,389
Effect of dilution of share options — BREgETEE - BRI

weighted average number of ordinary T

shares - 203,644

Weighted average number of ordinary FRABRETEER ZIMEFS
shares in issue during the year, used in B AR ESREERT]
the diluted earnings per share calculation 6,533,584,996 6,417,171,033
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBWRME @

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

BERRMA

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Hotel Leasehold  and office Motor Construction
buildings  properties Yacht improvements  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
RELH REWE HA-RER
RigF BENE id; 4 #E  HAZHRH HE TEIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRT AREFT ARETR
31 December 2022 2022%12H31H
At 1 January 2022: 20221818 ©
Cost %S 1,966,486 457,709 98,347 14,072 117,203 77,212 238 2,731,327
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (196,936) (73,284) (36,545) (9,976) (90,936) (68,269) - (475,946)
Net carrying amount REPE 1,769,550 384,425 61,802 4,096 26,267 9,003 238 2,255,381
At 1 January 2022, net of 1202251 A1 MR Bt
accumulated depreciation & 1,769,550 384,425 61,802 4,096 26,267 9,003 238 2,255,381
Acquisition of subsidiaries through ~ BBEH &G INEKBAF
business combination - - - - 328 - - 328
Additions HE - - - - 205 - - 205
Disposals RE (12,796) - - - (347) (446) - (13,589)
Disposal of subsidlaries (note 41)  HEMBAT (fizF41) (14) - - - (4,928) (445) (238) (5,625)
Depreciation provided FREENTE
during the year (34,373) (6,544) (5,170) (2,348) (5,669) (3,085) - (57,189)
Transfer from property under ERETRNE
development 599,009 - - - - - - 599,009
Exchange realignment ERBEE 29,869 - 5,521 254 169 - - 35,813
At 31 December 2022, net of #20225128318
accumulated depreciation NBRE 2,351,245 377,881 62,153 2,002 16,025 5,027 - 2,814,333
At 31 December 2022: 1#2020512R8318
Cost (2 2,580,156 457,709 107,453 14,925 101,159 64,712 - 3,326,114
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (228,911) (79,828) (45,300) (12,923) (85,134) (59,685) - (511,781)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,351,245 377,881 62,153 2,002 16,025 5,027 - 2,814,333
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERHRE @
(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Hotel Leasehold  and office Motor Construction
buildings  properties Yacht improvements  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
HELTH HEWE K-£ER
kigF  BEME g BE BAZHRE RE RIR st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARSTR

31 December 2021 2021126318

At 1 January 2021: R2021F1618 :
Cost [N 2,075,826 457,709 101,297 14,003 126,500 89,216 127,049 2,991,600
Accumulated depreciation SEHIE (160,155)  (66,740)  (32,575) (7439  (99,974)  (76,105) - (442,988)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,915,671 390,969 68,722 6,564 26,526 13,111 127,049 2,548,612

At 1 January 2021, net of #2021E1818

accumulated depreciation MEREHTE 1,915,671 390,969 68,722 6,564 26,526 13,111 127,049 2,548,612
Acquisition of subsidiaries BREBSHIENREB

through business combination A7) (Kf340)

(note 40) - - - 211 1,936 612 - 2,759
Additions RE 9,286 = - 408 9,839 59 221 19,813
Write off Hss = = = = = (297) - (297)
Disposals RE (35,126) = = (247) (171) (179) - @Y
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) &t BA S (HizE41) (322,310) - - - (625) - - (322,985
Depreciation provided FREHRRITE

during the year (39,225) (6,544) (4,994) (2,707)  (11,301) (4,309) - (69,080)
Transfers B 126,900 - - - 132 - (127,032 -
Transfers from properties BEAREHERRNYE

held for sale 127,934 - - - - - - 127,934
Exchange realignment ERRE (13,580) - (1,926) (133) (69) - - (15,708)

At 31 December 2021, net of 220215128318 »

accumulated depreciation N REiE 1760550 884,425 61,802 4,006 26,267 9,003 238 2,255,381
At 31 December 2021: 12021128318 :
Cost 5 1966486 457,709 98,347 14072 117,208 77,272 238 2,781,327
Accumulated depreciation REtinE (196,936) (73,284) (36,545) (9,976) (90,936) (68,269) - (475,946)
Net carrying amount REFE 1769550 384,425 61,802 4,006 26,267 9,003 238 2,255,381
At 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets with aggregate R2022F12H31H  KEELENAR
carrying amount of approximately RMB293,538,000 #%293,538,0007t (20214 | AR
(2021: RMB313,809,000) and RMB296,280,000 (2021: 313,809,0007t) & AR #296,280,000
RMB302,199,000) were included in leasehold land and buildings 7t (20215 1 AR#302,199,0007) B9
and hotel properties, respectively, and the depreciation charged FTRAREESNGFAAE I RIEF Y
to profit or loss in the current year was RMB26,190,000 (2021: REBEYE MAFEREBERIORKRITE
RMB26,190,000) AR #26,190,0007c (202145 1 AR

26,190,0007T) °




BNEEZRAERARE 205
S CFEER

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. IR EWE

Under
Completed construction Total
BT T8 et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBETT AE®BFT ARETFIT
Carrying amount at 12020F12831H &

31 December 2020 and 20211 A1 HREE

1 January 2021 13,335,948 1,292,001 14,627,949
Additions AE 41,588 620,341 661,929
Exchange realignment PE R HEE (34,846) = (34,846)
Net gains/(losses) from fair NAERABWG, (BE)

value adjustments F R 810,230 (92,342) 717,888
Carrying amount at 122021128318 &

31 December 2021 and 2022F1B1HREREE

1 January 2022 14,152,920 1,820,000 15,972,920
Additions hE 4,952 251,873 256,825
Disposal BE (63,200) - (63,200)
Transfer from properties held &1 B FESHE BRI %

for sale 640,344 - 640,344
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BMWEBAR (FFsFs1)

(note 41) - (1,100,000) (1,100,000)
Exchange realignment PE R oE % 108,143 — 108,143
Net losses from fair value NABREEIEFEE

adjustments (8315,413) - (315,413)
Carrying amount at 20226128331 BIEREE

31 December 2022 14,627,746 971,873 15,499,619
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31 December 2022 20224 12531H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB7,434,300,000 (2021:
8,406,870,000) were pledged to banks to secure the bank loans
granted to the Group (note 30(a)(ii)).

The Group’s completed investment properties are leased to third
parties, further summary details of which are included in note 16.

The Group’s completed investment properties and investment
properties under construction were revalued on 31 December 2022
by Shenzhen Guoce Real Estate Land Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd and
31 December 2021 by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited and GCA Professional Services Group, independent
professional qualified valuers.

For completed investment properties, valuations were either based
on the capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary income potential
of the properties, or made with reference to comparable market
transactions taking into considerations of adjustments to reflect
differences in transaction timing, location and tenure.

For investment properties under construction which were stated at
fair value at the end of the reporting period, valuations were based
on the residual approach, and have taken into account the expended
construction costs and the costs that will be expended to complete
the development to reflect the quality of the completed development
on the basis that the properties will be developed and completed in
accordance with the Group’s latest development plan.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, for all investment
properties that are measured at fair value, the current use of the
properties is their highest and best use.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the investment properties
were measured at fair value.

Fair value hierarchy

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair value measurement of all
of the Group’s investment properties used significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 (quoted prices in active markets) and Level 2
(significant observable inputs) and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2021: Nil).

15. REYE @

M 5E

(a)

R2022F12B31H AEBETREELES
AR #7,434,300,0007T (20214 : AR
8,406,870,0007T) M EMEDIKIF FIRITIE
HAEBERBITERNIER (F5E30()(i0)) ©

FEENERTIREYELBTFE=H"EZ
BEEF BN E160

AEBNBR IR ENERTEEREYESRS
UEESERGEMAINTEREME L HE
EEERASN2022F12H31BE®UR
hEMTEET G RBAERABD R EERE
RIS EEP2021E12H31HE M

MERTIREMEMS  HEENBRERA
HHONEASBAFRERE LEESAER
EROEBRNEA ABETELRTEHR
FoUEERRMZZEE UERBONE
BITEH Z SR o

AR BEHEERFRLAABARNERRE
MEMS HEERGEZLZ LEREMER
B 7S e 70 e AR A 85 1 Sz tH B9 pl AR U BRE 92 T
FEEENRE REEZFYEREEAED
BYR AT 5t BB 3 R se ko

KABEERR RRAAESFBHRAERE
MEMS > ZEMENREBBRAHES UK
REMR-

12022 R2021512A318 IR EW #1I
BAREE-

NRERER

R2022F K2021F12831H AEEFMBERE
MENRAABEDRBIFTRENEZEH AR
(B3R (EEREBUBREERSE135R) 5t

=

==Y

FRRARBEFELERSE 1R GOUERHHH
RB) Bl AIRENTIZH ARE) 2B
LB PEEARNE L ER (2021F &) -
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Notes: (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Descriptions of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

15. REYE @

M © (48
() (#8)
NAERB R (B

HREVEGEERNGER EREIEBAHK

on investment properties: JREREA
Range or
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs weighted average
B * FFAIEENTE2EAKE EEINETH
2022
Completed and under
construction
B TR
Retail Income approach Estimated annual rental value/sq. m. (RMB) 5,000-43,000
BE WA E B S TARERESEE ARET
Capitalisation rate 5%-6.5%

Car parking spaces

ey

2021

Completed and under
construction

BT RERE

Retail

TE

Car parking spaces

FEs

Market approach
[EEZ A

Residual approach

BREE

Market approach
[EEZ A

Income approach

W&

Residual approach

BREE

Market approach
5%

BEAER

Unit price (RMB/sqg. m.)
BEARBT/FHK

5,000-524,000

Estimated annual rental value/sq. m. (RMB) 1,100-2,200
A EFARERSBE ARET)

Capitalisation rate 5%-6%
BAMEE

Development profit 5-15%

FEFH

Unit price (RMB/unit)
BE (AR B)

27,000-300,000

Estimated annual rental value/sq. m. (RMB) 1,500-80,000
A EFARERSBE ARET)

Capitalisation rate 3%-6.5%
BAEE

Estimated annual rental value/sq. m. (RMB) 1,300-2,300
A EFARERSBE ARET)

Capitalisation rate 5%
BARER

Development profit 5%-15%

FEFE

Unit price (RMB/unit)
BB (AR, 8)

110,000-500,000
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(©

(Continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in estimated annual rental value
per square metre in isolation would result in a significantly higher/
(lower) fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/
(decrease) in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a
significantly lower/(higher) fair value of the investment properties.
A significant increase/(decrease) in unit price would result in a
significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment properties.
A significant increase/(decrease) in development profit in isolation
would result in a significantly lower/(higher) fair value of the
investment properties.

The valuation of car parking spaces was determined based on unit
prices of comparable transactions with adjustment on dissimilar
attributes.

Development profit represented the adjustment on future uncertainty
in respect of properties under construction.

15. REYE @

Mz @ ()

(c)

(€=))

EHSTHREFEHSEEEBRRIEM (R
D) BLREMERARERBIEM, GRL)
ERCEEBRBABIEZM (L) gLREWE
RABRERLD, (BN) - BEKIEEM, (6
L) BLSREYEQRBAREM CRL) < B
BRI HBBABIEN, (L) BERREYE
BNARBERERD, (E0)

FESGEDNRIUEBLRIZEEBAETRE
MEEE

FREFER TR ERRIHEE L HE -
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16. LEASES
The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and to provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB226,775,000 (2021:
RMB302,949,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
financial statements.

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivables by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

16. HE
TEBREAHEA

AEERBELEHEZHHBEREY =
(MI5E15) - ZEHE KN — R IFE KK
MAZNRBSULREERFNTEREE
AR AEERFAERZNEE K
AAANRIE226,775,00070 (20214F © AR
#302,949,0007T) * BREAFE BN BER
U ETE

20225128310 BB A ERARBEE
A RECEHAENEW AR
ENHOT

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT

Within one year —FR 300,303 292,380
After one year but within two years —FREMEA 241,659 250,758
After two years but within three years ~ ME&B=FR 185,140 197,370
After three years but within four years =F#&BINER 71,462 153,866
After four years but within five years NEBEBRERN 87,398 47,588
After five years LF®E 227,055 352,234

1,113,017 1,294,196
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17. GOODWILL 17. &
RMB’000
AR®BFT
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of R2021F181H 2
accumulated impairment B s R REHRVE 741,202
At 31 December 2021: R2021%F12831H
Cost %N 1,252,720
Accumulated impairment REHRE (511,518)
Net carrying amount REZE 741,202
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R2022FF181H 2
accumulated impairment B s R REHRE 741,202
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 41) HE—RIBAT FizEs1) (14,190)
Impairment during the year FRRE (661,049)
At 31 December 2022 12022812 831H 65,963
At 31 December 2022: 7R20225%12831H
Cost BN 1,238,530
Accumulated impairment REEE (1,172,567)
Net carrying amount REZE 65,963
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17. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The Group’s goodwill acquired through business combinations
in the prior years were allocated to cash-generating units for the
property development segment, which were principally engaged
in the property development in the PRC, for impairment testing.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units (‘CGU”)
of the property development segment were determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using a cash flow projections
based on a financial budget covering a one-year period to five-
year period approved by management and cash flow beyond
the five-year period was extrapolated using a growth rate of
3% (2021: 3%). The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 6.26% (2021: 6.00%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
abovementioned property development segment’s CGU for
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The following
describes each key assumption on which management had
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Business environment — There was no major change in the
existing political, legal and economic conditions in the PRC in
which the cash-generating units carried on their business.

The management is of the view that the valuation techniques
and estimates the have taken into account the impact of the
deteriorated market environment. The recoverable amount
of the property development segment’s CGU assessed at
31 December 2022 was less than its carrying value due
to underperforming, as the result, the Group recognised
impairment of RMB661,049,000 in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss during the year.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

17. B2 @)

2R E R =

AHETHREIS AEERETFESEB
EBAHWBEZAEE SR EYERE DI
(FERFEREWERE) 2RSELEE
Lo MEBBDIPRSELEMN (BEE
B 2 REBIGENRFARERE
B UBEBHEZHMBEEE (1EHES
FH) AREEH) HENEREEET
MBHSFEHRNIRS REFEAHIRNIERE
el (20214 3%) cREMEFARAAA
BITIRE26.26% (20214 : 6.00%) °

AR LM ERE M ZREEEEMRN
2022912831 H K2021F12831HZfF
AEEEERRR - TXHMEREFEA
RERBLULETHERENSMMKENS

BHEZ/RK

HHEEF-FRFREXHFRA K KR AE R
BN ERE-

EHEE-ReErBUAREBFEN
B > IR BUA kR R AT IR B A 4
REAZH-

EEBRA HEAEIRGHAEZEIS
BIRIEZS{CWE E 1220225128331 HF
ENERE LIRS EEE M A IRE
THERERKXRBEXEMEPREEmE > R
FRAREFENRFEEGRBEIARE
661,049,0007T HY B 1E ©
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REEQRMNKE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT AR®BFT
Share of net assets EIEEERE 2,630,788 3,308,932
Impairment losses B E (395,891) =
2,234,897 3,308,932
Notes: B -
(@)  The Group’s other receivable balances due from joint ventures and (a) AEERKESEQATNEMBURRIBERRE
other payable balances due to joint ventures are disclosed in note 25 TEERENEMENRIBERD BB
and 29 to the financial statements, respectively. R R M sE25 K i 5£29 o
(b) Particulars of the Group’s principal joint ventures are as follows: (b) KEBTESEARNFEBUT -

Percentage of

THEEFREERE
Places of
Registered and  registration Ownership Profit

Company name capital paid-up capital and business Voting right interest sharing Principal activities

Gk HMRBRES ERREENE e FAEEZD FRAME TBER

Hefei Jinjiu Real Estate Development RMB200,000,000 PRC 40% 40% 40% Property development

Co., Ltd.? (Note)

BREENEHERZERATC (M) AE#200,000,0000t  HE MERE

Hefei Ruiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.® (Note) RMB1,000,000,000 PRC 40% 40% 40% Property development

aRREENERZEERAFC (i) AER#1,000,000,0007  HE LS

Chongging Tongrong Industrial Co., Ltd.® (Note) RMB700,000,000 PRC 49% 49% 49% Property development

EEREREEARATC () AER¥700,000,0007  +E MERE
All the above joint ventures are indirectly held by the Company and e aE AR HEAABMZFE Al
are not audited by Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited. R EEN ST ERRERABEZ
@ Registered as domestic limited liability companies under the @ BEFPEERAMABERARSESER

PRC law. ge

The English names of these entities represent the best effort made by HRZE AL RFMEMERNE R
the management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese WWEEYEB AR ERERNBEP XS

names as they did not register any official English names. TEEEEEMA -
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into
equity transfer agreements for the acquisition of the remaining equity
interests in former joint ventures, namely, Jumbo Ocean Development
Ltd and its subsidiaries. Further details are included in note 40 to the
financial statements.

(d) The Group assessed at the end of the reporting period whether
there was any indication that investments in joint ventures may
be impaired. The Group assessed the recoverable amount of
the joint ventures and led to the recognition of an impairment of
RMB395,891,000 during the year (2021: Nil).

(e) In the opinion of the Directors, the joint ventures were not individually
material to the Group in the current year. Hence, no disclosures of
their separate financial information have been made.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

18. M EEARINKE @

MisE o (48)

() EHZE2021FE1283 1B IEEE  AEBMUERT
EEARRBERERAANRENB AR 26
TRESTIIREEERZ E— P BHNY
HIRFRMI5E40 0

(d) AEERRSHBEREIGESETATR
BATNREELBRENABRHE FR > &%
BN EE AT N IR &8 HERREA
F2£395,891,0007T (20214 : #E) o

() EFIRH AFELESEQRFENHAED
BEZ FALTERERERNBIBHEER-

U] The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of (f TRINAEBEERANERMBER &
the Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: BaER L AELX :
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BFTT AREBT T
Share of the joint ventures’ loss for the year Db & & A B FEEBE (890,813) (38,394)
Share of the joint ventures’ total DMEEE R EmMI AL
comprehensive expense (890,813) (38,394)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ZHEBERESEQATZREM
investments in the joint ventures R 4R (E 2,234,897 3,308,932

(9) Certain of the bank and other borrowings of the Group’s joint
ventures are secured by pledges over the Group’s equity interests
in the joint ventures and the subsidiaries with an aggregate
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period of approximately
RMB26,519,000 (2021: RMB72,156,000).

(@ FTEESEARNE TRITREMMERUAE
EREERRAREWBATNRERRE AR
BIERE4E AL AR 126,519,0007T (20214 :
AR #72,156,00070) {EHE# o
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

19. REtEQRNKE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBFT AR®BFT

Share of net assets EEEEFE 6,201,460 7,096,217
Impairment losses THEE1E (11,694) -
6,189,766 7,096,217

Notes: FEE -

(a) The Group’s other receivable balances due from associates and other (a) SEENEREBEASNEMERRBERK
payable balances due to associates are disclosed in note 25 and FE A Bt A B B9 EL M FE A TRIB 4 B8R 0 B R BA 75
note 29 to the financial statements, respectively. HARMI 25 R M 29I B2 ©

(b) Particulars of the Group’s principal associates are as follows: (b) AEMFEHEATANFBEUNT

Percentage of

Registered and Places of registration ownership
Company name paid-up capital and business interest Principal activity
FELFR A R
RE L HEMRSERAE EMREEE @ADL FEEB
Shanghai Fumao Real-Estate RMB1,700,000,000 PRC/Mainland China 49%  Property development
Co., Ltd. (Note)
LBRXEERERAT (M) AER#1,700,000,0007c Bl R EIARE EUELa
Tianjin Jiayi Real Estate RMB900,000,000 PRC/Mainland China 33% Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (Note)
KEEEEMEMRERRAR AR900,000,0007t HE, HPEIARE MR
(M 5E)
Yangzhou Meizan Real Estate RMB2,691,603,200 PRC/Mainland China 30% Property development

Development Co., Ltd. (Note)
BN EEEMEZEBRAR
(i 5E)

AR #2,691,603,2007C

e R A RE

MR

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity
shares held by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Note: The English names of these entities represent the best effort

made by management of the Company to directly translate

their Chinese names as they did not register any official

English names.

FEBERBELATDNRELDBEARDZEN
BRBFANRE-

Mz ARNZEERTREIMERNERREXS
AL ARBDEEESR
NEEPEEAPXLEMSE -
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

The Group assessed at the end of the reporting period whether there
was any indication that investments in associates may be impaired.
The Group assessed the recoverable amount of the associates and
led to the recognition of an impairment of RMB11,694,000 during the
year (2021: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Yangzhou Meizan (2021:
Suzhou Jinshang), which is considered material associate of the
Group, a strategic partner of the Group engaged in the manufacture
of property development and is accounted for using the equity
method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Yangzhou Meizan and Suzhou Jinshang adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

19. NEEATNKRE @
MHsE @ (48)

()

AEERREHBGRETHEEESEEATR
BEIRARBMEABDRENEDRE ER > &E
[ BT 1 72 Bt/ B A9 AT U (2] < 4B o B 2R BB A
R #11,694,0007T (20214 : &) ©

REE2022F12831HIEFEE  BMEE
(20214F  BRINENA) (WEAXEENERH
ENE)) AREENSYEMENRIBSER
o MEAEREARC

TRV BRI ERZERFH AR A
REVBREAZREEETHRZBNES
RGN E 2 M BERE

Yangzhou Suzhou

Meizan Jinshang

EMNEE BRINEN R

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT AREFT

Current assets TMENE E 6,138,955 3,065,469

Non-current assets FEREEE 3,833 22

Current liabilities FrEha s (2,593,094) (316,869)

Non-current liabilities EREAEE (1,004,383) =

Net assets BEEFE 2,545,311 2,748,622
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest NEBMPHE QB S 2 BR

in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEEBEZLES 30% 33%

Carrying amount of the investment KRER@E 763,593 906,221

Revenue A 2,188 1,593,376

(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BB) HEF] (108,030) 93,910

Total comprehensive loss for the year FE2EEESE (108,030) 93,910
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. MEZEATNKRE @

Notes: (Continued) MiEE o ()
(e)  The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of () TRITAEEHEATNEMLTBER B
the Group’s associates that are not individually material: SR LAEK
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREETT
Share of the associates’ (loss)/profit DEBEAREE (5518 OHA
for the year (224,718) 233,080
Share of the associates’ total PMEBE LT EE
comprehensive (loss)/income (E518) /W ah 48 %8 (224,718) 233,080
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ANEBERBE QAT ZIREM
investments in the associates IR E4R(E 5,426,173 6,189,996
0] Certain of the bank and other borrowings of the Group’s associates () AEBABEATNE TRITREMBERUARE
are secured by pledges over the Group’s equity interests in the ERBEABNKRE RHRESHEANERTEE
associates with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the AR #140,000,0007T (20214 : %)) {FiE#H o
reporting period of RMB140,000,000 (2021: Nil).
20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. BARESABENEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Unlisted investments, at fair value ELEREE  BARENS 5,100 5,100
The above unlisted investments were classified as financial FRMFELTRECS D EARRANETAB
assets at fair value through profit or loss as the Group has not mNEMEE RRALXEE B REES
elected to recognise the fair value gain or loss through other BEMEEWBGUEIANEER ZE
comprehensive income. The investments represent the Group’s KREELAERRYTEAINE TAAEE

equity interests in certain private entities established in the PRC. B A% HE o
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22.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 21. BAREFARMEERTE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ERMEE
INCOME
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT
Unlisted investments at fair value ELEREE AR ENS 55,288 232,997
The above unlisted investment was classified as financial FRFEFLFMREE D EARAAETARE
asset at fair value through other comprehensive income. The tHeEBaNEREE - ZREEEQ
investment represented solely on Oaskwise Value Fund with fair fE#7,938,000% 7T (20214 : 36,771,000
value denominated on US$7,938,000 (2021: US$36,771,000). %7t) 2 Oaskwise Value Funde
LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY 22. FFMERZBHEREN L
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTFT ARBTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year ~ E#IRE %8 1,627,702 5,809,219
Additions during the year FRRNE 1,398,564 =
Transfer to properties under BT EYE
development = (4,181,517)
Carrying amount at end of year FERIREEEE 3,026,266 1,627,702
Portion classified as current assets DEARSHEENIED (1,624,455) (225,891)

Non-current assets EREEE 1,401,811 1,401,811
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31 December 2022 2022F12H31H

23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

23. TEYE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFT AR®BFT
Properties under development expected TEEAH H B & & EHENIE T K&
to be completed within normal DEANSEENTERYE
operating cycle and classified as FEEARS AR A UL(a]
current assets are expected to be
recoverable:
Within one year —FR 15,515,708 22,199,799
After one year — &% 18,048,946 25,231,571
33,564,654 47,431,370

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB7,940,920,000 (2021: RMB21,304,606,000) were pledged
to banks to secure certain of the bank loans granted to the
Group (note 30(a)(i)).

R2022FE 128310 A EEETRE4EE
A NR#87,940,920,0007 (20214F © AR
#21,304,606,0007T0) WIEEY X EIKFF
RTUEALAERERNAE TRITERDY
R (MFEE30(a)(i)) ©

24. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 24. FEHE ABRNWE
At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s properties held for R2022F 128310 AEBE G THREAEE
sale with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB1,619,973,000 A AR M1,619,973,00075 (20214F : AR
(2021: RMB1,854,641,000) were pledged to banks to secure #1,854,641,00070) MFEHE BRMNY)
certain of the bank loans granted to the Group (note 30(a)(iii)). XEEBRFRTUFATEERERENET
IRITERAIER (MFEE30(a) i) ©
25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. FE{TFR ~ H M A& U wk 15 e H 1th
AND OTHER ASSETS BE
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B s ARETT AREF T
Prepayments ?Eﬁ*h 4,560,936 4,044,176
Receivable from joint ventures B &EE ABRIE (b)(d) 15,539,049 24,066,044
Receivable from associates & LI&ZH%%E’“& BRI (b)(d) 4,734,606 5,016,524
Receivable from non-controlling & Ut /& A (b)(c)(e)
shareholders of subsidiaries 3FEH§H§¥%’XIE 2,222,415 2,462,073
Other receivables and other assets EftifEWRIE R EMEE (a)(c)(e) 20,135,573 11,533,457
Provision for ECLs on receivables &R & & /A B =IE - FEURL (©)(d)
from joint ventures, associates Bt N B IR e MR U
and other receivables MIBETEERE BBk BH (4,151,208) -
43,041,371 47,122,274
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25. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s other
receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB15,463,000 (2021: RMB36,540,000) were pledged to
banks to secure certain of the bank loans granted to the
Group (note 30(a)(iv)).

As at 31 December 2022, receivables due from joint
ventures, associates and non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

With respect of credit risk arising from other receivables
and other assets, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL with significant balances
individually. The credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but not credit-impaired due
to the deterioration of the financial position of some
particular debtor. The Group recognises the ECLs of
RMB2,263,802,000 which are measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

For receivables from joint ventures and associates,
the Group performed impairment assessment on each
joint venture and associate individually. Due to the
deterioration of the real estate industry in Mainland
China which affecting certain of the Group’s joint
ventures and associates were not satisfied their financial
performance and lead to the Group recognised the ECLs
of RMB1,112,824,000 (2021:Nil) and RMB774,582,000
(2021:Nil), respectively during the year.

The remaining financial assets include in the above
balance related to receivable for which these was no
recent history of default and past due months, and the
loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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25. FAAITR « Efth R UL TR I R H Ath

BE®
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26. RESTRICTED CASH, NON-PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL
MATURITY OF OVER THREE MONTHS
AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

26. ZRFIFE BV HAREB=
B zEIRREMERRRE
REEFEY

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREF T

Cash and bank balances B & MIRTT4E &R 7,139,430 17,519,931

Less: Restricted cash (note (c)) B ZIREIIRE (HeEc) (1,108,558) (968,378)
Less: Non-pledged time deposits with 78 : #J{AHARBB=EF =~

original maturity of over three BIRIRERER
months (400,000) (2,173,9006)
Cash and cash equivalents BaRIEEEEY 5,630,872 14,377,647

Notes:

(a)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB7,079,600,000
(2021: RMB15,863,029,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

A summary of the restricted cash of the Group as at 31 December
2022 is as follows:

(i) Certain property management companies of the Group are
required to place part of their management fees received at
banks as guarantee deposits for the public maintenance fund
of the related properties. The deposits can only be used for
the maintenance of the relevant properties. At 31 December
2022, such guarantee deposits amounted to RMB2,913,000
(2021: RMB10,017,000).

M EE -

IRITERRBEE BIRTERFFRT B BRIF
Be

RREPEERFT AEENRS RIETHE
BUARMESE 2 ARM7,079,600,0007T
(20214 : AR #15,863,029,0007T) ° ARH#E
THEBRRBRAEMEN A RIEFE A
EHNINEEGEHREE EERCESER
B AEBRENESBEEETIEEENIR
TRARERBRAEME

RERP2022F 12831 BN Z REI R S HE
mE

0] NEBETYECEATNARBOEA
HNEWEEBEEFZART (EABRYE
NHEFEEESNERRS 2SR
A AR BRI ENHEE - R2022F128
31H > Z2FERZEEA ARKE2,913,000
7t (20214 : AR #10,017,0007T) ©
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26. RESTRICTED CASH, NON-PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL
MATURITY OF OVER THREE MONTHS
AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

A summary of the restricted cash of the Group as at 31 December
2022 is as follows: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

As further detailed in note 43(a) to the financial
statements, guarantee deposits of RMB90,504,000 (2021:
RMB62,323,000) as at 31 December 2022 were pledged
to banks which provide mortgages to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties, for potential default of mortgage loans
advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits
will be released after the property ownership certificates of the
relevant properties have been passed to the banks.

According to relevant loan facility agreements signed
by certain subsidiaries of the Group with the banks, the
subsidiaries are required to place the pre-sale proceeds of
their properties at designated bank accounts. The deposits
can only be used for the payment of property development
costs incurred by the subsidiaries and the repayment of
the relevant loans. At 31 December 2022, such deposits
amounted to RMB394,970,000 (2021: RMB473,622,000).

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are required to place certain
amounts at specific bank accounts as guarantee deposits
for the use of the loan proceeds. At 31 December 2022, the
aggregate amount of such deposits was RMB61,983,000
(2021: RMB422,416,000) (note 30(a)(vii)).

The restricted balances, involved in outstanding litigation
and arbitration cases, of certain subsidiaries of the Group is
RMB558,188,000.

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represent sales proceeds received from
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sales of properties.

The decrease in balance of contract liabilities was mainly due to
less pre-sales of properties during the year.
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28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. B S E{HTRIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the R EHEERE > B 5 &N NIE %3 A
reporting period, based on the due date, is as follows: HEFWERE WO T :
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETFIT
Due within 1 year or on demand 1ERNFBERERFEE 5,711,349 3,542,944
Due within 1 to 2 years 1E2FENBEE 3,468,262 3,267,257
9,179,611 6,810,201
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured. BEEMARIEAN T ERERR
29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HitEH R IEKREASER
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
IS ARETF T AR®ETF T
Accruals FESTE R 1,983,364 2,807,340
Other payables HMEA I (a) 9,791,152 8,947,371
Amount due to joint ventures B &E A BRI () 1,853,896 3,913,091
Amount due to associates FE S B & A B 3R 1B (a) 1,977,170 1,536,739
Amount due to non-controlling ENAEENB AR
shareholders of the Group’s FEPERG AR RN IE
subsidiaries (@) 1,187,369 2,492,853
Proceeds from REELZFESERZDN
asset-backed securities Frigs1a (b) - 1,058,733
Financial guarantee contract HEIEREH (© 1,744,051 27,025
18,537,002 20,783,152
Notes: B
(a) These balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms (a) ZEGHBERER REEEBEERBR-

of repayment.
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

The balance represented proceeds, after deduction of certain
percentage of upfront fee, received from specific purpose entities
(“SPEs”) set up by financial institutions in the PRC for the issuance of
asset-backed securities, to which the Group has transferred the right
of receipt of the remaining sales proceeds of certain properties to be
delivered by the Group. Under the assignment arrangement between
the Group and the SPEs, as and when the Group receives the sales
proceeds from customers, the Group would remit to the holder of
the asset-backed securities any cash flows it collects on behalf of
the SPEs. During the year, the asset-backed special program was
terminated and the remaining outstanding balances have been
settled.

As at 31 December 2022, the financial guarantee contracts
represent guarantees given to financial institutions in connection
with facilities granted to independent third parties. The independent
third parties’ loan facilities granted by the financial institutions were
RMB4,647,483,000 (2021: RMB4,226,351,000), of which was fully
utilised by the independent third parties. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over the guarantees.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited
circumstances. All guarantees are approved by the directors and
senior management.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of
the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is
measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on
the expected payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the financial
institutions) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the debtors (i.e., the independent third
parties). During the year, a ECL allowance of RMB1,650,167,000
(2021: RMB27,025,000) was further provided due to the deterioration
of the financial position of the independent third parties.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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29. HfthEIRRIERESHER @
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. stRIBITREMMEE
BORROWINGS
2022 2021
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIEFIE(%) AE  AREFR BENE%) AR AR®TR
Current ENA
Bank loans-secured RITER-FEHE 3.97-8.55 On demand/ 3,367,275 4.45-9.50  On demand/ 4,135,102
2023 2022
Other loans-secured HMER-H %R 4.75-11.00 &REX 2023 3,670,618  4.75-10.70 1®EX /2022 324,680
Non-current JEEPHR
Bank loans-secured BITER-HHRA 3.97-7.60  2024-2027 4,614,866 445950  2023-2037 9,840,327
Other loans-secured HER-FEH 11.00 2024 653,000 4751070  2023-2027 969,950
5,267,866 10,810,277
12,305,759 15,270,059
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETFT AER®BEFT
Analysed into: DMTE
Bank loans repayable: EEERRITEMREAR :
Within one year or on demand P1FERHEZEXR 3,367,275 4,135,102
In the second year N2 1,548,155 2,778,693
In the third to fifth years, inclusive NREIEEFESFE
(BiIEERMF) 2,209,459 5,680,396
Beyond five years 5% 1 857,252 1,381,238
7,982,141 13,975,429
Other loans repayable: BEZEMERWHAR
Within one year or on demand P1ERDEEK 3,670,618 324,680
In the second year N2 653,000 969,950
4,323,618 1,294,630
12,305,759 15,270,059
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured or
guaranteed by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately RMB7,940,920,000 (2021:
RMB21,304,606,000) (note 23);

(ii) pledges over the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of approximately RMB7,434,300,000 (2021:
RMB8,406,870,000) (note 15(a));

(i) pledges over the Group’s properties held for sale with an
aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of approximately RMB1,619,973,000 (2021:
RMB18,546,641,000) (note 24);

(iv) pledges over the Group’s other receivables with an aggregate

carrying amount at the end of the reporting period of

approximately RMB15,463,300(2021: RMB36,540,000) (note

25);

(v) pledges over the Group’s equity interest in subsidiaries;
(vi) corporate guarantees executed by certain subsidiaries

of the Company and the Company to the extent of
RMB4,976,264,000 (2021: RMB9,067,149,000); and

(vii) certain deposits with an aggregate amount of RMB61,983,000
(2021: RMB422,416,000) placed by certain subsidiaries of the
Company at specific bank accounts as guarantee deposits for
the use of the loan proceeds as at 31 December 2022 (note

26(c)(iv)).

The Group’s bank and other borrowings with carrying amounts of
RMB7,458,154,000 (2021: RMB12,154,626,000), RMB863,748,000
(2021: RMB1,251,028,000) and RMB3,983,857,000 (2021:
RMB1,864,405,000) are denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars
and United States dollars, respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group failed to comply with certain
covenants of certain bank loans with an aggregate carrying amount
of RMB580,929,000 (2021: RMB721,684,000) which in turn
permitted the lenders to demand for accelerated repayment, and
resulted the classification as current liabilities as at 31 December
2022.
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31. CORPORATE BONDS 31. AEMEFH
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT
Corporate bonds due in 2024 2024F I AT EH 2,000,000 3,500,000
Corporate bonds due in 2025 2025F HIAN A BB S 2,850,000 3,000,000
4,850,000 6,500,000
Portion classified as current liabilities D $EA R E BRI D (4,850,000) (4,500,000)
Non-current liabilities EREHEE - 2,000,000

Included in the above are bonds in an aggregate principal EXBEEUATRERENES

amount of:

()  RMB2,000,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2024 issued ) TrE—BEHWEBARARANR2019F
by a subsidiary of the Company in April 2019 (the “6.5% 4B ET2024F BN AR
Corporate Bonds”). The 6.5% Corporate Bonds have a 2,000,000,000c AR ESH (6.5
term of five years and bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per BATMES]) 6. 5BATREBEESARR
annum. The 6.5% Corporate Bonds are unsecured. At the F B F65EFE 6.5BERABES
end of the second, third and fourth year, the subsidiary AEEF - RNE_ER-FZFEXRM
of the Group shall be entitled to adjust the coupon FBOER AEEBNHRB LB #EH
rate of corporate bonds and the bond holders shall be BNBEFNEBNE MESHSE
entitled to sell back the bonds to the Group. The 6.5% ABEHRAAREERLREES 6.5BRH
Corporate Bonds are classified as a current liability as at EHER2022F 12831 D EARH
31 December 2022 and a non-current liability as at 31 BEK2021F12831HDEAIER
December 2021. EB=Ki

(i)  RMB1,500,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2024 issued iy XA —BWBLABNR2019F
by a subsidiary of the Company in April 2019 (the “7.5% 4B EET2024FE BN AR
Corporate Bonds”). The 7.5% Corporate Bonds have a 1,500,000,000c AR EH (7.5
term of five years and bear interest at a rate of 7.5% per ERATES]) - 7T5EATEEARR
annum. The 7.5% Corporate Bonds are unsecured. At the FoREF7T5EFE 7T 5ERAE
end of the third year, the subsidiary of the Group shall be SABER RE=ZFR AEED
entitled to adjust the coupon rate of corporate bonds and B AR BRAERLAINEFNETH
the bond holders shall be entitled to sell back the bonds EoMESFHEABEROAEERLDE
to the Group. During the year, the Group has fully repaid BHE - FERN  AEEBEEXHENZE

the corporate bonds. NEMEFH
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31. CORPORATE BONDS (continued)

(i)

RMB1,500,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2025 issued
by a subsidiary of the Company in July 2020 (the “6.5%
Corporate Bonds II"). The 6.5% Corporate Bonds Il have
a term of five years and bear interest at a rate of 6.5% per
annum. The 6.5% Corporate Bonds Il are unsecured. At
the end of the second and fourth year, the subsidiary of
the Group shall be entitled to adjust the coupon rate of
corporate bonds and the bond holders shall be entitled
to sell back the bonds to the Group. During the year, the
Group has repaid RMB75,000,000 of the corporate bonds
and the remaining balance is RMB1,425,000,000 as at
31 December 2022. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group has agreed to change of repayment
terms with respective bondholders in which the remaining
balance of RMB1,425,000,000 6.5% Corporate Bonds
[l are becoming due in 2023 and therefore classified
as current liability as at 31 December 2022. The 6.5%
Corporate Bonds Il are classified as a current liability as at
31 December 2021.

RMB1,500,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2025 issued
by a subsidiary of the Company in September 2020 (the
“6.5% Corporate Bonds IlI"). The 6.5% Corporate Bonds
[l have a term of five years and bear interest at a rate
of 6.5% per annum. The 6.5% Corporate Bonds Il are
unsecured. At the end of the second and fourth year,
the subsidiary of the Group shall be entitled to adjust the
coupon rate of corporate bonds and the bond holders
shall be entitled to sell back the bonds to the Group.
During the year, the Group has repaid RMB75,000,000
of the corporate bonds and the remaining balance is
RMB1,425,000,000 as at 31 December 2022. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has agreed to
change of repayment terms with respective bondholders
in which the remaining balance of RMB1,425,000,000
6.5% Corporate Bonds Il are becoming due in 2023 and
therefore classified as current liability as at 31 December
2022.The 6.5% Corporate Bonds lll are classified as a
current liability as at 31 December 2021.
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31. ABMEF @)

(iff)
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(a) In October 2016, the Company issued the 2016 Senior Notes-6%
with an aggregate principal value of US$250,000,000 (approximately
RMB1,695,000,000). The net proceeds, after deducting the issuance
costs, amounted to approximately US$246,375,000 (approximately
RMB1,670,000,000). The 2016 Senior Notes— 6% will mature on 25
October 2023.

32. SENIOR NOTES 32. BEER
2022 2021
Effective Effective
interest interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIEFE(%) AHME ARETRT BEIE%) AHE ARBTR
2016 Senior Notes-6% 2016FEBRLEE— 6% 6.26 2023 1,732,254 6.26 2023 1,586,948
2017 Senior Notes-6% 017EBELEE—6% 6.35 2022 81,803 6.35 2022 2,167,224
2019 Senior Notes-8.625% 2019 B %L ZHE— 8.625% 9.40 2022 98,957 9.40 2022 1,542,649
2019 Senior Notes 1-8.5% 2019 B L EE——85% 8.81 2023 3,480,241 8.81 2023 3,177,845
2019 Senior Notes 11-8.5% 2019FBRAEE "—8.5% 8.85 2024 3,458,598 8.85 2024 3,166,252
2019 Senior Notes-6% 2019FBAEE— 6% 7.74 2023 2,763,094 7.74 2023 2,487,760
2019 Senior Notes-8.375% 2019 B R ER—8.375% 8.63 2024 3,463,812 8.63 2024 3,167,929
2019 Senior Notes-8.3% 2019EBLEE—8.3% 8.56 2025 3,398,521 8.56 2025 3,106,033
2020 Senior Notes-7.375% 2020EBLER—7.375% 7.52 2026 4,426,678 7.52 2026 4,050,700
2020 Senior Notes-7.7% 202005 BRER-7.7% 7.87 2025 2,775,495 7.87 2025 2,538,146
2020 Senior Notes-7.85% 2020EBEERE—7.85% 8.01 2026 2,044,072 8.01 2026 1,869,074
2021 Senior Notes-6.35% 2021 B R ER—6.35% 6.36 2027 3,858,924 6.36 2027 3,550,782
2021 Senior Notes-8.5% 01 EBRLERE—85% 18.06 2022 801,326 18.06 2022 708,546
2021 Senior Notes-9.95% 2021 EBEEHE—9.95% 14.06 2023 1,215,539 14.06 2023 1,072,040
2021 Senior Notes-12% 021 FBAELE—12% 14.66 2023 696,774 17.79 2022 620,455
2022 Senior Notes-7.8125%  2022F B L E#H—7.8125% 10.07 2023 3,668,645 - - -
37,964,733 34,812,383

Portion classified as current D EARBEENHS
liabilities (Note) (Bt 55) (37,964,733) (5,038,874)
Non-current portion JERNERED - 29,773,509

Notes: B -

(a) R2016F 108 ARBETEAESHLE
250,000,000% 7t (49 A & #1,695,000,0007T)
BI2016E B A ZIE—6% - IR ETEREBN
FriS R IB 3 5849 75246,375,000% 7T (WA R
1,670,000,0007T) ° 20164 B B4 — 6% 1
20235108250 EIHf -




32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0)

In January 2017, the Company issued 2017 Senior Notes-6% with
an aggregate principal value of US350,000,000 (approximately
RMB2,410,277,000). The net proceeds, after deducting the
issuance costs, amounted to approximately US$343,700,000
(approximately RMB2,396,000,000). In October 2021, the
Company early redeemed part of the 2017 Senior Notes-6% with
a principal amount of US$10,000,000 at the redemption price of
US$6,979,000 (approximately RMB44,222,000). In January 2022,
the Company conducted the exchange offer to exchange notes with
new notes with an extended maturity and terms. According to the
exchange offer, 2017 Senior Notes-6% with a principal amount of
US$328,056,000 was exchanged. In March 2022, the Company early
redeemed part of the 2017 Senior Notes-6% with a principal amount
of US$200,000 at the redemption price of US$26,500 (approximately
RMB205,375). The remaining principal of 2017 Senior Notes-6% in
the amount of US$11,744,000 matured on 25 January 2022 without
any settlement.

In January 2019, the Company issued 8.625% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes — 8.625%”") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,373,600,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,901,000 (approximately RMB3,339,199,000).
In December 2019, the Company early redeemed part of the 2019
Senior Notes — 8.625% with a principal amount of US$257,931,000
at the redemption price of US$280,178,000 (approximately
RMB1,951,244,000) representing 108.625% of the principal amount
together with accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption
date. In January 2022, the Company conducted the exchange offer
to exchange notes with new notes with an extended maturity and
terms. According to the exchange offer, 2019 Senior Notes-8.625%
with a principal amount of US$227,628,000 was exchanged. The
remaining principal of 2019 Senior Notes — 8.625% in the amount
of US$14,441,000 matured on 23 January 2022 without any
settlement.

In January 2019, the Company issued 8.5% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes | — 8.5%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,354,050,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,912,000 (approximately RMB3,319,922,000).
The 2019 Senior Notes | — 8.5% will mature on 4 February 2023.
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R2017FE1B  ARB#ETASBE
350,000,000% 7t (49 A #2,410,277,0007T)
F2017TEBEEIE 6% KM ETEREN
P18 30853 3840 7343,700,000E T (W AR
2,396,000,0007T) ° 220215108 » " AT
S B[O A £ %510,000,0003E T B EF 92017 E 2
L —6% HE[EE46,979,000F 7T (AR
#44,222,0007T) ° fR2022FE1 8 AATE#
AXBEBL UXBRERRENTZE -RIE
TIREL » A F8328,056,000%E TTHI201 74
BEAEE-6%BETRIMR2022F38 » &
A FEIR PO A £ 2E200,0003 TR E 92017
FBEEER—-6% EOE526,5005%= 7T (WA
R #5205,3757T) © 201 7E B Z 45 — 6% T &%
A EE11,744,000% T 122022461 B25H 2 £
B REE-

R2019F 1A XA HETEAETRAE
500,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #3,373,600,000
J0) #98.625% B R EH (20195 B KR
% —8.625% 1) IR BTEREBNRE
FIEFEEX 494,901,000 T (WARKE
3,339,199,0007T) ° 220195128 » A AT
FHE[O A& %8257,931,000E T Z 2019
FIEfZEH, —8.625% > BE[E1{E A280,178,000
£ (WARME1,951,244,00070  HHE RN & &
EEM108.625%)E R & E &l B AV Estm
KRAAF B e R2022F18  KAATBETRHE
A URBERRENTZR - RIEHBRE
4 K& %8227,628,000F TTHI2019FE B KL E
¥ —8.625%E TR 2019F B R ZHE —
8.625% K RIER A& %E14,441,0003E ;TR 2022
F1H23H B MBI R EE -

R2019F 1A XA HETEAETRAE
500,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #3,354,050,000
7T) MI8.5%BALEEE (T 2019F BLEEZHE——
8.5% 1) o INFRETEBEBIAMERIEFEN
#%494,912,000% 7T (K9 AR 13,319,922,000
7t) ° 2019 B EIHE——8.5% 1 112023F24
4HEIHR 0
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32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

In February 2019, the Company issued 8.5% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes Il — 8.5%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,351,195,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$493,000,000 (approximately RMB3,304,278,000).
The 2019 Senior Notes Il — 8.5% will mature on 26 February 2024.

In July 2019, the Company issued 6% senior notes (the “2019 Senior
Notes — 6%”") with an aggregate principal value of US$400,000,000
(approximately RMB2,654,619,000). The net proceeds, after
deducting the issuance costs, amounted to approximately
US$376,379,000 (approximately RMB2,497,859,000). The 2019
Senior Notes — 6% will mature on 25 October 2023.

In October 2019, the Company issued 8.375% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes — 8.375%”") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,504,550,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,902,000 (approximately RMB3,468,821,000).
In March 2020, the Company early redeemed part of the 2019 Senior
Notes — 8.375% with a principal amount of US$3,000,000 at the
redemption price of US$2,065,000 (approximately RMB13,481,000).
The remaining principal of 2019 Senior Notes - 8.375% in the
amount of US$497,000,000 will mature on 30 October 2024.

In November 2019, the Company issued 8.3% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes - 8.3%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,514,991,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,000,000 (approximately RMB3,472,811,000).
In March 2020, the Company early redeemed part of the 2019
Senior Notes — 8.3% with a principal amount of US$5,000,000
at the redemption price of US$3,546,000 (approximately
RMB23,150,000). During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Company early redeemed part of the 2019 Senior Notes — 8.3% with
total of the principal amount of US$9,000,000 at the redemption
price of US$7,943,000 (approximately RMB50,330,000). The
remaining principal of 2019 Senior Notes - 8.3% in the amount of
US$486,000,000 will mature on 27 May 2025.

32. BhEE w
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R2019F 2R AABHETEAETRAE
500,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #3,351,195,000
7T) MI8.5%BA T (T 2019F BAEEZHE - —
8.5% 1) IR ETEHBNAMBRIBFEN
#493,000,000% 7T (49 AR 13,304,278,000
7T) 2019 B L EE — —8.5% 15 20245FE28
26 ZIHF -

R2019F 7R AABHETEAERAE
400,000,000% 7t (A9 AR #2,654,619,000
7o) BI6%EBAZH (T2019F B A ZH —
6% ) BB TERBNFASNEFEY
#376,379,000% 7t (#9 AR #2,497,859,000
70) ° 2019 B EHE —6%HF 722023510525
HEIf-

R2019F 108 AR AT A EE
500,000,000 7t (49 AR #3,504,550,000
JC) BI8.375% B R EHR (T 2019F B R E
#—8.375% 1) IR BETERABNE
TIEF A 494,902,000 7T (WARKE
3,468,821,0007T) ° iR20205E38 » KA TRE
8% [0] 4 2 83,000,000 FTAI 2R 3201 9 B 5
ZH—8.375% > BE[EI1E%2,065,000% 7T (49
ANER#13,481,00070) °2019F B EHK —
8.375% M Fl #% A< s 88497,000,000% 7T #F i
2024108308 EI -

R2019F 118 xR BHETRESHEE
500,000,000% 75 (K9 AR #3,514,991,000
7T) B98.3% B ZiE (1 20194 B L Zik —
8.3% 1) o KM BFTERBIMEHIEFEY
#494,000,000% 7t (A AR 13,472,811,000
7T) °R2020F38 ARG REELAEEE
5,000,000 T M & D201 9F B R ZH —
8.3% > BE[E{B 43,546,000 T (WARK
23,150,0007t) ° RE £2021F12H318 1k
FE > ARBIRFELEAE4%E9,000,000%
TR R2019FEBHREHE—8.3% BEER
7,943,000% 7T (%9 A R #50,330,0007T) °2019
F B R EHE—8.3%8) Fl #f 74 £ 48486,000,000
E T R2025F5827HEI R ©
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32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

In January 2020, the Company issued 7.375% senior notes (the
“2020 Senior Notes — 7.375%”") with an aggregate principal value
of US$645,000,000 (approximately RMB4,440,581,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$640,455,000 (approximately RMB4,409,290,000).
In March 2020, the Company early redeemed part of the 2020 Senior
Notes — 7.375% with a principal amount of US$1,500,000 at the
redemption price of US$997,000 (approximately RMB6,509,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company early
redeemed part of the 2020 Senior Notes - 7.375% with total of
the principal amount of US$7,000,000 at the redemption price of
US$5,932,000 (approximately RMB37,588,000). The remaining
principal of 2020 Senior Notes — 7.375% in the amount of
US$636,500,000 will mature on 13 January 2026.

In February 2020, the Company issued 7.7% senior notes (the
“2020 Senior Notes - 7.7%”") with an aggregate principal value
of US$400,000,000 (approximately RMB2,809,363,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$397,166,000 (approximately RMB2,789,460,000).
The 2020 Senior Notes — 7.7% will mature on 20 February 2025.

In August 2020, the Company issued green senior notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000 (approximately
RMB2,088,540,000) bearing interest at 7.85% per annum. The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$296,000,000 (approximately RMB2,060,693,000).
In March 2021, the Company early redeemed part of the senior notes
with a principal amount of US$5,000,000 at the redemption price
of US$4,311,000 (approximately RMB28,305,000). The remaining
principal of senior notes in the amount of US$295,000,000 will
mature on 12 August 2026.
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R2020F 1A XA HTEAETRAE
645,000,000% ¢ (Y9 AR #4,440,581,000
JC) B97.375% B R EH (T 20208 B KR
B—7.375%)) - BBETERBNFRE
RIEFEH 640,455,000 (WARE
4,409,290,0007t) ° 2020538 » A AT R
PO A £ %E1,500,0003 T 8 D 20204 8
SRR —7.375%  BE[BfE 4997,000% 7T (4
AR #6,509,0007T) ° RE E2021F12831H
IEFEE > A AT IRFPER A $4E%87,000,000
ETHHLN2020FBAEIH—7.375% > &
[Bl{8 #5,932,000% 7t (A9 AR 537,588,000
JT) ©2020F B AR EH —7.375% M FIgR A 48
636,500,000 7T 122026515 13H EIHA ©

R2020F 2R  ARBETASEE
400,000,000% 7¢ (Y AR #2,809,363,000
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#397,166,000% 7t (A9 AR #2,789,460,000
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20H EIff -

R2020F8R A ABHTAELRE
300,000,000% 7t (49 A & #2,088,540,0007T)
& BEIZIR HEFIFT.85%:T B o £k
BITEREBNMSHIEFEE4A296,000,000
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32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

In January 2021, the Company issued green senior notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$562,000,000 (approximately
RMB3,635,232,000) bearing interest at 6.35% per annum. The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$556,853,000 (approximately RMB3,601,939,000).
In March 2021, the Company early redeemed part of the 2021 Senior
Notes - 6.35% with a principal amount of US$5,000,000 at the
redemption price of US$4,386,000 (approximately RMB28,798,000).
The remaining principal of 2021 Senior Notes — 6.35% in the amount
of US$557,000,000 will mature on 13 January 2027.

In September 2021, the Company issued green senior notes with
an aggregate principal amount of US$120,000,000 (approximately
RMB774,792,000) bearing interest at 8.5% per annum. The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$109,912,000 (approximately RMB709,658,000).
In November 2021, the Company early redeemed part of the senior
notes with a principal amount of US$5,000,000 at the redemption
price of US$5,000,000 (approximately RMB31,935,000). During
the year, the remaining principal of senior notes in the amount of
US$115,000,000 matured on 22 September 2022 without any
settlement.

In August 2021, the Company issued green senior notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000 (approximately
RMB1,291,320,000) bearing interest at 9.95% per annum. The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$186,727,000 (approximately RMB1,205,622,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company early
redeemed part of the senior notes with total of the principal amount
of US$21,000,000 at the redemption price of US$19,751,000
(approximately RMB125,150,000). The remaining principal of senior
notes in the amount of US$179,000,000 will mature on 27 August
2023.

In July 2021, the Company issued green senior notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (approximately
RMB652,500,000) bearing interest at 12% per annum. The net
proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$94,901,000 (approximately RMB619,229,000).
During the year, the Company amended the 12% Senior Notes
originally due 2022 to 12% Senior Notes due 2023. The senior notes
will mature on 30 September 2023.
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32. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(P)

In January 2022, the Company issued news senior notes to
conducted the exchange offer with an aggregate principal amount
of US$527,899,800 (approximately RMB3,416,145,186) bearing
interest at 7.8125% per annum. The net proceeds, after deducting
the issuance costs, amounted to approximately US$516,910,350
(approximately RMB3,345,030,254). The senior notes will mature on
30 January 2023.

The Company, at its option, can redeem all or a portion of the
senior notes at any time prior to the maturity date at the redemption
prices (principal amount plus applicable premium) plus accrued and
unpaid interest up to the redemption date, as set forth in the written
agreements between the Company and the trustees of the senior
notes.

The senior notes of the Group are denominated in United States
dollars and are secured by pledges over the equity interests of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group failed to pay
off a US$389,203,000 (equivalent to RMB2,689,028,000) senior
notes’ interest and non-payment of three senior notes with principal
in total of US$141,185,000 (equivalent to RMB982,086,000). Such
non-payment of interest or overdue principal have caused an
event of default under the senior notes agreements. As a result,
all noteholders have right to demand immediate repayment of the
principal and accrued interest. As at 31 December 2022, all senior
notes are classified as current liabilities.
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33. PROVISION FOR LAND APPRECIATION 33. T EREE

TAX

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ANREFTT
At 1 January K1A1H 1,994,610 1,944,232

Charged to profit or loss during FERREMAR FFEE11)
the year (note 11) 339,126 666,108
Payment during the year FRTR (672,675) (615,730)
At 31 December ®12831H 1,661,061 1,994,610

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed
Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the
sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights, buildings and
their attached facilities in Mainland China are subject to LAT at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation
value, with an exemption provided for the sale of ordinary
residential properties if their appreciation values do not exceed
20% of the sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a
provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the
relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities
are subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon
completion of the property development projects and the tax
authorities may disagree with the basis on which the provision
for LAT is calculated.

RIFEB1994F1A1HREMN(REAR
HME B EREG TR ) KB 199551
BoTHEEMB(REARKEME L MIBE
METIHRGIEREMA) BRE > EHBIKRE
HENBERA L MERE - BFRAN
WRMELENFAAE KD ARNFIEEE
ERIB0%E60%HI REM RGM T IR E
MoOAREEETNBEEATNRNERS
MB20% A EEREETHHET AR
B LB ERR o

AEBRERBEEBPREARBEZGERH
RE > A FHREREBEANS AL HIEE
MEB BENIHMBEREEEARTYE
MEBEER TR HRBERET MNH
ERFETAEAEEFE LI ERE
BH R
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34. DEFERRED TAX 34. IREIRIEA
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the REEMBRARTEINELERIBEEE
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: RaBEFENT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AEREBFT
Deferred tax assets recognised in AR B SR R R P R R Y
the consolidated statement of EERIBEE E
financial position 1,858,268 1,199,409
Deferred tax liabilities recognised Rixa MR IR PERN
in the consolidated statement of FIERIBEE(E
financial position (3,487,174) (4,014,617)
(1,628,906) (2,815,208)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FROIEEREBEEERGBENESHNT :
year are as follows:
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E
Fair value
adjustments
Arising from arising from
provision  acquisition of
for LAT subsidiaries Tax losses Total
W B O R
EfBti PRAEEZ
BERERE ARERE I8 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AR®ETFT
At 1 January 2021 R2021E181H 515,797 154,187 178,485 848,469
Credited to profit or loss FRstABR
during the year 12,595 - 139,227 151,822
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40(i) Yt EEMI B A 3 (M EE40(i)) 94,915 118,644 = 213,559
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) HERBRAE (Hizk1) (14,441) - - (14,441)
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12831H K
and1 January 2022 20221810 608,866 272,831 317,712 1,199,409
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss ER(BERENKB) /HAER
during the year (83,387) - 708,760 625,373
Acquisition of subsidiaries G EUNG - - 41,834 41,834
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) HERBAR (HzEa1) (8,348) - - (8,348)

At 31 December 2022 12022412831H 517,131 272,831 1,068,306 1,858,268
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34. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 34. IRIEMIE @
Deferred tax liabilities EERERE
Fair value
Arising from adjustments
revaluation on arising from
investment  acquisition of  Revaluation of
properties subsidiaries properties Total
W B I
ELBRE AREEZ
MEER RAERE MEER @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTRT ARBTT AR#ETTT ARBTTT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 1,280,883 2,451,377 111,491 3,843,751
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss FRBEBRENEG/ GtAER)
during the year 179,471 (35,410) = 144,061
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 40(i)  UREEM B A B (M EE40(i) - 26,805 - 26,805
At 31 December 2021 and 120215128318 K2022F181H
1 January 2022 1,460,354 2,442,772 111,491 4,014,617
Credited to profit or loss FRFAER
during the year (85,001) (338,832 - (423,833)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BB B AT = 18,192 = 18,192
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41)) HERBRE (Hek41) (63,455) (58,347) = (121,802)
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 1,311,898 2,063,785 111,491 3,487,174

The Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately
RMB9,727,570,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMBS3,427,767,000) that can be carried forward for five
years from the year in which the losses arose for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the tax entity in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of certain of these losses of RMB5,454,346,000 (2021:
RMB2,143,712,000) as they have arisen in subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
these tax losses can be utilised.

AEBER2022FE1283 1B REARIES
BB AR, 727,570,0007T (20214
AR ¥3,427,767,0007T) * ZEMIEEE
AHEBEHRERNFERES AT UKH
HIREENRNIEER R ENERRFE -
HREERESHEEZENRNB AR E
SO BAEBBATAKAEESAFNBRE
BRIEHENESRRIE M EMRE T
ZLEE AR K5,454,346,0007T (20214 ¢
ANR#2,143,712,00070) BERIEIERIBE
Eo
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34. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

Pursuant to the New Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

As 31 December 2022 and 2021, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will settle any dividends declared on such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with interests in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totaled approximately RMB26,080,109,000 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB30,437,180,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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34, IREMRIE @)

RERIEEEGE @

BIEH CEFRERE 7 hE AW
NELEMNIEREESTRNBREBRG
10%MFENM - Z IR E BH2008F1 A1 HE
L AL H2007E 12831 BB E SN A
BRA-MPEAEEZEHEREENRE
BEREBAETREKLY U TREER
EHMRTEINR B IL > AEB B Z LT
B A B B 17 B9 I B /A 5] E320084E1 B 1 B 48
BENBNTIRNESMHFENR -

R20224F %2021F 128318 > T EF A
EERPEARERINKHEB A EALNE
FEHEBF (BAEMMEINK) FREENTEN
MEDELEREB - EFTRE ZEWEA
BEIRARBRAARUEEEEHREBNE
TRAYAE I BE B o R20224F12831H » 5k
MEFEAENBRARARR BN ERZE
EHEDELERBEENRBEAHEAA A
E#£26,080,109,0007s (2021£F ¢ AR
30,437,180,0007T) °

AR EERRIKMRELREAERE
PR & o
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. @&
Shares &R
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Authorised: JERE
100,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 100,000,000,0008% &% M@ &
HK$0.1 each BIE0A T EBR 8,813,679 8,813,679
Issued and fully paid: BETRHRE
6,543,909,500 (2021: 6,543,909,500)  6,543,909,5000%
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each. (20214 : 6,543,909,5000%)
EREEB0.1THEER 559,947 559,947

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital and
share premium account is as follows:

AT 2 Be A B B 6 [ AR B B B -

Number of
shares Share
in issue Issued premium
BETRM capital account Total
] BEITRE R ER ast
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 1R2021E181H 5,693,702,258 489,142 1,079,244 1,568,386
Final 2020 dividend 2020 RERE = = (1,030,947) (1,030,947)
Interim 2021 dividend 2021 E PR E - - (276,940) (276,940)
Issue of shares for scrip dividend MR B TR (K@) 850,207,242 70,805 1,237,082 1,307,887
(note (a))
At 31 December 2021,1 January 2022  }£2021512831H 2022 181H
and 31 December 2022 20225128318 6,543,909,500 559,947 1,008,439 1,568,386
Notes: B -
a) No dividend has been proposed since the end of the reporting (a) HREHABARLORBEEERAE S (812021

period (During the year ended 31 December 2021, 610,851,123 and
239,356,119 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company were
issued at HK$2.004 and HK$1.396 per share respectively as scrip
dividend).

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 36 to the
financial statements.

F12B31BIEEE > AREDAIRERBIE
2.004 7T K A #1.39670817610,851,123/ K
239,356,119 S REEB K010t @R
MERE)

FRlntE
7 ) B B T B R AR R B BT 2 MR
B BRN Y B RRM 236
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEME

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2010
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the 2010 Scheme
include the Company’s directors and other employees of the
Group. The Scheme became effective on 24 May 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from that date. The 2010 Scheme expired on 23
May 2020, but the share options already granted under the
2010 Scheme before its expiration remain valid. The maximum
number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be
granted under the 2010 Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon
their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the 2010 Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

A new share option scheme was adopted by the Company on
4 June 2020 (the “2020 Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the 2020 Scheme will remain valid and effective for
10 years from the date of adoption. As of 31 December 2020,
none of the share options has been granted under the 2020
Scheme.
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6. fBAg e 5T 8 R Ag (7 B2 Rh 5t &l

BB AR 151 8] — 20104 2 2020F 51 &

ANBRE-EERESE (F2010F 5t
g2 EERALAEREB RNEEE
MrzEaERSRERERB AR 2010
FHBIZAERSHEQEARABDESRER
RNEBEMES - ZsT B RM2010F5824
BEEEM  BRIFEBUEIER] TR BZ
HiEst TEARRBFAR 20108 ER
2020F5H23HE W > HER20105F 58 &
WA ERHZEBREMABR - 1RIK2010
FHERFURENERTEEREZR
EHEAESENETERGEAABDNEE
Bz B 8BTRMH10%Z2HE

EEM12E A ME AR F20105 5482
TEERSEEZBREZTETRND
e B UARBREAREZEENT
IRIN1%RBR-NE—FREBAILEERZ
BREBERIAGLEREALE

KABER2020F684H RN — B ERK
st (T 2020F 51 2))) o BRIFEBUH (B
57> BRI2020F st BB BHZ BES T+ ER
RIFEM -EHE2020F12831H T EIR
HE20205F 5T IR B AE AT BB A #E o
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a vesting period and ends on
a date which is not later than ten years from the date of offer
of the share options or the expiry date of the 2010 Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the average Hong
Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

6. FBAR 5t 8 K A 77 82 B 51 8l e

BB IR 518 — 20104 20204 51 &I
(€5))

BYRAADEE - THEAHAFTERFTLR
WETMBBRAZBEREBLEBILIENT
EEELHAE LI REMEI12@E S8 B
R ERFTEAABETERBRBILIFHIT
FEERARSAABBRAZTABRERS
RABE AR BBITRG01%TIRE
RELHBEARTRGEBRAEZEER
iBAE5,000,00070 0 BIZBERENRKREK
g hEAHE

RUEUBREZEZNTNEN BB ES
THARAHARASINLENEGHE
BITBRTLIZEM -FIRHBREZTESR
THEFEE UNEBREMG  RIKT
ERBREZQEPIES T F320105F 5
BEmB TS UREERE) -

BREZODEEREFEE BARER
UTz8BE (\EA2EARNKEBREZLN
BEESEBMXMZWHE; R(iNERET
ROREEENEHRAILAXZAETER
2P 2 FHUR A E o

BRETTAHFHEARDREXINRE
RERBZEF -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the 2010
and 2020 Scheme during the year:
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36. fEhietE st 8l K i f B2 B 51 8l )

BERG 1512 —20104F K 2020F 121
€)

U TARERN2010F &2020F 52| TET 4
RITEZBRE

2022 2021

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

e niEFH
TEE  BREHE TEE  BEREHE

HK$ HK$

per share per share

SRABET SRABET
At 1 January M1A1H 3.509 177,722,760 3.895 137,539,260
Granted during the year FERFH - - 2.774 69,585,000
Lapsed during the year FE K 3.509 (38,160,460) 3.574  (29,401,500)

Cancelled during the year & P54 = - - _

At 31 December "12831H 3.509 139,562,300 3.509 177,722,760
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 36. fEA 1 5+ 81 K A 173X Bh 51 8 ()
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)
Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020 BB IR 518 — 20104 20204 51 &I
Scheme (Continued) (@
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options ¥R HA RS 45 SR BF20104F % 20204E 51 8 18
outstanding under the 2010 and 2020 Scheme as at the end of THARTEZBEBREZTEERTERRD
the reporting period are as follows: wr

Exercise price

Number of options HKS$ per share  Exercise period
BREHE TEEESRBET TEHAME
2022 2021

146,480 151,200 1.875 01-01-2016 to 31-12-2022
278,800 285,200 1.930 01-01-2017 to 31-12-2023
294,000 294,000 1.892  21-01-2018 to 20-01-2025
335,360 341,880 1.875 01-01-2018 to 31-12-2022
271,500 277,200 1.930 01-01-2019 to 31-12-2023
566,000 586,000 1.812  27-01-2019 to 27-01-2026
4,199,360 4,205,880 1.875  01-01-2020 to 31-12-2022
1,725,000 1,725,000 1.892  21-01-2020 to 20-01-2025
3,452,000 3,556,000 2.620  26-01-2020 to 26-01-2027
1,000,000 1,000,000 4,550 20-07-2020 to 21-07-2027
1,350,300 1,506,900 1.930 01-01-2021 to 31-12-2023
6,880,000 8,008,000 5.880 25-01-2021 to 25-01-2028
3,157,500 3,472,500 1.812  27-01-2021 to 27-01-2026
2,707,500 2,956,500 1.892 21-01-2022 to 20-01-2025
8,484,000 10,448,000 3.650 24-01-2022 to 24-01-2029
3,584,000 4,277,000 2.620 26-01-2022 to 26-01-2027
750,000 750,000 4.550 20-07-2022 to 21-01-2027
11,847,200 16,169,200 4.274  22-01-20283 to 22-01-2030
5,160,000 6,006,000 5.880 25-01-2023 to 25-01-2028
3,157,500 3,472,500 1.812  27-01-2023 to 27-01-2026
6,363,000 7,836,000 3.650 24-01-2024 to 24-01-2029
3,584,000 4,277,000 2.620 26-01-2024 to 26-01-2027
750,000 750,000 4.550  26-07-2024 to 20-07-2027
16,090,000 22,910,000 2.774  28-01-2024 to 08-01-2031
8,885,400 12,126,900 4.274  22-01-2025 to 22-01-2030
5,160,000 6,006,000 5.880 25-01-2025 to 25-01-2028
6,363,000 7,836,000 3.650 24-01-2026 to 24-01-2029
12,067,500 17,182,500 2.774  28-01-2026 to 28-01-2031
8,885,400 12,126,900 4.274  22-01-2027 to 22-01-2030
12,067,500 17,182,500 2.774  28-01-2028 to 28-01-2031

139,562,300 177,722,760
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 139,562,300 share
options outstanding under the 2010 and 2020 Scheme. The exercise in
full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 139,562,300 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of appropriately
RMB13,956,230 and share premium of RMB48,148,994 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had
99,337,300 share options outstanding under the 2010 Scheme and
40,225,000 share options outstanding under the 2020 Scheme, which
represented approximately 2.13% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.

Share award scheme

The Company operates a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) which was adopted by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company on 29 September 2020.
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award
Scheme will remain valid and effective for 10 years from the
date of adoption. The specific objectives of the Scheme are (i)
to promote the long-term sustained growth in the shareholder
value of the Group; (ii) to recognise the contributions by certain
outstanding Employees and to provide them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (jii) to attract outstanding talents
in the industry for further development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme is operated by an independent
trustee which holds the shares in trust for the selected
participants, until the shares become vested. The shares to be
awarded under the Share Award Scheme will be acquired by the
trustee from the open market. The shares granted will be vested
in the proportions and on the dates as set out in the relevant
letters of grant issued by the Company. Vested shares will be
transferred to the selected participants at no cost save that
transaction fees and expenses will be payable by the selected
participants as transferees.
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36.

37.

38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the number of the Company’s shares
held under the share award scheme account is 10,324,504
(2021: 10,324,504). None of the shares purchased has been
awarded under the Share Award Scheme.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(i) Statutory surplus reserve

Transfers from retained profits to the statutory surplus
reserve were made in accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations and the articles of association of the
Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC, and were
approved by the respective boards of directors.
(ii) Capital reserve
Certain amount of gain or loss arising from the acquisition
of non-controlling interests and disposal of the Group’s
subsidiaries without loss of control was recognised as
capital reserve.

SENIOR PERPETUAL SECURITIES

On 29 September 2017, the Company issued senior perpetual
securities with a principal amount of US$300,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,911,986,000).

36.

37.

38.

e B fE 5t 8 B Ae (7 2E R 51 &8 ()

{7 82BN 58 @)
R20225412831H BMHEEHERE
THAENARDKRMEE A10,324,5045
(20214 :10,324,504P8) ° Fr & A PR 1D 1L
ERFRMERGHE RS -

f#fE
AEERSFERBEFENEESER
HBHI BN GAREBH R

(i) ZEERGREHRE
EREN SR T ARG EETR
EREAMBAAEEU R A EEE
oh B A% 37 B0 B B 2 B BO AR A ES A2 4R B
> MRS ENESE -

B A

R ERES R E X =N E
AT (REAZHIR MELNETH
BWEABERERAE G-

(1)

SRk EE S

R20175H 98290 » XA B EITE R KESE
% RE& S EEA300,000,000E 7T (HHER
A #1,911,986,0007T) °
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38.

39.

SENIOR PERPETUAL SECURITIES
(Continued)

The securities confer the holders a right to receive distributions
at the applicable distribution rate of 5.375% per annum
from and including 29 March 2018 to 29 September 2022
and 12.487% per annum from 29 September 2022, payable
semi-annually on 29 March and 29 September of each year. The
Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer a distribution
pursuant to the terms of the securities. Unless and until the
Company satisfies in full all outstanding arrears of distribution
and any additional distribution amount, the Company shall not
declare or pay any dividends, distributions or make payment
on, and will procure that no dividend or other payment is made
on or redeem, reduce, cancel, buy— back or acquire for any
consideration any share capital thereof. The securities may be
redeemed at the option of the Company, in whole but not in
part.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company is able to control
the delivery of cash or other financial assets to the holders of
the senior perpetual securities due to redemption other than an
unforeseen liquidation of the Company. Accordingly, the senior
perpetual securities are classified as equity instruments of the
Company.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests are set out below:
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SRk EBEFHF @)

ZEBSMFRFAAREFNB2018543829
HIEZE202259H290 (8% A) UEA
DIKRESFS.375% U E2022F9H29H
BUDIRERESE12.487% W DIk REE
3B29B KIORB29HBHF IR e AR AH
BEETCAEEZERBEIZISEIIEEL DK B
REEARTBHEMLDIKNE SR
BEXRKREABIDIREEE AABF
BHEPTMARAE IR IR T[S
DIRBIEHAR W RESZTHE B
REARERIELHEMST AATANR
BELO R FH BRI E ZEF
HEO A AT EZEE MR ED

EFZRXR FABERENENRERRES
MIEFARZ B RN IRE N E M/
BEETEMXKEZSFHAA -HIL 5K
BREFDEFLAATDER TR

BEEERFERETGNIIFEEE
Ly

BEREEAFEREDNAEENRB AR F
BHEIWT :

Wuxi Suzhou

Runteng Shunhong

As at 31 December 2022 1220225 12831H w7 e BN w8
Percentage of equity interest held by HIEERERTEN

non-controlling interests B DL 50% 49%
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39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 3. EEERFERERNIIERE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING M B A E @)
INTERESTS (Continued)
Wuxi Suzhou
Runteng Shunhong
iR e B R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT
Profit for the year allocated to DEEFZERETNFEFH
non-controlling interests 8,035 4,524
Accumulated balances of HIEERERITA N R RREE
non-controlling interests 507,656 1,028,404
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRIREMMBRAS 2 U HBERBE -
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed FiIpEcBEANKINERRABBNIE
are before any inter-company eliminations: ATy & AR
Wuxi Suzhou
Runteng Shunhong
iR e BN R
RMB’000 RMB’000
2022 20224 AR®T T AREBFT
Revenue WA 1,632,772 4,095
Total expenses Bz 48 %E (1,616,702) 5,127
Profit for the year FEFHE 16,070 9,222
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2EUWNEELELE 16,070 9,222
Current assets MEEE 1,780,885 2,743,509
Non-current assets ERBEE 243 21
Current liabilities mMENAEE (233,158) (644,756)
Net cash flows used in operating activities A= ZEFARE S REFEE (428,829) (1,748)

Net cash flows used in financing activities BIE ZEIFFRRE S RE FEE - -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR& RIRE S EY R/ F5E (428,829) (1,748)
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39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 3. MEEXRFERETNIIERE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING MiE AT @
INTERESTS (Continued)
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling RNBTEERBEEAFEREENAEER
interests in prior year are set out below: WEBABGEBHIWMT -
Zhoushan Suzhou
Rongdu Shunhong
As at 31 December 2021 722021 12831H LLI S8 B IN 5205
Percentage of equity interest held by non- HIFIZEREZITAEN
controlling interests B DL 50% 49%
Zhoushan Suzhou
Rongdu Shunhong
L BE#D BN SIS
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETIT ARETFIT

Profit for the year allocated to non-
controlling interests

Accumulated balances of non-controlling
interests

DEEFERERFEFN S
3,392 (482)

HIFERED AN RFRER
981,345 1,028,880
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39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 3. MEEKRFERETNIIERE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING Mt 2~ E) @)
INTERESTS (Continued)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TR ERWNBRABEI ZHMBEERBE -
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are FipEcBEANKEINERRABBNIE
before any inter-company eliminations: ARy & A8
Zhoushan Suzhou
Rongdu Shunhong
LB ER BRN 5E IR
RMB’000 RMB’000
2021 20214 AREBTT ARBEFTT
Revenue A 299,853 2,636
Total expenses B 2 48 %8 (293,070) (3,620)
Profit for the year FRFE 6,782 (984)
Total comprehensive income for the year FE 2 E U EALZE 6,782 (984)
Current assets MBE E 3,129,284 2,640,562
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,689 3,973
Current liabilities mMENBE (1,170,283) (554,983)
Net cash flows used in operating activities &&= ZEFARESREFEE (54,720) (88,230)

Net cash flows used in financing activities BIE ZEIFTRERE S RE FEE - =

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR & RIRS L EY RV HEE (54,720) (88,230)
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
Business combinations

@

(ii)

In the current year
The Group had not any material business combination
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Since the acquisitions had the combination taken place
at the beginning of the year, neither revenue nor profit
contributed by these entities to the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

In the prior year

In October 2021, the Group acquired a 60% interest in
Jumbo Ocean. After the completion of the transaction,
Jumbo Ocean has become a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group. Jumbo Ocean is engaged in property
management in the PRC. The purchase consideration
for the said acquisition was RMB29,886,000, which was
included in other payables as at 31 December 2021.

Nanjing Yumao, Shanghai Lanxiucheng, Wuxi Runteng,
Ningbo Yunmao, Fuzhou Yuxiang, Foshan Fengying,
Hefei Yubo, Hangzhou Kangyu and Anhui Shunhong have
revised their memorandum and articles of association.
After the revision, the Group can exercise control over
these entities which became the non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group. These entities are engaged in
property development in the PRC.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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40. UK BB B 2 B
EBaH

@

(ii)

TEE
KEBREE2022F12831HLEFE
ETHEIAERETSH

HRWESHRNEYEE 255
REZE2022F12831HILEEE
M B SR A S F)E o

S4
=)

7y

t—FE

R2021E108  AEBKREZEN
0% R MNRXZERE R ERB
AEENEZENBAR R ERHEH
NEVEEE FRRENEERE
A AR 129,886,000 Est AR
202112 B3 1 HWE MBI

EREX -LBEFH EHEHE =
REE-BNER - BLEE SIES
B mMEBEERZHAFBEEEI RS
EEERRNMRMER - EBTER A&
EoYZEERAEERF2ENE
NEMBERTEERE - ZFBER
PRI EY R -
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 40. WEEII B AT @)

Business combinations (Continued) EBEH @

(i)  In the prior year (Continued) (i) E—EE#)
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ZEERNPWERBEIRIEERE
these entities as at the date of acquisition were as follows: BzrAnEAT

Fair value recognised on acquisition

AhREERD 2 A0E
Jumbo Wuxi Anhui Hefei Fuzhou Foshan Hangzhou
Ocean Runteng Shunhong Yubo Yuxiang Fengying Kangyu Others Total
pa BHRE REEE aEEf  BNHER  BUHER HMER At &t

Notes RMBO0O  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMB00O RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fE ARRFTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR  ARRTR

Property, plant and equipment ng BERRE 14 1,187 267 251 75 78 368 17 566 2,759
Investment properties ba-tE 15 203,633 - - - - - - - 203,633
Deferred tax assets EEEEE 3 - - - - - - - 213559 213,559
Properties under development figiEd 2,947,288 3,809,000 4,336,000 3,513,000 1,554,000 591,200 2,047,000 2,315,260 21,112,748
Properties held for sale RIEHERRIME - - - - - - - 2,484,000 2,484,000
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets  TBfIF EHEWFER

HftEE 750,489 1,274,488 3,893 663,851 243,895 3179 54,059 1,471,251 4,465,105
Prepaid corporate income tax B ERER 5,289 76,463 127,168 53,602 42,955 - 31,416 59,603 396,496
Prepaid land appreciation tax Bt ER - 85,670 - - 8,360 2,359 - 99,959 196,348
Cash and cash equivalents BEREESEN 618,746 713,141 896,218 721,11 215,611 81,209 203,496 705,055 4,155,247
Trade payables ERRATE (4,605) (274918) - (24,338) (79,034) (1,115) (48,935) (277,829) (710,767)
Other payables and acoruals EHERTERENER (403,697) (14,402) (28,074) - (105,952) (440,568) (200521) (2304808  (3498,022)
Contract liabiltes ek (2498516)  (4664718)  (4518762) (3812884  (1,838,207) (196,891) (1709985  (4153878) (23,393,841
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FERTREAMES (1,338,746) - (491,667) (987,278) - - (324,540) - (3142201)
Deferred tax iablties e 3% (5,721) (3,130) (1,705) (8,746) (3,407) (14) (3,194) (5,822) 26,805)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value WUARERIEZ

AHNEEFELE 275,321 1,001,861 323,322 124,053 38,299 39,667 48813 606,923 2,458,259
Non-controling interests FERER (64,918) (500,031) (161,661) (81,875) (14,937) (19,437) (29,288) (296427 (1,169,474)

210,403 500,930 161,661 42,178 23,362 20,230 19,525 310,496 1,288,785
Satisfied by: LTI A
Consideration payable included in other payable 5 AZHEZUER
ERRE 29,836 - - - - - - - 29,886

Reclassifcation from a pre-existing interestina  BRAEATHBEART
joint venture or associate to an investment in -~ %AIBEREENHE
subsidiaries ERHEAINRE 180,517 500,930 161,661 42,178 23,362 20,230 19,525 310,496 1,258,899

210,408 500,930 161,661 42,178 23,362 20230 19,525 310,496 1,288,785
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

(ii)

In the prior year (Continued)

The fair values of the other receivables as at the date
of acquisition amounted to RMB4,186,594,000. The
gross contractual amounts of other receivables were
RMB4,186,594,000 and none of which is expected to be
uncollectible.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions
of these entities are as follows:

Anhui

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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40. |NEBHMI B A F) @)

EBat®@

(i) E—FEE (&)
HMEKBREBEBREEBEEBRN QAR
BAANRM¥4,186,594,0007 c &
MEBRREBEESYSERARE
4,186,594,0007s > THEAE A I &~ 7]
QEl=
WEZEERBNREREONAT :
Fuzhou Foshan Hangzhou

Hefei Yubo Yuxiang Fengying Kangyu Others Total
i BHHER BUTER HMEE At @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NEETT AEETT AEBTT AREFT NEETT AEETT

Jumbo Ocean  Wuxi Runteng Shunhong

b AR RHRR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NEETT ARETT NEBTR

Cash consideration RARE - - -
Cash and cash equivalents acquied  FHABRERELEEY 618,746 713,141 896,218

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents 3 AREZBFELEETEL
included in cash flows from investing ~ & RBEEENHASE

activities 618,746 713,141 896,218

721,1M

721,1M

215611 81,200 203,496 705,055 4,165,247

215611 81,200 203,496 705,055 4,165,247

Since the acquisitions, the revenue and profit contributed
by these entities to the consolidated profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were RMB8,999 million and
RMB1,092 million, respectively.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the year
would have been RMB27,074 million and RMB1,241
million, respectively.

BB W& Z2021F12831H
tEE - 2SERaRaMBERN
WARFMBEDHAARKES9.99F T
BRAR10.928 T

BREBBEHRENEE  AEER
FRPWIMANFEZED A ARE
270.7T4B TR AR 12 418 TT °
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 41. LEMHRB AT

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE AREBFT AR®BFT
Net assets disposed of: BEHEEBESE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BENEE 14 5,625 322,935
Investment properties KEYE 15 1,100,000 =
Deferred tax assets IFIERIEE 34 8,348 14,441
Goodwill EES 17 14,190 =
Properties under development TR 2,137,248 1,225,544
Properties held for sale FIFHE AR 148,204 352,396
Prepayments, other receivables — FE{J 3« EthEUTRIE K&
and other assets Hh&EE 940,594 393,217
Prepaid land appreciation tax FET L HIZER 4,268 2,130
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 361,524 159,396
Trade payables B SR IE (312,454) (843,198)
Other payables and accruals HMME A RIBERESTER (1,564,252) (923,845)
Contract liabilities aHEaE (1,369,798) (92,251)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t B ERIT & (37,609) (47,000)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE (121,802) =
Corporate income tax payables FETI2FRER (25,216) (92,163)
Provision for land appreciation tax 1% {& 13 5 & (81,182) (146,434)
Capital reserve BB - 198,173
Non-controlling interests JEFERE R = (58,624) (345,714)
1,149,064 177,627
(Loss)/gain on disposal of HERB AT
subsidiaries (FB8) = 8 (129,410) 99,103
1,019,654 276,730
Satisfied by: MFHAEAZA
Cash HE 868,399 256,730
Wavier of shareholder’s loan RNERBEE™N 21,439 =
Assignment of loan BEIEEM (279,137) =
Consideration receivables s AEMEWIEN
included in other receivables FERRE 408,953 20,000

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BREYENBRAEZREARESEEYR

respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: AFBZAMWT .

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARMEFT

Cash and bank balances disposed of B HERS &IIBITHEE (361,524) (159,396)

Cash consideration received BWIRENE 868,399 256,730
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BEEHERB AT ZIRE &

in respect of the disposal of HEEBYRAFEE
subsidiaries 506,875 97,334
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42. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
MFBEmRME®
31 December 2022 2022F12531H
42. IR ERERERMEF
MEEHEENEGRED

Amounts due to
non-controlling

Interest-bearing
Dividend bank and other

payable borrowings  Senior notes  shareholders
HERTR FEF IR P RS
FEfTRRE HttfE & BRER RERAIE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AR®FT AR®ETFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2021 20211818 227,488 20,085,419 34,314,289 3,024,339
Changes from financing cash flows MBERERELH) - (7,901,844) 1,322,056 48,644
Final 2020 dividend 2020 RHKRE 1,030,947 - - -
Interim 2021 dividend 2021 FEFHKRE 276,940 - - -
Issue of shares for scrip dividend MURAEETRN (1,307,887) = = =
Capital contribution from non-controlling FERRREE
shareholders - - - (580,130)
Increase arising from acquisition of subsidiaries Ut EEHI B A T M
(note 40(i) (Fft 5240() - 3,142,201 = =
Decrease arising from disposal of a subsidiary HENB ARG
(note 41) (Fft5E41) - (47,000) = =
Foreign exchange movement INEEEE (6,625) (8,717) (823,962) =
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1R20215E12B31H K
202281818 220,863 15,270,059 34,812,383 2,492,853
Changes from financing cash flows MBERERELT) - (2,607,684) (51,733) (1,335,484)
Capital contribution from non-controlling FERREHE
shareholders = = = =
Capital reduction by non-controlling shareholders ~ JEERRIRFHE - - - 30,000
Decrease arising from disposal of a subsidiary HEM B A BN B
(note 41) (5E41) - (37,609) = =
Foreign exchange movement SMNEZE) 20,449 (319,007) 3,204,083 -
At 31 December 2022 12022128311 241,312 12,305,759 37,964,733 1,187,369
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43. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group had the following financial guarantees as at the end
of the reporting period:

43. B FHEF
75 B 9 45 SRR A SRS Y B A IR R R -

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iz AREBTFT AR®BFT
Guarantees in respect of the MAEEMENETER
mortgage facilities provided to REZBERMIEHDN
certain purchasers of the Group’s R
properties (@) 25,946,750 18,234,880
Guarantees given to banks and MEE AR ERENMER
other lenders in connection with RITREMER ARG
facilities granted to joint ventures R R (b) 819,151 2,382,335
Guarantees given to banks and M S AR EENRER
other lenders in connection with IRITREMERARM
facilities granted to associates MR (b) 1,288,564 471,713
Guarantees given to banks and METREEERNER
other lenders in connection AR 7R B (A R 17 R E Ath
with facilities granted to certain ERNRENER
contractors for construction cost (c) 58,592 8,949
Guarantees given to financial MBI E=HEENRE
institutions in connection with [ B IR YRR
facilities granted to independent
third parties (d) 4,647,483 4,226,351
32,760,540 25,324,228
Notes: B
(a) As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided guarantees in (a) R2022F12831H » AEEME TRITEEDN

ERATEEMENETERZHNIRIBER
NZRBRMERHER REBERETR HZF
BRIV IERE WA RAEEERBTIE B ARE
EEHRHEEENERRARITHRERRBEL
&3 B FE 5 A B R 1R 0 BREE T XA B9
HEMRSRIE

respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating
to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of the
Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees,
upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers
before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible
for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted
purchasers to the banks, net of any auction proceeds as
described below.




43. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, and
upon default on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the
banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise the
pledged properties through open auction. The Group is responsible
for repaying the banks when the proceeds from the auction of
the properties cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalties. In addition,
according to the relevant agreements signed by certain subsidiaries
of the Group with the banks, property purchasers of the Group
can arrange mortgage with these banks and the subsidiaries are
required to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as
deposits for potential default of mortgage loans advanced to property
purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be released after the
property ownership certificates of the relevant properties have been
passed to the bank. At 31 December 2022, such deposits amounted
to RMB90,504,000 (2021: RMB62,323,000) (note 26(c)(ii)).

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of
the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real
estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally
be available within one to two years after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the
guarantees at initial recognition and the ECL allowance are not
significant, and in case of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the guarantees at
initial recognition and the ECL allowance are not significant.

As at 31 December 2022, the guarantees given by the Group to
certain banks in respect of construction cost in favour of certain
contractors of Group amounted to RMB58,592,000 (2021:
RMB8,949,000).

On 17 March 2021, 22 June 2021 and 7 September 2021, the
Group provided financial guarantees to independent third parties
(the “Cooperation Party”) to approximately US$667,000,000 and
the guaranteed loans carry interest at a rate ranging from 6% to
10.56% per annum for venturing into a financing project, in which
the Cooperation Party would be the borrower and the Company
acted as the guarantor. The provision for expected credit loss on
the financial guarantees were valued by Masterpiece Valuation
Advisory Limited, an independent professional qualified valuer
on 31 December 2022 and ECL allowance of US$246,104,000
(equivalent to RMB1,650,167,000) (2021: US$4,200,000 (equivalent
to RMB27,025,000)) was recognised during the year. Further details
are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H

43. B R @

M 5E

(a)

(&)
()

RIEU 28 BRAMECEARBERNIE
BRMIEFEFTRT RRSERREEERSE
MIBERRTEEBUCEEERE TRBEBA
HREZRIKFYE - EVERTRENEE
FBEAEENIRBASERESFERIN
B A ASEEBEBTRRTER I RIEE
EEETHBARRBRTEENEREBE &
EEMNMEERAZHEZERITRIB 2%
B AR ERETHAENNEEALEERTIE
FoEABENMEBRIEXNZFIRITRIBER
HiE 2SERRESENBAVENREES
X FIRITB A BBk o 720225 12831H » &%
L e A AR190,504,0007T (20214 © AR
#62,323,0007t) (FffsE26(c)(ii)) ©

FEEZEFRABRFLARIZBERZ BHE
EMERFHFESIRL —RMSHEHKK
BEZ-EMER-

FRBDEEIRNZEERVEREDRARE
ERXBENARBEERER  HEZRKAE
AR B EN SR FERELURHER
PRRIZIBA T EREF B R E R -

BEERR ZFERNERNERKREMREEE
KBHENRAABELAEK-

R2022F 12831 H REBEMAEEE T KE
BZRESAEE TRITRENERAARE
58,592,0007T (20214 : AR #£8,949,0007T) °

F20214E3817H  2021E6822H K2021£49
A7 - AEEEBIE=H (TG1EH)) RB1H
#3667,000,000E T B FEHE R » IR E A
ENFEF6E105E UERKHEMEIER
GEARAREEENMERS  MAARHE
EIERA B SEEGEME T HLEAER
NBIR2022F 12831 H B HERNEHRE
ERABEHETHE FAER246,104,000
E7x (HHER AR1,650,167,0007T) (2021
£F 1 4,200,000 7t (1HE R AR 127,025,000
70)) o E—F B H N M IF R KM E29 0
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44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes are
included in notes 30 and 32 to the financial statements,
respectively.

45.

COMMITMENTS

(a)

44.

45.

The Group had the following capital and other
commitments as at the end of the reporting period:

BEERH

UAEBEERFNAERFBRITRE
MERRBLEERFBONENMBERRE
MisE30% 320

AR

(@) AEBRREBEBERFNELARE
fAEWT

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥EFT
Contracted, but not provided for: BERIAEXREE
Investment properties under HRREYMERTEYE
construction and properties under
development 10,960,528 10,353,605

In addition, the Group’s share of joint ventures and
associates’ own capital commitments, which are not

included in the above, is as follows:

o FEEEBEESERDRBER
BIEANEARKRE (LRETER LX)
;AT -

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ANEREF T

Contracted, but not provided for [EHENEESZL 3,252,367 2,847,062
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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46. FAERF X 5

(a) MBREZFMHHREEMBoFMET)
R Z R aEeRoh » FE & E R

the following material transactions with related parties FHEARXZZWT
during the year:
2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B EE ARBF T AR®EF T
Service fees paid to Xiamen 2 {4 FEFI4t R E R R D
Zongheng Group Company  ARAB MRS &
Limited (i) 41,074 34,282
Service fees paid to Yuzhou  ZfFFEIMNERZTR (FB)
Financial Holdings Limited BRABNIRE & (ii) - 2,028
Service fees paid to Xiamen  ZMFEMME=RBEE
Qihuiyitong Commercial REBFRABNREE
Factoring Company Limited (i) 11,000 35,674

(i) The service fees were incurred for the design,
installation and testing of house entrance
intelligence systems provided by Xiamen Zongheng
Group Company Limited in relation to properties
held for sale, at rates mutually agreed between the
relevant parties. Xiamen Zongheng Group Company
Limited is a company controlled by brother of Mr.
Lam Lung On.

(i) The service fees were incurred for the issue of
senior notes of the Group. Yuzhou Financial
Holdings Limited is a company controlled by Ms.
Kwok Ying Lan.

(i)  The service fees were incurred for the issue
of certain securities during the year. Xiamen
Qihuiyitong Commercial Factoring Company Limited
is a company controlled by mother of Ms. Kwok
Ying Lan.

() ZRBEREFMBREERD
ER2BDMBIFHEERRENY
FREEEMRRGHRG R
ERASER ERRERERM
SIMBDHEBWE - BPFIMEEE
RMABERABABEMEZRE
PERIERIB—R AT -

(il ZRBEALAEBETELE
ENER - @MEmER (F8)
BERABA—BHEFTRBRL
B AF] o

(i) ZRBESNRFARNEITETE
SHNER EFREEEBER
BEAERAD R —BHAMBEBL
THERERN ARG -
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(0)

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the directors
and the chief executive officer of the Company
represented the key management personnel of the Group
and details of the compensation of the key management
personnel are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

Certain of the bank and other borrowings of the Group’s
joint ventures and associates are secured by pledges
over the Group’s equity interests in the joint ventures and
associates with an aggregate carrying amount at the end
of the reporting period of Nil (2021: RMB72,156,000) and
RMB394,800,000 (2021: Nil), respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided guarantees
to bank and other lenders in connection with facilities
granted to joint ventures and associates, which amounted
to RMB819,151,000 (2021: RMB2,382,335,000)
and RMB1,288,564,000 (2021: RMB471,713,000),
respectively (note 43).

The related party transactions in respect of the service
fees paid to Xiamen Zongheng Group Company Limited
also constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

46. [

(b)

RS

HEHRXS @

FEBTE2EERE A SR9E M

KRABDEFRD  FRARAEFRITH
MEEAEENTIEZEEERAG X
SEEEBASHFHFBRHNMBR
KMIFE9

AEBGERIABELRBDNEG T
RITREMEBEEULAERRAGE R
BIRBEATANRE (RREHERD
IREREDNAZ (2021F : AR
72,156,0007T) & A K 394,800,000
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 47. HEH B SN EMT A
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial BHEREHFX SEEsMIANKREAEW
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
2022 20224
Financial assets EREE
Financial
assets at fair Financial assets
value through at fair value through
profit or loss other comprehensive income
BARERA BAREHA
BRNEMEE Htt2AKENERMEE
Mandatorily Financial
designated Equity assets at
as such investments amortised cost Total
BEBHER AT
WAk ES RELE JERMEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Financial asset at fair value through BAnEFAREMEZEREN
other comprehensive income THEE - 55,288 - 55,288
Financial assets included in prepayments, ~ SIEEAM - A thEKEUE
other receivables and other assets REMEETNEHEE - - 38,480,435 38,480,435
Financial assets at fair value through BARESARGNEHEE
profit or loss 5,100 - - 5,100
Restricted cash RREIRE - - 1,108,558 1,108,558
Non-pledged time deposits with original MiaBRBEBE=EF 2
maturity of over three months BIREHRER - - 400,000 400,000
Cash and cash equivalents BehBEEEY - - 5,630,872 5,630,872
5,100 55,288 45,619,865 45,680,253
Financial liabilities TRAaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
Y4 85 BR A 1) BR
ZEmAaE
RMB’000
ARBTT
Trade payables B 5 e I8 9,179,611
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BREREEMEMRIBER
FEstERMNEmaE 14,568,275
Corporate bonds NEES 4,850,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FREIRTRAEMEES 12,305,759
Senior note BRERE 37,964,733

78,868,378
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 47. RERSSNEMITHE @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial SEHEEMIARREHBERFNEERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: WT
2021 20214
Financial assets EMBEE
Financial
assets at fair Financial assets
value through at fair value through other
profit or loss comprehensive income
BAREA BARGEEA
BRNEMEE HttzAWENERERE
Mandatorily Financial
designated Equity assets at
as such investments  amortised cost Total
BEHENAT R
BRHIEES e JEHMEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®EFT N ARETFT AREFT
Financial asset at fair value through BAREFARMEZEKEN
other comprehensive income TREE = 232,997 = 232,997
Financial assets included in prepayments,  EIIEETAN T i AEU A
other receivables and other assets REMEETNEREE - - 43,078,098 43,078,098
Financial assets at fair value through BARBHABENEREE
profit or loss 5,100 - - 5,100
Restricted cash ZRERE - - 968,378 968,378
Non-pledged time deposits with original MR EB=ERZ
maturity of over three months BRATEHER - - 2,173,906 2,173,906
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY - - 14,377,647 14,377 647

5,100 232,997 60,598,029 60,836,126
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

2021 (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MERRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

47. HEHESHNEMITAE @

20214 (&)

Financial liabilities TRAaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R AL AN G BR
ZEmas
RMB’000
ARBF T
Trade payables B2 RENIE 6,810,201

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals BETEMENRIBRESTE
ANEmas 17,594,225
Corporate bonds NEIES 6,500,000
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFEIRITREMBEES 15,270,059
Senior note BERE 34,812,383
80,986,868

48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments as at
31 December 2022 and 2021 approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of other
receivables and other assets, derivative financial instruments,
restricted cash, non-pledged time deposits with original
maturity of over three months, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, other payables and accruals and current-portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.

48. ?Eﬂlﬁﬂ'ﬂ’&ﬁ:ﬁ&’&ﬁﬁﬁ@

I

MR2022F F2021%F 128310 AEES
TEANEEEREAAERS-

EEENEEMMBKREREMEE 1T
EEMIE -ZRHRZ - MHERAREE=
BEZEBRERERN REKREEEE
M-BZBNRE - HMENRERESE
A BHHM oMt BRITERAMMEENA
AEARENEEERES TEHANZSE
THEHERE-
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 48. TR T EN AR ERARERE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the senior
management and the audit committee. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the senior management. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The Group uses fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly
or indirectly for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group’s financial instruments which comprise derivative financial
instruments were measured at fair value and determined as level
2 financial instruments.

The Group did not have any significant financial assets
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group did not have any significant financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the fair value of the financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income, the Group uses fair value
measured based on valuation techniques for directly checking
the statement provided by securities company for determining
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments. As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income was measured at fair value and
determined as level 2 financial instruments.

4R (@)

rEEBRYBEERAECMBFEIAEE
EEMIEAREFEZHERERF M
BREERASAEEEREREEEE
R-MBHPFINES RS BHRIMEMITE
BEZEH TEEEETERAZIER
ABEBE - SHREEEERLAEGE B
ZEE—FMEATHRFEYBRRE
HimbERREKRGER-

THREERBBZAAENERIERE
X775 (MIFRBIBFEHE) EAIRS
TZARZBEBEAR T HERRBRR
BREERARE :

rEFEEERBKETRTIANLAER
BERAERHMEHARBEEATE Y
EEHABBHO]EERBERER MG
EREFABEZRAE112022F k20214
12A3 1R AEEEMT A (BETEESR
TR)BDRARBESE TEETERE2MHR
EFRT A

NEEP2022F 2021412831 B I #/F
A AREFENEASTBEE-

AEER20224F £2021F 12831 H I #F
A AREFENEASHES:.

MEAAEFAEMEZERENEREE
NAREBEMS AEBEFBER G ERM
AENAAEEEZEESAARENR
ROMMEBEEERFEESHRTAEN L AABE
R2022F 128318 KEEEZ A RBEF A
Ht2mBRsaNemEEULAAEFEL
BEASHREMIE-
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

For the Group’s assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position but for which
the fair value is disclosed, the carrying amounts of the non-
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximated to their fair values and were determined as Level
3, and the fair values of the senior notes and corporate bonds
were RMB4,220,932,000 (2021: RMB12,195,216,000) and
RMB3,537,250,000 (2021: RMB3,967,000,000), respectively
and were determined as Level 1.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The fair values of the senior notes and corporate
bonds are calculated with reference to price quotations from
financial institutions at the reporting date. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2022 were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group entered into derivative financial instruments with
creditworthy banks with no history of default. Derivative financial
instruments, including a cross-currency rate swap and forward
currency contracts, are measured using valuation techniques
similar to forward pricing. The model incorporates various
market observable inputs including foreign exchange spot and
forward rates. The carrying amounts of the cross-currency rate
swap and forward currency contracts were the same as their
fair values.

The details of the valuation technique and the inputs used in
the fair value measurement of investment properties have been
disclosed in note 15.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2021: Nil).

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

48.

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 20224 12H31H
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. i EMEREMNEE RBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank and
other borrowings and cash and short term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are market risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Market risk

The Group’s assets are predominantly in the form of land
held for property development for sale, investment properties,
properties under development and properties held for sale. In
the event of a severe downturn in the property market, these
assets may not be readily realised.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. Other than
deposits held at banks, the Group does not have significant
interest-bearing assets. Restricted deposits were held at banks
in Mainland China at the same saving rate as unrestricted
deposits throughout the year. The Group’s exposure to the
risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s bank and other borrowings with floating interest rates.
The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk, and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

FEENIESMIAGERITRAEME
EUARREREHER -ZSEMIT AN
ZENRHIAEREELEES £
EEEEREHMERMEERER  HIU
REEPEREENEZBAME.

AEENERIEMSIBNIZRRAT
ZRBR FEREAR SRR EERR KR
RPETRAB - EFCTERALREAME
EREZFRBOBE ZHMmINT-

15 AL

AEBEENTER R AR ENLREY
ERRN T RENYE EEVERFE
BEBRNME - EMETH+ DGR
BRT BREEETETRER-

2 EL bR
FEENABOWARBERERESTR
THNEEBFATE -RIBITERZI &
EEITEEAGEEE-REBEFERN T
Bl AR EIRITRRGIFHREIFEZIRGEFROY
HEMNEZRR -AEEFRAEDHNEXE
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit
before tax. There is no material impact on other components of
the Group’s equity.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MERRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

49, AR EEMNBEREE @)

FIERE @
TERAERAHMBEBEZTENIER
TSR R AEERRA A EH
RSB AESB MR - =@
MEMBA TS EATE-

Increase/ Effect
(decrease) on profit
in basis points before tax
G HerfaiFHE
BB By R &
RMB’000
AR®BFT
2022 20224
Renminbi AR 50 813
Renminbi AEHE (50) (813)
Hong Kong dollar B 50 4,354
Hong Kong dollar B K (50) (4,354)
United States dollar E7T 50 19,585
United States dollar ETT (50) (19,585)
2021 20214
Renminbi AR 50 (22,280)
Renminbi AR (50) 22,280
Hong Kong dollar B 50 5,796
Hong Kong dollar B (50) (5,796)
United States dollar £ 50 1,497
United States dollar =T (50) (1,497)
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s revenue and substantially all of the Group’s
operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which is currently
not a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and,
in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland
China. Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies may
restrict the ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit
sufficient foreign currencies to pay dividends or other amounts
to the Group.

Under the existing PRC foreign exchange regulations, payments
of current account items, including dividends, trade and
service-related foreign exchange transactions, can be made
in foreign currencies without prior approval from the State
Administration for the Foreign Exchange Bureau by complying
with certain procedural requirements. However, approval from
appropriate PRC governmental authorities is required where
RMB is to be converted into a foreign currency and remitted
out of Mainland China to pay capital account items, such as the
repayment of bank and other borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies.

Currently, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries may purchase foreign
currencies for settlement of current account transactions,
including payment of dividends to the Company, without prior
approval of the State Administration for Foreign Exchange
Bureau. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries may also retain
foreign currencies in their current accounts to satisfy foreign
currency liabilities or to pay dividends. Since foreign currency
transactions on the capital account are still subject to limitations
and require approval from the State Administration for Foreign
Exchange Bureau, this could affect the ability of the Group’s
subsidiaries to obtain required foreign exchange through debt
or equity financing, including by means of loans or capital
contributions from the Company.

9. HEAMREBIEMNBEREE @)

S L B
FEBRENBAKRBABOEERXH
MARBSHE MARBEALIFAF B
HEBHNEE - PEBRFHEE ARERHR
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FEERSZNRENAEMARIBRIFES

REBEREENTREIIEELZR KEREBEEN
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities including certain
amounts due from/to related parties denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, certain short term deposits denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and certain bank and other borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars are subject to
foreign currency risk. Therefore, the fluctuations in the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group’s
results of operations.

A reasonably possible appreciation of 1% in the exchange rate
of the Hong Kong dollar or United States dollar against the
Renminbi would have a material impact on the Group’s profit
during the year and this would result in an increase in other
components of the Group’s equity by RMB35,376,000 (2021:
RMB55,516,000) in 2022.

Credit risk

It is the Group’s policy that all customers are required to pay
deposits in advance of the purchase of properties. In addition,
the Group does not have any significant credit risk as the credit
given to any individual or corporate entity is not significant.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk within the
Group.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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49. HFERAREENEEREE @
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-

end staging classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee

contracts.

As at 31 December 2022

49. AR EEMNBEREE @

EERE @

BERARREFMLE
TERREAEENESRE I REEHE
ERESESARKO BRIEBEBAR
AREHETESEMER T TRE
TBLABMERRN12831B 2 EXDBE
DA

F27NEEAERNEENBIREERM
BERGHNNEERRMA -

£2022412H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1288
BEHEE
Bx 2HEHESRX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—1 B BZH b5 & st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥ETn ARETx ARETR ARETR®
Receivable from joint ventures & ARHE - 15,539,049 - - 15,539,049
Receivable from associates e =UNGER] - 4,734,606 - - 4,734,606
Receivable from non-controlling el A B B AR JF R
shareholders of Group's subsidiaries R EZE 2,222,415 - - - 2,222,415
Other receivables and other assets ~ EEWFIER EthE E 17,871,770 2,263,803 = - 20,135,573
Restricted cash TRERE 1,108,558 - - - 1,108,558
Non-pledged time deposits with MR BRE=EF Z BRHE
original maturity of over three months ~ EHEEM 400,000 - - = 400,000
Cash and cash equivalents REeRREEEY 5,630,872 - - - 5,630,872
Guarantees given to banks and other St A& A B REEABERN
lenders in connection with faciliies to ~ FAE MU KRE T ABEERN
joint ventures, associates and certain  EEM AR E FRITREAM
contractors for construction cost EMARENER 2,166,307 - - - 2,166,307
Guarantees in respect of the mortgage i EEBYENE TEREMH
facilities provided to certain BRERMEHNER
purchasers of the Group's properties 25,946,750 - - - 25,946,750
Guarantees given to financial WEBIS=HERNRER
institutions in connection with SRIBBRENER
facilities granted to independent
third parties - 4,647,483 - - 4,647,483
55,346,672 27,184,941 - - 82,531,613
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. T HERAMEENBERBE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERRE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) REERREREE (B)
As at 31 December 2021 R2021512831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
BHEE
BX 2HRBEERX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—R BMH F=MH bR % st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Receivable from joint ventures & EARRIE 24,066,044 - - - 24,066,044
Receivable from associates FEW B = AR FRIB 5,016,524 - - = 5,016,524
Receivable from non-controlling e AR E @ B A B JE AR

shareholders of Group's subsidiaries R BB 2,462,073 - - - 2,462,073
Other receivables and other assets ~ EHffiEWHEREMtEE 11,533,457 - - - 11,533,457
Restricted cash ZRGERE 968,378 - - - 968,378
Non-pledged time deposits with MiHARBR=(E8 2 ®IKHF

original maturity of over three months ~ EHREH 2,173,906 - - = 2,173,906
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 14,377,647 = = - 14,377,647

Guarantees given 1o banks and other St & & A B R # = AR ERN
lenders in connection with faciliies to  BIEMNRETABHERN
joint ventures, associates and certain A AR E R IR1T R EA

contractors for construction cost ERARMBIER 2,862,997 - - - 2,862,997
Guarantees in respect of the mortgage #t &£ B ERE T B RIZ (¢

facilities provided to certain BRRERMEHNER

purchasers of the Group’s properties 18,234,880 - - - 18,234,880
Guarantees given to financial WEBUE=FERNRER

institutions in connection with TRBERENER

facilities granted to independent

third parties 4,226,351 = = = 4,226,351

85,922,257 = = - 85,922,257
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s business, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. In addition,
banking facilities are available for contingency purposes. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group will have
adequate sources of funding to finance its operation needs and
manage its liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

49.

M EREENBRRER @

REE T AR
HRAEENEBBREARER A&
EREFESTENREREEBREUNRE
MBPEEFER - FEBZERDERER
ROKREMEBEE CESEFEMERER
MZBERE T I REBTHEAEIRT
RMENEHNAFR-ARDEEIRF
EERERERENETE RUNEHEEM
FREBHRBESZKT

RREHBEERFAERTMEENEHA
(UEWFTHPRERORAERE) WOTF -

At 31 December 2022

20225128310
On demand or In the Beyond
within 1 year  second year  3to 5 years 5 years Total
BRERFER F2ERN 3E5E S5ENE Eeh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFRT AR®TR AREFRT AR®TR ARETR
Interest-bearing bank and other HERTREMES
borrowings 7,629,190 2,424,097 2,585,615 889,512 13,528,414
Corporate bonds NERSF 5,005,484 - - - 5,005,484
Senior notes BERE 37,964,733 - - - 37,964,733
Trade payables BRREMATIE 5,711,349 3,468,262 - = 9,179,611
Other payables and accruals HittE R TIER B &R 18,537,002 - - - 18,537,002
74,847,758 5,892,359 2,585,615 889,512 84,215,244
Financial guarantees issued: BE M BEIER
Maximum amount guaranteed BEEGFSE (1:43)
(note 43) 32,760,540 - - - 32,760,540
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBWRME @

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

49. iFEREENEERBE @

MEBEEEMR @

At 31 December 2021

120214128318

On demand or In the Beyond
within 1 year second year 3105 years 5 years Total
BERSIER F2ERN 3E5E SN E F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTx ARETT ARETT ARETE®

Interest-bearing bank and other HERTREMES

borrowings 5,178,272 4,221,917 6,234,812 1,429,358 17,064,359
Corporate bonds NEES 4,738,574 2,062,859 - = 6,801,433
Senior notes BEER 7,987,539 10,472,321 21,416,640 3,776,612 43,653,112
Trade payables BREMRE 3,542,044 3,267,257 - - 6,810,201
Other payables and accruals HnEARIEREER 20,783,152 - - - 20,783,152

Financial guarantees issued:
Maximum amount guaranteed
(note 43)

42,230,481

20,024,354 27,651,452 5,205,970 95,112,257

B HMEER
REEREE (1543)
25,324,208

= = = 25,324,228
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had certain interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings denominated in United
States dollars. The interest rates of these instruments are
based on the LIBOR with a tenor of six months or twelve
months, which will cease to be published after 30 June 2023.
Replacement of the benchmark rates of these instruments from
LIBOR to an RFR has yet to commence but it is expected that
there will be renegotiations of terms in the future. During the
transition, the Group is exposed to the following risks:

° Parties to the contract may not reach agreement in a
timely manner as any changes to the contractual terms
require the agreement of all parties to the contract

° Additional time may be needed for the parties to the
contract to reach agreement as they may renegotiate
terms which are not part of the interest rate benchmark
reform (e.g., changing the credit spread of the bank
borrowings due to changes in credit risk of the Group)

o The existing fallback clause included in the instruments
may not be adequate to facilitate a transition to a suitable
RFR

The Group will continue to monitor the development of the
reform and take proactive measures for a smooth transition.

49.

M EREENBRRER @

BB £ E M @
R2022F12831H  AEBEE TUET
EFERTAEMBE - ZETENA
EHUANEAN+ZEBNmBIRTEENR
EAEE MZERMABTHEREH/RN
2023E6H30H % {F L& - B Al B KB EA
BZETAENEENERGHIETREER
EEMAaEARAE BEBERKEEH
BREMETEE PNBEHB AEET
BB LT R B

s HREEGHNRABEZE2ESHIN
BER WEMNFTHTT RS KRB
AL

e HRAMNIINATETEEMEDK
M (LIFFRBEEREN—E 2 (B0
AR EERREEZECMER
RITEENGEEREET)) > a15]
#9735 ] BE T 22 4R S BY By ) 2 Bl 1

. TEAMRNBERBERTERE N
A% E A BN E AR X

FEBREEERNENLERBERNALRL
BRI BIRTIRBIE -
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The information about financial instruments based on an

interbank offered rate that has yet to transition to an alternative
benchmark rate is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MEBmRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

49. HFERAREENEEREE @

MEBEEER @
BRLRITRLREAEEBHKRBESR
BREERNXNSMTANERTT

As at 31 December 2022 H£2022F12531H
Non-derivative
financial liabilities -
carrying value
ETEERAE
—IREE
RMB’000
ARBFT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings s ERITHEE

- United States dollar LIBOR —EnmBERTEERS 1,232,406

As at 31 December 2021 §2021E12H531H

Non-derivative
financial liabilities -
carrying value

ETEERMAR
—IREE
RMB’000
ARKT T
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 3 BRITREMES
- United States dollar LIBOR —ETRBIRITRERS 1,864,405

As explained in note 2 to the financial statements, the directors
of the Company have adopted or plan to adopted certain
measures in order to improve the Group’s financial and cash
flow positions and to maintain the Group’s as a going concern.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

MM BRERWT2FARE A RBESEE
RN B RMETHEUARNESEEN
HHBRBERRTUREFTRIEBNFTE

g

BEFXERE
FEREAEENTEZEARDDEREAER
RHECENREN #RBENEARLEEXY
SXEHEE URBRREREARER-
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

49, FERAMREENEEREE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.

The Group monitors working capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total equity of the Group. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate
bonds and senior notes less cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and non-pledged time deposits with original
maturity of over three months. The gearing ratios as at the end

BAREE @

At S TR H B A 42 4% 3 (R PR AT B AR
BN HEHEE AR AR SRR
AEBETABETNTRENRE KB
EAFRERLTHR - AEBTSIM
BN ERERFBR - ERBEEE

FEEEREFABRIEXETEREES
ZUHERDDRAERZEH FRGUEDRE
BB - BB FROFEFEBRTREME
E-RAEFHEBELARE BRARERER
ReFEY ZRHRSMNBVHRER
ZERZEEREREM - RIRSHEE

of the reporting periods were as follows: REZERBELEZENT !
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBTT
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEES
borrowings 12,305,759 15,270,059
Corporate bonds NEESH 4,850,000 6,500,000
Senior notes BEER 37,964,733 34,812,383
Less: Cash and cash equivalents IR RIBEEEY (5,630,872) (14,377,647)
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE (1,108,558) (968,378)
Less: Non-pledged time deposits with & : 1A#)HEBR 818 =8 B ~ E K 7
original maturity of over three EHITER
months (400,000) (2,173,906)
Net debt B 5L 47,981,062 39,062,511
Total equity 4B 25,075,357 41,394,637
Gearing ratio BREMELER 191.3% 94.4%
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50. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 30 March 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (as the purchaser) performed the transaction with an
independent third party (as the vendor), involving the acquisition
of 66.67% of the equity interest in a target company (the
“Acquired Interest”), at a consideration of RMB120,000,000
and to procure the settlement of the shareholder’s loan
at a consideration of RMB760,000,000. The aggregate
consideration of RMB880,000,000 for the Acquired Interest
and the shareholder’s loan shall be satisfied by the purchaser
by way of (1) transferring the entire equity interest in Shanghai
Coastal Commercial Investment Management Company
Limited, a company established in the PRC with limited liability
and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the purchaser, to the
vendor at a consideration of RMB350,000,000; (2) transferring
the entire equity interest held by the Company in Shenyang
Zhongguang North Film and Television City Company Limited,
a company established in the PRC with limited liability and
a 91% owned subsidiary of the purchaser, to the vendor
at a consideration of RMB360,000,000; and (3) a payment
in cash to the vendor in the amount of RMB170,000,000.
The target company will also be jointly liable for payment of
RMB170,000,000 to the vendor in cash. Further details are set
out in the Company’s circular dated 30 March 2023.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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0. REHRFIR

R2023%F3830H > ARE —HEEE2E
MEBAE (FAEBER) B—2BIE=FH
(FABER) ENTRZ T RNEBEEZEAT
66.67% M (TKEER) KEAAR
#120,000,0007c > MIRFBBURBARK
760,000,000 0B EREER IR EEHEH K
REERZENREAANRES80,000,000
ToRHBREAUTAARNIZA (HUREA
R 350,000,000t A E HEE L EHER
EEEARAR (—ERPAERIIZERA
BUAERZEEEZEWBAR) WEIR
(2 U EB AR K360,000,0007TH B
EEARNARAERTELAEREAER
AB (—ERPERILZERADEAS S
FEII%ZMBAR) WEIIRE ; &(G)XU
HEmEHEZNTARMBE170,000,0005T ° B
ERABATEAEUREAELAZTARKE
170,000,000t EF ST - BELEHEBHRN
AT HEAA2023F3F30H MIB K o
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51. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 51. Z2ABZ IR RER

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

ERARABANBRERBME R HBRRE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ZEMEINWT
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AER®BEFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREE
Property, plant and equipment YEREREZE 65,685 67,414
Interest in a subsidiary R—EHE AN ER 1 1
Total non-current assets ERENEEMRE 65,686 67,415
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from subsidiaries [ Wit /&8~ Bl FIE 51,689,159 47,326,213
Due from joint ventures B EE R ETIE 447 2,041,040
Due from associates = /NI E =] 71,953 =
Prepayments, other receivables and TS HEWRIEREME E
other assets 3,457,143 1,468,779
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEY 51,051 919,714
Total current assets BB ELE 55,269,753 51,755,746
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables and accruals HtENRIBERESTER 4,615,679 5,061,561
Due to subsidiaries AN =EYNSIE S| 7,808,161 7,430,087
Interest-bearing bank and other FFEIRITREMBEE
borrowings 3,929,176 644,631
Senior notes BEER 37,964,733 5,038,874
Total current liabilities piE A =REH 54,317,749 18,175,153
NET CURRENT ASSETS TRENE E P RE 952,004 33,580,593
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERTEBEE
LIABILITIES 1,017,690 33,648,008
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBAEER
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEE
borrowings 18,398 1,608,363
Senior notes BREER - 29,773,509
Total non-current liabilities Ik =NERE 18,398 31,381,872
Net assets B EFRE 999,292 2,266,136
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

MERRME@®

31 December 2022 2022 12H31H

51. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 51. A28 Z IR RER @)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARETFIT
EQUITY #m
Issued capital BEITRA 559,947 559,947
Senior perpetual securities = Rk ETE 1,911,986 1,911,986
Reserves EXi (1,472,641) (205,797)
Total equity R AREE 999,292 2,266,136
Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: MisE : AR EEERIIWT -
Shares held
Share Share Exchange  under share
premium option fluctuation award Accumulated
account reserve reserve scheme losses Total
R {12 Bh 5t &)
R i B R BREGE SMNEHRDRE BETRERG 505 @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AREBFT AREBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2021 202151818 1,079,244 33,626 1,815,337 (9,458) (1,669,114) 1,249,635
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBBREEGELEE
for the year - - (257,666) - (1018912) (1,276,578
Final 2020 dividend 2020 K ER 2 (1,030,947) - - - - (1,030,947)
Final interim 2021dividend 2021 RIBHHBEE (276,940) - - - - (276,940)
Final issue of shares for scrip dividend R &7 URA B RH 1,237,082 - - - - 1,237,082
Distribution to holders of senior BERKEESFEADIK
perpetual securities - - - - (108,759) (108,759)
Equity-settled share option MEES MERE, 25
arrangements - 12,180 - - - 12,180
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~ REBRIER K E K%
the forfeiture or expiry of ERERERE
share option - (3,721) - - - (3,721)
Shares purchased under share e fn i Ehat BIIE T FrRB AR 7
award scheme - - - (12,749) - (12,749)
At 1 December 2021 and 1820215128318 ;20226
1 January 2022 1818 1,008,439 42,085 1,557,671 (22207)  (2,791,785) (205,797)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FRABERZERBRSE
for the year - - 143,128 - (1,277,554) (1,134,426)
Distribution to holders of senior AERKEESFEADK
perpetual securities - - - - (144,133) (144,133)
Equity-settled share option MRS BREL 25
arrangements - 11,715 - - - 11,715
At 31 December 2022 #20206128310 1,008,439 53,800 1,700,799 (22,207)  (4213472)  (1,472,641)
52. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 52. HAEMFBIRER

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2023.

R2023F3BE31H B g ARG

R
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AFEMBHBE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below:

UTFRAEERBELBAMBREENEBUR
EE-BEREZRE DHZABTRLEERZ
MBRE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®TT AR®TT ARBTR ARETx
RESULTS e
REVENUE WA 26,737,240 27,071,241 10,411,604 23,240,705 24,305,871
Cost of sales HEME (26,012,243) (23,010,591)  (9,931,691) (17,148,995) (16,838,626)
Gross profit Z7 724,997 4,060,650 479,913 6,091,710 7,467,245
Fair value (loss)/gains on investment &REBEYE AR E (F8) /
properties, net W F 8 (315,413) 717,888 387,260 600,546 165,831
Other income and gains HARA KWz 330,515 414,517 715235 2,167,688 497,215
Selling and distribution costs HE DM (655,295) (691,691) (428,036) (659,594) (459,152)
Administrative expenses TBRS (1,130,874) (834,442) (803,737)  (1,090,645) (606,179)
Other expenses HitB%z (871,622) (99,868) (309,615) (310,739) (54,484)
Write-down of properties under WRERYMES
development to net realisable value — BJ & IEE(E B & (3,208,465) (390,000) = = =
Impairment loss on investment of REE NI REERT
joint ventures and associates REZRERE (407,585) = = = =
Provision for ECL on other receivables i FEWFIETEREE
BREE (4,151,208) = = - -
Provision for ECL on financial MBERENEREER
guarantee contracts BREE (1,650,167) (27,025) = = =
Finance costs BB & (674,450) (276,097) (124,281) (360,345) (223,352)
Share of profits and losses of BhEEATIBRE
joint ventures (890,813) (38,394) 206,889 (63,489) (74,265)
Share of profits and losses of ELMEATIBRE
associates (257,127) 326,990 23,371 229,369 21,849
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX Bl (518) /FIE (13,157,507) 3,162,528 146,999 6,604,501 6,734,708
Income tax (expense)/credit FriSit (B%) /% (111,683)  (1,879,534) 81,231 (2,637,705  (3,008,605)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE (8518 /78 (13,269,190) 1,282,994 228,230 3,966,796 3,726,103
Attributable to: TFE R :
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZ=DN (12,014,860) 862,094 116,992 3,605,776 3,504,940
Non-controlling interests EIFE (1,254,330 420,900 111,238 361,020 221,163
(13,269,190) 1,282,994 228,230 3,966,796 3,726,103
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Five Years Financial Summary (Continued)

LTFERBHE®
As at 31 December
128318
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AERBTT ARBTR ARETR ARETT AREBT:T

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Z & & ER#ExR

TOTAL ASSETS
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

Represented by:

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

TOTAL EQUITY

BEBE
BEBE

BEEFR

MFE A B :
BREEAE NELED

E[3200 5

B

143,453,772 174,380,908 178,198,057 146,435,130 115,063,004
(118,378,415) (132,986,271) (143,895,127) (117,707,501) (93,632,652)

25,075,357 41,394,637 34,302,930 28,727,629 21,430,352

11,973,613 26,116,002 24,629,474 22,903,147 19,486,590
13,101,744 15,278,635 9,673,456 5,824,482 1,943,762

25,075,357 41,394,637 34,302,930 28,727,629 21,430,352
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
EEME—ER

MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

FERAWF

Attributable
interest of
Project Location Use Tenure the Group
EE
HE i & B A Rl
The Mall of Yuzhou World Phase | of Yuzhou World Trade Center on Lot No. 75, Commercial and Medium term lease 100%
Trade Center Phase | Xiahe Road, Xiamen, Fujian Province car parking space
Bl o tt ErH— 4N BEAEMTERBESFHREMNEEFO—H HRREEA hHEEE
The Mall of Yuzhou World Phase Il of Yuzhou World Trade Center on Lot No. 76, Commercial and Medium term lease 100%
Trade Center Phase |l Xiahe Road, Xiamen, Fujian Province car parking space
Billl o t Er M REAEMTERRETCR MRS HEER OB HRREEA hHEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase | of Yuzhou Jingiao International,No.333 Jingang Road, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Phase |
Bl « 2RER—HER LEMERNREERIIBRE NS BERE—H )i hHEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International, Lane 50 Jinyu Road, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Phase I
Bill e £ BER R LEMERNEEBB0FBNEBER_H )i hHEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International, Jinyu Road and Jinxian ~ Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Road,Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Phase IlI
Bl « 2RER =R LETRRNEE BB EBRB NS BRKR =1 )i hHEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase IV of Yuzhou Jingiao International, No.69 Jinhu Road, Commercial and Medium term lease 100%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Pudong New Area, Shanghai car parking space
Phase IV
Bl « £BERMAER LEMERNE £ HR60T BN ¢ BER M HRREEA hHEEE
Lot A of Yuzhou Haicang WTC Lot A of Yuzhou Golden Seacoast,West of the Xinggang Road, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Mall Haicang District, Xiamen, Fujian Province
Bl BEBNEERSZAE REEEMTHEAREERAMBSNERSS SFAMIR )i hHEEE
Lot B of Yuzhou Haicang WTC Lot B of Yuzhou Golden Seacoast,West of the Xinggang Road, Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Mall Haicang District, Xiamen, Fujian Province
Bl BEBNLERSBE REYEMTEAEEARAASNEGTBFBHIR )i hHEEE
Yuzhou Plaza North of Minggong Building, Hubin South Road, Siming District, ~ Office and car Medium term lease 100%

BilER

Xiamen, Fujian Province

BREAEMTRAEHERELEREIH

parking space

BAERBEN

hHAE
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Schedule of Major Properties (Continued)

FEME—EBER®

Attributable
interest of
Project Location Use Tenure the Group
&R
EH & Jiches HHA FEMLRE
Yuzhou Plaza Qiu 3/6, Qiu 2, No 9 Street, Jingiao Export Processing Zone, Office and Medium term lease 100%
Pudong New Area, Shanghai commercial
BMES LETRRMEEBEOMIRYEHS/6H 20 WREREA TG
Yuzhou Central Plaza South of Changjiangdong Road, East of Liaoyuan Road, East Commercial and car  Medium term lease 100%
Urban District, Hefei parking space
Bl e PRES BRTRBEERIREER RREE BRREE TG
Yuyue Li South of Jiangguan Road and West of Xichun Road, Tiexin Qiao  Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Road, Yuhuatai District, Nanjing
BIRE BARTRIESRKONEELIRBUE AERUA il TG
Yuzhou Plaza Keyuan North Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen Office, Commercial ~ Medium term lease 90%
and car parking
space
BNES I LER IR WMAE-EAR TG
BEA
Yuyue Li Southeast of the junction of Wuliu Road and New Bengbu Road, ~ Commercial and Medium term lease 82%
Xinzhan District car parking space
BIRE ARETHEENERREYRABREREA BRREE TG
Yuzhou Plaza Southeast of the junction of Wuliu Road and New Bengbu Road, ~ Office and car Medium term lease 82%
Xinzhan District parking space
BlES BRETHEENERREYRABREREA PREREE TG
Yuzhou City Plaza Century Avenue Shopping District, South New Zone of Huian Office, Commercial ~ Medium term lease 65%
County, Quanzhou, Fujian Province and car parking
space
BMBTER BRARNTEZRENRELAEEE BRE -BHEK hEEE
(E3: 0
Yuzhou Central Street Southwest of the junction of Wuliu Road and New Bengbu Road, ~ Commercial Medium term lease 62%
Xinzhan District
B RAS ARTHEENERREYRABRERRA A hEEE
Yuyue Li South of Wangting Commercial Plaza, East of Yuting Fazhi Commercial Medium term lease 51%

Wenhua Park, Xiangcheng District, Suzhou
BIRE FMTRANEEEBERESUE = E e EARNE A hHEE
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Schedule of Major Properties (Continued)

FEME—BER®

MAJOR PROPERTIES UNDER

FETEMF

DEVELOPMENT
Attributable
Expected interest of
Project Location Use Site Area GFA Stage of completion completion date the Group
=L i & itk 3t E BEERE BIRE BHATASR FEEEGEE
Yuzhou Shang Li Mansion South of Huaihai Road, East of Xiangcheng  Residential 58,243 116,485 Under Development ~ May-23 100%
Road, Xinzhan District, Hefei
Blle BEHE ARTHIEREERENR BREUR fiE TE 2023458
Yuzhou Langham Bay Leliu Town, Shunde District, Foshan Residential 110,378 306,217 Under Development  Jul-23 100%
Bill e BEE HBUTIEERREA TFE e 2023F7H
Yuzhou Langham Cloud Land  East of Wenhua Road, North of Mingde No.1  Residential 49,411 127,387 Under Development ~ Nov-24 100%
Road, Xinhui District, Jiangmen
Bl e EES IMTHERAE BRI XERUR TE e 2024F118
Yuzhou Sky Land East of Jinzha Road, South of Beiheng River, ~ Residential 26,873 59,120 Under Development ~ Sep-23 51%
Jinhui Town, Fengxian District, Shanghai
Bl o 1R LETFEREERSHARMUR IFT A e 2023597
b
Yuzhou Royal Orchid Palace Xinhuayuan Road, Wangjiawan Business Residential 87,668 219,185 Under Development  Jun-24 51%
Cluster, Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Wuhan
Bl e EEHE HETKHRIREHERR TE e 2024565
Yuzhou Master Mansion Southwest of the Junction of Qingyan Residential 83,400 150,120 Under Development ~ Nov-23 50%
Road and Wenjiao Road, Economic and
Technological Development Zone, Wuxi
Bl o ARAT EHTRHREERANARRNOARA (A% TE 2023F118
Yuzhou Mansion East Land West of Wenyuan Road, South of Meicun Residential 35,826 64,486 Under Development  Sep-23 49%
Road, Hi-Tech District, Taicang, Suzhou
Bill e BERIE FMNTARBHEHEUA BNBUE A% TE 2023497
Yuzhou Trees Villa Southeast of the Junction of Zhenze Road Residential 76,017 152,034 Under Development  Jul-23 40%
and Xincheng Road, Binhu District, Wuxi
Bl e REZRE EHMENREERAGHRERNORHA (A% TE 2023578
Yuzhou The Explorer University Area, Hi-Tech District, Chongaing  Residential 151,329 226,994 Under Development ~ May-24 36%
Bl e 2K EETRMEAS KRR TE e 2024558
Yuzhou Cloud Center Guangming District, Shenzhen Residential 48,680 119,234 Under Development  Apr-24 35%
Bl o FEEH wIT R R fiE TE 2024F48
Yuzhou Honor Mansion Zhongkai District, Huizhou Residential 41,920 150,308 Under Development ~ May-24 33%
Bl e ZERE EMNHHEER TE i 2024558
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Schedule of Major Properties (Continued)

FEME—EBER®

FEHENERRTYR

FOR SALE
Attributable
Stage of interest of
Project Location Use Site Area GFA completion the Group
rEE
b= & Jiches EHER BEER ZIRE FEERE
Yuzhou Luxury Mansion Jinhui Town, Fengxian District, Shanghai Residential and 56,048 123,306  Completed 100%
commercial
Bl o ERIT rETEEEREER AEREA BET
Yuzhou Glorious Mansion Jinhui Town,Fengxian District, Shanghai Residential and 29,912 65,807 Completed 100%
commercial
Bl o RIZER rETEEREER AEREA BET
Yuzhou Langorchid No.15 of C District of New City Area, Leping Town,  Residential and 34,559 93,308 Completed 100%
Sanshui District, Foshan commercial
Bl e AR Ll = K& & T EHIHECE 155 AEREA BET
Yuzhou Honor Country West Street, Central Urban Area of Qionglai, Residential 15,822 39,555 Completed 100%
Chengdu
Bill e ZEWA PREB T IR IR L IR E A fiE BET
Yuzhou Peaceful Country West of Chenglong Avenue, North of Nansanhuan,  Residential 16,174 32,348  Completed 51%
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
Bille 21 MEBHIRIEEZIRIEAD REABER fiE BET
Yuzhou Sunrises East of the Fokai Expressway, North of Xingji Road,  Residential 22,432 56,080 Completed 51%
Nanzhuang Town, Chancheng District, Foshan
Bl o B BLTERERTEGHRRNE BERUIL fiE BET
Yuzhou Orchid Garden Central axis of Shengfu Area of Binhu New District,  Residential 102,047 222,463 Completed 50%
Hefei
Bill e HE BRMENN R FRERH fiE BET
Yuzhou Genius Leading South of Lianhuafeng Road, East of Hejiuling Road,  Residential 140,968 196,812  Completed 49%
Fengqiao Street, Hi-Tech District, Suzhou
Bl e WERE ENTRNERBHEENSRE BILERE A% BET
Yuzhou The Splendid Era North of Nanjing Road,East of Huashan Road,Binhu  Residential 49,268 103,370  Completed 40%
New District, Hefei
Bille BEHE BEmESRERBNIL ELRUE fFE BET
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Attributable
Stage of interest of
Project Location Use Site Area GFA completion the Group
&R
EH i g BE EERE BEER AIRE FEfh &
Yuzhou East Coast Langham ~ West of Binhai Lvyou Road, East of Binhai West Residential 54,164 168,354 Completed 33%
Avenue, Core Region of Tong’an New Town,
Xiamen
Bl e REME BEMTREZHBZOR BBRERUA BEAA HF BT
BUE
Yuzhou Seafront Villa West of Binhai Lvyou Road, East of Binhai West Residential 18,830 42,800 Completed 33%
Road, Tong'an New Town Core Area of Huandong
Hai Region, Xiamen
Billl o BE EMTEREHAZHEZOR BERERL 4 BT
7 B BAABUR
Yuzhou Beautiful Bay Times  East of Xiangshan Road, South of Sunwu Road, Residential 48,311 96,622 Completed 30%
Taihu Resort, Wuzhong District, Suzhou
Billl « BIARE FMTRABNHERRBLELE REBUE (% BET
Yuzhou Polaris Mansion Northeast of the Junction of Tonghui Road and Residential 98,261 275,131  Completed 23%
Nansan Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou
Bl o EIRA MMPHELERERER =BT ORIA tE BET
Yuzhou Mountain Fairyland West of Dinglin Road, South of Yinhu Road, located ~ Residential and 62,503 81,2564  Completed 20%
in the North of Fangshan Scenic Area, East of commercial
Jiangning District, Nanjing
Billl o WL ARTIBBRERMME ARF LREILE EME EERER BET

DAFE» N RR A 7
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YUZHOU GROUP HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

https://yuzhou-group.com/

Principal administration and
management centers in the PRC

PEEETHRERRD

Yuzhou Plaza

299 Jingang Road

Pudong New District
Shanghai

People’s Republic of China

FhEE A RHANE
B HRIE S BRR2995E
BINES

Yuzhou Plaza

Keyuan North Road
Nanshan District
Shenzhen

People’s Republic of China

I ARHEME
A R LI @A 5E10RS
BMES

Principal place of business
in Hong Kong

ERTEEE Mt

Units 5801-02, 58/F
The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong
EBE
ERARERIE

FRIRAH0\58185801-02%
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